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A. Executive Summary

Background

Following the indictment of Jerry Sandusky for allegations of child sex abuse in November,
2011, Louis Freeh was hired by The Pennsylvania State University to conduct an independent
investigation into alleged failures of University personnel to :@'epori Sandusky’s abuse. The
report from this investigation (“the Freeh Report”) concluded that “(Hour of the most powerful
people at The Pennsylvania State University—~President Graham B. Spanier, Senjor Vice
Presideni-Finance and Business Gary C. Schultz, Athletic Director Timothy M. Curley and Head
Foothall Coach Joseph V. Paterno—iailed to protect against & child sexnal predator harmning
children for over a decade.” The Freel: Report cited as a causal factor for this failure the
University’s “cultre of reverence for the football program that is ingrained at all levels of the

canipus community.”

Since the release of the Freeh Report, many credible criticisms have emerged, noting that the
Report’s conclusions were poorly supported by material within the Report itself. We wondered

why the documentary support was so sparse, and why the Report made no mention of any

coniradictory findings.

Documents made public have revealed that: the NCAA was closely involved with the Freeh
investigation; the NCAA knew that their own rules prevented them from punishing Penn State;
and the NCAA decided to punish Penn State in order to enhance its own reputation. We believed

it was important to understand the degree of cooperation between the Freeh investigation and the
NCAA.

Penn State President Barron commitied to review the Freeh Report Source Materials himself,
saying, “the contents of the Report have led o questions by some in the Penn State community.

I do not wani people to believe that Penn State is hiding something.” We applauded his

commitment to fransparency, but are disappointed tha, three years later, there has been o

TEVIEW,
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A recently released report from a Federal High Security Clearance investigation of former
President Graham Spanier, conducted at the same time as the Freeh investigation, concluded that
Spanier had committed no wrongdoing in connection with the Sanduslcy matter. The Federal
investigator called the Freeh Report “an embarrassment to law enforcement” and “a political hit
Job.” We believed it imperative that the University’s Trusiees come to an understanding about

the discrepancies between the findings fiom the two investigations.

The Penn State Board of Trustees has never voted fo accept or reject the Freeh Report. Rather,
the Board adopied a “Don’t ask, don’t look and don’t tell” policy. This policy led to a tacit
acceptance of the Report and resulted in profound reputational harm to our University, along
with §300 million in costs thus far, We believe the Board’s inaction on this maiter constifutes a
fiduciary breach, and decided to conduct our own review in execuiion of our fiduciary
responsibilities. Over the objection of the University, we obtained court-ordered access to the

Sowrce Material upon which the Freeh Report was purpertedly based.
Findings from our review

We found no support for the Freeh Report’s conclusion that Joe Paterno, Graham Spanier, Tim

Curley, or Gary Schultz knew thai Sandusky had harmed children.

We found no support for the Freeh Report’s conclusion that Penn State’s culinre was responsible

for allowing Sandusky to harm children.

The independence of the Freech Report appears to have been fatally compromised by Louis
Freeb’s collaboration with three interested parties -~ the NCAA, Governor Corbett and his Office

of Attorney General, and members of the Penn State Board of Trustees,

The NCAA, Governor Corbett, and the Penn State Board of Trustees appear to have had their

own conflicts of interest that influenced the unsupported conchisions of the Freeh Report.

The Freeh Report was rife with investigative and reporiing flaws. The investigation used
unieliable methods for conducting and analyzing interviews; failed to interview most of the
individuals with direct knowledge of the evenis under investigation; supplied motivations and

causal factors supported oaly by speculation and conjecture; supported its major conclusions by
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selective muisrepresentation of the investigative data, and by ignoring and withholding the vast
majority of investigative findings, which were contrary to the Report’s conchusions. The Frech

Report’s minimal standard of “more reasonable to conclude” — which requires the majority of the

information to be supportive — was not met.

Conclusions from owur review

We believe that Louis Freeh did not fulfill his obligation to conduct an independent and

comprehensive investigation.

We repudiate the conclusions of the Freeh Report as unsupported by the investigaiive data.

We believe that our University, as a major center for research, scholarship, and teaching, has an
obligation fo come to an honest understanding of the responses to Sandusky’s actions, and to use

that understanding to promote educational efforts to prevent future abuse.
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B. Reasons for Undertaking the Review of Freeh Source

- Documents

B.1. Board of Trustees breach of fidueiary duty resulting in harm to

the University

We believe thé Board of Trustees breached its fiduciary duty by failing to formally review or

evaluaie the Freeh Report, and by failing to vote fo accept or reject ihe Report, This inaction by

the board has allowed others ic conclude the Board’s facit acoeptance of the Report’s

conclusions, and has resulted in grievouns harm {o the University.

&

Our University, historically known as a highly ethical institution, has suffered
profound reputational damage.

Plaintiffs” cases againsi the University have been sirengthened by the Board’s tacit
accepiance of the Report’s conclusions.

Costs to the University from the University’s tacit acceptance of the Repoxt’s
conclusions are curently more than $300 million and still dsing.

By taciily accepting the conclusions of the Freeh Report, the University has callously
attributed unsubstantiated culpability to respected and longstanding servants of the
institution, resulting in irrecoverable damage o those individuals, their families, and
the entire University community.

By not probing deeply into the circumstances smrounding Sanduslky’s actions, we fail
in our obligation fo victims of sexual assault to learn the true lessons fiom this
situation. As a major center of research and scholarship, we have a moral dety to
come to the best possible understanding of this tragic episode so that we can educate

others in ways to prevent fuhwre victimization of children.
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B.2. Penn State President Eric Barron’s decision to review the Freeh
Report

Early in his first year as president, Eric Barron committed o conducting his own “thorough”
review of the Freeh Report and its Source Materials, explaining that “the contents of the report
have led io questions by some in the Penn State community. I do not want people o believe that
Perm State is hiding something. Ifeel sirongly about this.” We supported this plan, as we have
always believed that coming to a resolution of the open questions is the best way for the
University to move forward. However, we are disappointed that, despite promising the Board
that he would “move with all deliberate speed,” to date —move than 3 years later — President
Rarron has not delivered his review. Thus, we have undertaken the review owmselves and have

urged our fellow Trustees to join us in examining the Source Materials.!

B.3. Tederal high security clearance investigation of former Penn State
President Graham Spanier determines Spanier’s innocence in

Sandusky matier

During the same time period as the Freeh investigation, a paralle] investigation was conducted by
the U.S. Federal Investigative Services for purposes of reviewing Spanier’s high security
clearance. Unlike the Freeh investigation, the Federal investigation involved interviews of Gary
Schultz and Tim Curley, with Spanier interviewed under oath. Special Investigator John
Snedden did not find evidence of wrongdoing and renewed Spanier’s secutity clearance, writing
in his report: “The circumstances surrounding [Spanier’s] departure from his position as PSU
President do not cast doubt on [Spanier’s] current reliability, trustworthiness or good judgment
and do not cast doubt on his ability to properly safeguard national security information.”

o2

Snedden subsequently described the Freeh Report as “an embarrassment to law enforcement.

The report from this Federal nvestigetion was made public in the spring 0f 2017. The findings
of this highly credible report — based on an investigation conducted with true independence, by a
Tederal agency charged with ensuring the good character of Graham Spanier in the context of the
Sandusky matter — raise serious questions about the validity of the conclusions of the Freeh
Report. We believe that any conscientious trustee would want to understand the reasons behind
the discrepant findings of the two reports.
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B.4. Challenges to the Freeh Report

The imperative to conduct a review of the Source Materials used in the Freeh Report is

heightened by the many credible critiques of the report over the past 5 years.

A member of the Freeh investigation team spoke anonymously with a reporter: This
individual expressed concermn that the use of the Freeh Report by the NCAA was ingppropriate
because, due to limitations in the investigation (such as not interviewing most of the principals),
the findings were circumstantial. ““The sanctions against Penn State were really overwhelming,
and no one imagined the report being used to do that,” this person said. ‘People thought it would
help others draw conclusions about what happened and provide a guide for leaders to be able fo
identify mineficlds and navigate through them. Instead, Emmert took the report and used Penn
State’s own resources (o do them in,” the person said. ‘The institution is made of people, too.

And they don’t deserve this.”™”

Former Commonvwealth of PA Governor and U.S. Attorney General Dick Thernburgh:
Thomburg conducied an extensive analysis of the Freeh Report and concluded that “there is no
credible support provided in the Freeh Report for what, if anything, Mr. Paterno was aware of?
concerning the Sandusky matter. He also states that “Mr. Freeh did not supply any other
evidence ... to support the proposition that Mr. Paterno was involved in or aware of the decision
[not to report to authorities the 2001 shower incident].” He also challenges the Freeh Report
claim of a “complete” investigation because the Freeh Group “did not speak to virfually any of
the persons who had the most important and relevant information. Three of the most crucial
mdividuals—Messzs. Paterno, Schuliz and Curley—were never interviewed, Michael

McQueary, the sole witness o the 2001 incident, was also not interviewed.”™

Past Chairs of The Penusylvania State University Faculty Senate: This body stated that the
Freeh Report “fails badiy” regarding evidence, facts, and logical argument. “On a foundation of
scant evidence, the report adds layers of conjecture and supposition fo create a portrait of fault,
complicity, and malfeasance that could well be at odds with the truth. ... [A]s scientists and

scholars, we can say with conviction that the Freeh Report fails on its own merits as the
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indictment of the University that some have taken it to be. Bvidence that would cornpel such an

indictment is simply not there.”

Penn Staters for Responsible Stewardship: This group, which advocates for governance
veformm at the University, noted the following: “substantial deficiencies in the [Fresh] Report:”
failie to disclose the Fact that the Freeh Group was hired by the Board of Trustees” Special
Investigations Task Force, not the University (and hence faces a poteniial conflict of interest);
failure to interview nearly every critical witness before rendering the Report; failure to properiy
address the facts and circumstances associated with investigation of the 1998 Incident by
government agencies; faihure to consider the role of The Second Mile Foundation; failure to
consider testimony that casts serious doubt on the credibility of Mike MceQueary; and several

other concerns.®

Kenneth Frazier, CEQ of Merck, Former Penn State Trustee and Chair of ihe Special
Investigation Task Foree, stated in deposifion that: “Ijust don’t think [Freeh’s inferences in
the Freeh Repori] ave as clear and iivefutable as some people seem to think they are.”’

Fric Barron, President of the Pennsylvania State University, stated that: The Freeh Report
was not usefiul and created an “absurd” and “unwarranted” portrait of the University. “Ihave to
say, I’ not a fan of the report. There’s no doubt in my mind, Freeh steered everything as ifhe

were a prosecutor trying to convinee a cowrt to iake the case.”’

Alvin Clemens, Penn State Trustee for 18 years, read a statement to the Board when he
resigned: “On November 9th, 2011, I and my fellow Trustees, voted to fire Joe Patemo in a
hastily called meeting. We had little advance notice or opportunity to discuss and consider the
complex issues we faced. After 61 years of exemplary service, Coach Paierno was given no
chance to respond. That was a mistake. I will always regret that my name is attached to that
rush To injustice. Hiring Louis Freeh and the tacit acceptance of his questionable conclusions,
without review, along with his broad eriticism of our Penn State culwre was yet another mistake.
... Over the past two years, concerned Alumni have spoken clearly and forcefully. They have
replaced six incumbents with reform-minded Trustees determined to acknowledge and redress
errors of judgment with positive actions. Those who believe we ean move on without due
process for all who have been damaged by unsupported accusations are not acting in Penn

7
CONFIDENTIAL




State’s best interest. ... We have the opportunity to move forward united in our comraitment to
truth. Iurge all who love Penn State’s name to fight on.”® In an interview, Clemens urged the

board to reject the conclusions of the Freeh Report.”

Commonvwealth of PA Senate Majority Leader Jake Corman: “Clearly the more we dig into
this, the more troubling it gets. There clearly is a significant amount of communication between
Freeh and the NCAA that goes way beyond merely providing information. I’d call it
coordination. ... Clearly, Freeh went way past his mandate. He was the enforcement person for
the NCAA. That’s what it looks like. Idon’t know how you can look at it any other way. Ii’s
almost like the NCAA hired him to do their enforcement investigation on Penn State. Ata
minimum, it is inappropriate. At a maxinium, these were two parties working together to get an

outcome that was predetermined.”!?

Bob Costas, national sports reporter: “Louis Freeh...assigned motivations to people,
mcluding Paterno, which at best were unknowable, and at worst might have been

irresponsible.”!!

PA Commonwealih Senator Johu Yudichak: “The Freeh Report is incomplete at best and, at

worst, fundamentally flawed.”'?

Attorney Michael L. Bangs wrote a legal opinion identifying factual errors in the Freeh
Report: The “use of this remarkably incorrect statistic by the Freeh Report, which was then
relied upon to form the basis for a number of its other conclusions, calls into question the

accuracy and veracity of the entire report.”’3

Jay Bilas, sports analyst for ESPN and attorney: The idea that Penn State’s “culture of
football” enabled Sandusky was “ridiculous.” He siated that a legacy of Perm State’s handling of
the matter is that no University will ever again underiake such an investigation because “the
NCAA used the Freeh Report against Penn State as a weapon to do whatever it chose ... that was

outside of its rules.”!*
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C'. Backoround and History

C.1. Louis Freeh hired to conduct an independent investigation
following indictment of Jerry Sandusky

The Penn State Board of Trusiees Special Investigations Task Force signed a Letter of
Engagement with Freeh, Sporkin, & Suilivan (F $8), LLC, on December 2, 201 1.1 FSS was
“engaged to represent the Task Force” and this condition potentially introduces a conflict of
ingerest; 1.e., FSS was not an agent of Penn State Universé'i,f; aﬁd therefore potentially held &
conflict of interest if members of the Task Force, to whom FSS had a legal agency relationship,

intended 1o deflect their own culpability regarding roles with The Second Mile or the firing of
Joe Paterno.

PSS was engaged fo “perform an independent, full and complete investigation of the recently
publicized allegation of sexual abuse at the facilities and the alleged failure of The Peonsylvania
State University (“PSU”) personnel to report such sexual abuse to appropriate police and
government authorities.” FSS was o provide a written report that would contain findings
concerning: “0) failures that occurred in the reporting process; ii} fhe cause for those failures; iii)
who had knowledge of the allegations of sexual abuse; and 1v) how those allegations were
handled by the Trustees, PSU administrators, coaches and other staff.” FSS was also engaged 1o
“provide recommendations to the Task Force and Trustees for actions to be taken fo atiempt to
ensure that those and similar failures do not occur again.” The terms of the engagement letter

suggested conclusions by assuming that there were “failures” even before the FSS investigation

began and before Sandusky went to trial.

Tindings. The report siates that “(Dhe Special Investigative Counsel operated with total
independence as it conducted this investigation.” The report concludes that “(f)ovr of the most
powerfil people at The Pennsylvania State University—President Graham B. Spanier, Senior
Vice President-Finance and Pusiness Gary C. Schultz, Athletic Director Timothy M. Curley and
Head Football Coach Joseph V. Paterno—ifailed to protect against & child sexnal predator
harming children for over a decade. These men concealed Sandusky’s activities from the Board

of Trustees, the University community and authorities. They exhibited a striking lack of
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empathy for Sandusky’s victims by failing to inquire as to their safety and well-being.” The
teport supplied motivations for these actions as including the desire to avoid the consequences of
bad publicity, and criticized the University for its “culture of reverence for the football program

that is ingrained at all levels of the campus community.”6

C.Z. Freeh Report used by NCAA

Less than two weeks after the release of the Freeh Report, Mark Emmert, NCAA President, and
Rodney Frickson, then Penn State President, signed the “Consent Decree” that imposed
sanclions on the Penn State football program.!” The sanctions, so harsh that they were described
as “umprecedented,” inclnded a $60 million fine, post-season ban, vacated wins, and loss of
scholaxships. Critics immediately questioned the NCAA’s authority io levy such sanctions in'a
criminal matter and accused the NCAA of capitalizing on an opportunity o enhance its own
reputation at the expense of a member institution historically known for exc eptional ethical

conduct.'®

The Consent Decree justified the NCAA’s use of the Freeh Repori in lieu of its own Investigative
procedures by stating that “The University” had commissioned “the independent FFSS
mvestigation,” and stated that it could rely on “the findiogs of a Criminal Jury and the Freeh
Report (as a)...factual basis from which the NCAA concludes that Penn State breached the
standards expected by and articulated in the NCAA Constitution and Bylaws.” The Consent
Decree further stated that it could rely on the Freeh Report “(Dn light of, ..the University’s
willingness, for puiposes of this resolution, to accept the Freeh Report.”

C.3. Paterno family commissioned expert review of Freeh Report

The Paterno family engaged a team of respected experts {0 review the Freeh Report in 2013.
Farmer U.S. Atiorney General Dick Thornburgh concluded that there was no factual basis for the
Report’s “inaccurate and unfounded findings,” citing investigative and reporting weaknesses.
James Clemente, former FBI expert on child sex victimization, falted the Report for failing to
consider the likely possibility that Sandusky was a “skilled and masterful manipulator, who
groomed an enfire community to obscure the signs of child abuse, using a variety of proven

techniques.”?
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C.4. Commonwealth of PA Senate Majority Leader Jake Corman suit
resulted in early removal of NCAA sanctions

Tn 2013, Commonweakth of PA Senator Jake Corman and then Treasurer Rob McCord filed a
lawsuit against the NCAA to keep the Consent Decree fine proceeds in Pennsylvania.”® Two
years later, the suit was settled resulting in a new agreement where the remaining sanctions were

reduced, and the fine money was o remain in Pennsylvania. !

These proceedings resulied in the release of many documents and deposition transcripts that
showed, among other things, that members of the NCAA Executive Comuinitiee had not read the
Freeh Report before approving sanctions, and that there was likely NCAA collusion with the

Freeh Group in drafting the findings of the Freeh Report.?? #

C.5. Alumni response

The Board’s management of the Sandusky crisis was widely derided as “disastrous.”

Dissatisfied with the Board’s actions and alarmed by the ensuing reputational damage (o their
alma mater, alumni advocated for governance reform. Some collaborated with then-Auditor

General Jack Wagner’s investigation yielding an extensive set of recommendations for change to

Board siructures and processes.®

Tmmediately following the dismissal of Paterno and Spanier, Penn Staters for Responsible
Stewardship organized efforts to elect reform candidates to the Board, successfully replacing all
9 incumbent alumni-elected Trustees over a three-year period, the shortest possible time frame
for accomplishing a complete changeover. Since then, candidates dedicated to govemance
reform and to addressing the damaging fallout of the Sandusky crisis have held the 9 seats

elected by alumni, despite facing challengers advocating that the University “move on.”#7
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C.6. Alumni-elected Trustees accessed Freeh Source Materials

Concerned about the many criticisms of the Freeh Report, 7 alumni-elected Trustees (“Plaintiff
Trustees”) formally demanded access to inspect the Report’s Source Materials (the “Sowrce
Materials”) and were denied by the University.?® The University’s denial was in direct violation
of Pennsylvania law governing charitable nonprofit organizations, which affords access 1o
records to permit a Trustee to perform her/his fAduciary duty.?® 3 As a result, the Plaintiff
Trustees pursued, and subsequently won, a lawsuit to obtain statutorily-protected access to

corporate records and reimbursement of legal fees. 3! 32
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D. Methodology for our Review

The documments that were provided to us were of three different types: (1) notes 1‘éﬂectiﬁg
iterviews of 438 individuals (some of whom were interviewed multiple times); (2) documents
that were used by the Freeh Group in conducting their investigation (n = 3,514,464); (3) |
documents generated by the Freeh Group during their investigation (n = 195,471). We may not

have received all documents, as some items cited in the Freeh Report were not fovnd m. our

search of the Source Materials.

D.1. Imnterviews

Notes from interviews were subjected to analysis using established qualitative research
methodology for narrative material. Categories were created to reflect general themes ideniified
in inferview materials. Tnterview information was coded into these categories and crosgs-checked
for reliability. We report raw numbers and percentages of respondents providing information
within each category. Full details of our findings are reported in Appendix 2. The interview
findings ave referenced throughout our report. In addition to the findings from this summary
enalysis, we occasionally include references 10 individual interviews. Deiailed information

about the analytical approach used in otr review of nferviews is described in Appendix 1.

It is important to emphasize that interviewees were never promised confidentiality, as indicated
by material at the beginning of each inferviewee’s summary notes that definitively states
confidentiality was not guaranteed (commonty known as the Upjehn Warning). We interpreted
interview material within the context of each interviewee’s position in regard to the relevant
questions, in order to ascertain whether that individual could be reasonably expected to provide
credible information. Out of respect for the sensitivity of this information, we did not include
interviewee names in the report, with very few exceptions: individuals who were in singular
positions to provide significant insight info important matters, and who also held positions of
authority inside or outside of the University. For inferviewses whose names were not identified
in our report, we included information about positions held by individuals in order to
demonsirate the relative weight and credibility of their knowledge. We made every attsmpt to be

sure this information was general encugh that the identity of interviewses was not disclosed.
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D.2. Documents reviewed by the Freeh Group

A widerange of docurments was provided to the Freeh Group for their review. We conducted
our analysis using search terms generated from a list of questions designed fo identify both
confitmatory and disconfirmatory information pertaining to the major conclusions of the Freeh

Report. All documents that we reference in the report are cited.
D.3. Documenis generated by the Freeh investigation

The Freeh investigative team communicated frequently by email, which enabled us to gain an
understanding of their developing thought process regarding the investigation. The team (most
[ikely the investigative team co-leader Kathleen McChesney) kept a diary that suminarized twice
daily briefings and other noted highlights from the ongoing investigation, and ihis document was
enlightening. Other documents refleciing organization of investigative material were discovered
and reviewed. We also reviewed drafts of the report as it was developed, sometimes with
handwritten margin notes; this permitied us to gain insight into the thinking behind decisions
regarding information included in, or deleted from, the final report. These documents were
analyzed using search terms based on questions intended to identify both confirmatory and
disconfirmatory information related io the major conclusions of the Freeh Report. We ciie these

documents where referenced in the report.
D.A4. Contextual veports

A complete understanding of the matters investigated by the Freeh Group requires understanding
of relevant contexts. Accordingly, we include a series of contextual reports in Appendix 3. All
information contained in these reports comes from the public domain; some were written
specifically for our report, and others are media reports. The intent is for these {0 serve as small

White Papers on a range of topics to enhance the understanding of the main points of our repoxt.
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E.  Critigues of Freeh Investigative and Reporting Methodolegy

The American Bar Association states: “For an educational institution, the fact-finding
investigation of sexual and gender-based harassment and interpersonal violence is one of the
most sensitive and difficult tasks in the institutional respanse. Our experience has taught us that
an effective investigation demands serupalous rigor in fact-gathering by individuals with
appropriate training or experience, a toollit designed to access relevant and material informaiion,
and precise reconciliation and documentation of available information to support reliable
decisions. The investigation and evaluation of credibility also require special expertise to
identify relevant sources of information, including peripheral and corroborative evidence;

synthesize all available information and reasonable inferences; and evaluate the nnique and

complex factors ai play in each invesiigation.™

Several critical analyses of the Freeh Report have been conducted that indicate that the Freeh
Group’s investigation and reporting methodology do not meet the ABA standards, resulting in
significant challenges to the validity of the Report’s conclusions.® 3 3¢ Because these are
available in the public domain, we will not repeat those findings here, other than to note a
consensus that the Rreport’s primary conclusions are supported by scant evidence as provided

within the Report. Instead, we will focus on the deficiencies we identified through our review of

the source documenis.

.1, Interviews: Flawed investigative, analytic, and reporting
~methodology

Use of FBI “302 reporting” methodology

This statemment appears before inferview notes for each Interviewee: “These notes are prepared at
the specific direction of legal counsel as part of an internal investigation for The Pennsylvania
State University Board of Trustees, Special Investigations Task Force. The notes are not
infended as a verbatim franseription of the meeting, but rather as a capture of major ideas
discussed. Quotes reflect an effort to capture words used during the meeting, but are not
intended as verbatim transcription. These notes also contain mental impressions and

observations of legal counsel to the Special Investigations Task Force.”
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A notation dated 12/15/11 in the Freeh Group diary reflects planning for interview methodology:

“Interviews: From Inferviewers notes — Not recorded or in statement form. 7

This indicates that the Freeh investigators conducted interviews using the standard FBI “302
reporiing” methodology, involving a pair of investigators, one to conduct the inferview and the
second to take handwritten notes. No tape recording is done and the resulting interview notes,

instead of being a transcript, are expected to capture the essence of the interviewee’s responses.*®

The “302 reporting” methodology has come under critficism by legal experts. A 9-year study of
law enforcement across the nation concluded that the very common failure of memory to
accurately reflect interview statements melkes no-recording interviews extremely prone to ervor.3?
Deliberate or unconscious bias can affect interpretation of subjects’ statements, resuliing in
inaccurate summaries. Worse, this practice permits the use of coercive interview tactics, which
not only are abusive of intexview subjects, but tend io produce false isstimony.”® Accordingly,

the F'BI diseontinued this practice in 2014 and replaced # with a policy to record all interviews.*!

Inaccuracy of interview summaries

The possibility that the Freeh Group’s interview notes could be inaceuraie is not merely
hypothetical. In our review, we saw multiple drafts of interview notes for some interviewees,
with substantive revisions made between the original and the final versions. The examples that

follow are not exhaustive, but are illustrative of the problems we discovered.

The initial interview notes for one subject contained multiple comments from an interviewer

stating she could not recall responses provided by the subject.”2

One Plaintiff Trustee was interviewed by the Freeh Group and reviewed the notes of his
interview. He found the information in the notes incomplete, cherry-picked, and the resultant

summary out of confext, creating an inaceurate hupression of what he believes he

communicaied,

Graham Spanier’s interview was discussed among the Freeh Group during a daily briefing, and

notes from that briefing were recorded in the daily diary the day following his imterview. 3
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When compared to the final interview notes for Spanier, some important and meaningful
information was omitted.® The details recorded in the diavy, but not appearing in the interview
summary, include: (1) Spanier explained that the reason he thought counseling was appi‘opriate
for Sandusky was because Sandusky didn’t know he shouldn’t shower with boys, not because
Spanier suspecied molestation was oconiting; (2) Curley told Spanier he had explained fo
Sandusky that most people wouldn’t be comfortable with the idea of his showering with youth;
(3) when Spanier informed Curley and Sehuliz that he was stepping down, each independently
responded that Spanier was being wronged because they never told him of abuse; (4) Spanier
described a conflict between himself and Governor Corbett that could be a factor in Corbeit’s
actions: board members told Spanier in 2010 that Corbett wanted him out because Spanier had
hosted the Governor’s opponent at the University; Corbett then cut the PSU budget by 52%;
Board Vice Chair John Surma hosted Cosbeit and Spanier at a lunch in Pitisburgh in an attempt
to resolve the conflict; (5) Spanier spoke about intercollegiate athletic integrity, including the
history that only Stanford and Penn State had never been cited for a major NCAA violation, and
that Spanier personally held meetings with football players about compliance with NCAA rules;
(6) Spanier’s government security clearance renewal involved a polygraph. Given that the
omitted material could be exculpatory, this is a strong indication of biss, with troubling

implications for the validity of Freeh Report conclusions.

We observed instances where Source Materials did not accurately correspond to portions of the
Fresh Report. Quotes attributed to Spanier in the Report* were not confained in the notes from
his interview, !¢ prompting questions about what source material was used in the writing of the
Report. Also, the Freeh Report describes Spanier reporting in his inferview that he informed
four Trustees about the Sandusky investigation prior to the May 12, 2011 board meefing, and
states that the Preeh Group re-interviewed the four Trustees and that all stated they did not
remermber being informed. However, our search of the source documents produced re-interviews
with only two of those four Trustees. We were unable to ascertain, in either of these two
instances, whether ihese discordances were a result of sloppy handling of investigative material,

or instead may have been intentional misrepresentations. Neither possibility increases

confidence in the validity of the Report.
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Use of coercion

Muitiple individuals have approached us privately to tell us they were subjected to coercive
tactics when interviewed by Freeh investigators. Interviewers shouted, were insulting, and
demanded that interviewees give them specific information {e.g., “Tell me that Joe Paterno knew
Sandusky was abusing kids!”). Some interviewees were told they could not leave until they
provided the information interviewers wanied, even when interviewees protested that this would
require them o lie. Some individuals were called back for multiple interviews where the same
questions were repeated; some were told they were being “uncooperative” for refusing to
untruthiinily agree with interviewers® statements. Those who were currently employed by the
University had been told their cooperation was a requirement for keeping their jobs, and
therefore being called uncooperative was perceived as a threat against their employment. One
individual indicated that he was fired for failing to tell the interviewers what they wanied io hear;
this is confirmed by a notation in the Freeh Group diary of an interviewee contemperansously
reporting his firing fo the investigators.”” An entry in the diary indicated that “coaches are scared
for their jobs.”*® It is deeply dishubing that members of our community were allegedly
subjected to harassment and mistreatment at the hands of Freeh investigators, Further, the use of
coercion indicates & lack of neutrality on the part of investigators, and, as previously noted,

increases the likelihood of naccuracy.

Failure to inferview principals

The Freeh Group did not interview individuals with direct knowledge of the events under
investigation, including Jerry Sandusky, Gary Schultz, Tim Cwrley, Joe Paterno, University
outside legal counsel Wendell Courtney, Penn State Director of Public Safety Thomas Harmon,
former coach Michael McQueary, McQueary’s father John MeQueary, and John McQueary’s

boss, Dr. Jonathan Dranov.

‘The Freeh Report states: “Although the information these individuals could have provided
would have been periinent to the investigation, the findings contained in this report represent a
fair, objective and comprehensive analysis of facts.™ It is swprising that an investigaior as
experienced as Freeh could think it possible to render a fair and comprehensive account of a
complex set of events without hearing from the individuals divecily involved. Indeed, Frech
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railed against another investigation for failing to interview “the critical players,” calling it a
“glaring investigative lapse” to rely solely upon “the paper recor ” and insisting, “facts

matter,”>?

The major fault of the Freeh Group was not that they did not interview “the critical players” —
most of whom declined on advice of counsel, or at the request of the PA. Office of the Atloiney
General — but that they failed to qualify their conclusions accordingly. The investigation yielded
some information about the actions of Penn State officials, but had no sound way of meking
conclusions about the officials’ understanding of events or the intentions behind their actions. [t
is striking that information from the only one of the four officials who was interviewed — Spanier
— was swummarily discounted, without any justification. During the writing of the Report, several
of the Freeh Group voiced reservations about imferring moiivations of the primary parties, noting
that this would involve speculation because they recognized {that “only the principals know.”3!
Their public relations firm likewise cautioned against engaging in any speculation.’? These
concerns were apparently overtuled, as the Freeh Report conclusions are assertively stated as

ungualified fact, and include inferences about motivations that are weakly supported even within

the Report itself.

Failore to conduet a systematic analytic review of jnferviews

The Freeh Report states that 430 interviews were conducted. Suprisingly, only 25% of
interviewees are cited. What information was gained from the remaining hundreds of
interviewees? It is inconceivable that every last shred of information gained from 430 interviews
was entirely consistent with the Report’s conclusions, yet only confirmatory information was
reported from the interviews. This gives zise to the possibility that information contrary to the
Report’s conclusions was disregarded. A “fair, objective and comprehensive analysis of facts™

rmust surely incorporate the broadest range of information available, along with an explanation of

how discrepant material was resolved.
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Reporting flaws

When interview material is cited in the Fresh Report, information about the individual’s position
is vague or absent. It is understandable that the identity of interviewees was protected, but it is
problematic to fail to provide information that pertains to the credibility of the material. For
example, the Freeh Report states, “A senior Penn Stafe official referred to Curley as Paterno’s
‘errand boy.”™* To evalvate this statement, it is necessary to understand whether the official was
in a position io have direct knowledge of the working relationship between Curley and Paterno,
Qur review revealed that the source of this statement was then University President Rodney
Erickson,” who as provost for the previous 12 years would have had no regular direct contact
with football staff, and whose opinion therefore would most likely have been based on numors or
other indirect knowledge -~ and, consequently, of low credibility. Much of the interview material
included in the Freeh Repori lacks the appropriate context for the reader fo effeciively evaluate

its credibility and thus weakens the existing basis for the Report’s conclusions.
E.Z. Independence of the investigation: COMPROMISED

“None of the Special Investigarive Connsel’s atforneys or investicaiors atiended The
Pennsylyenin Siate University or had any past or present relationship with the Universiin.”

{(T'reeh Beport, p. 11)

When Frazier called Freeh to ire him for the independent investigation, he asked Freeh to
confirm that he had no conflicts of interest. Frazier said Frech responded “that he has no
conflicts (or connections with PSU, the Board, Second Mile, ete.).”>® Shortly after the hiring, the
Philadelphia Inguirer reported that Freeh had spent 5 years as a vice chairman at MBNA Corp.,
which had a “lucrative relationship” with Penn State, promoting is credit card to students and
alumni.”? Freeh’s associate at MBNA, Ric Struthers, is a Penn State alumnns who was
responsible for this business. The closeness of their association is demonstrated by Frech’s 2005
appearance as a featured speaker at a Penn Staic event where Struthers, a prominent donor, was
the guest of honor. In addition fo Stuthers’ close connections with Penn State, the article
described him as “the most prominent national business figure on the board of the Second Mile

Foundation, the charity started and formerly run by coach Sandnsly,”
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Conflicts of interest can be effectively managed; this is accomplished in part through full
disclosure. The Philadelphia Inquirer article reports that Freeh’s temure at MBNA was not
mentioned in Penn State’s announcement of his hiring, although other aspects of his professional
resume were described. 'Why would Freeh il to disclose his associations with Penn State and

The Second Mile through his employment at MBNA and his close connection with Struthers?

In fact, it appears that Struthers was instrumental in helping Freeh get the Penn State job. Inan
email to his associates,” Freeh wrote: “Spolke to Ric and we’ll try to meet this week. He will

call the P8 Board Chair recomumend that we do the internal investigation.” Eleven days Iater,
Preeh was hived.

Tn summery: Freeh did not disclose that he had a close relationship with a Penn Staie alumnus

who had influence with the Board Chair and was also a Director on the Board of The Second
Mile.

“No party interfzred with, or aifempied fo influence, the findings in ihis repori.”
{(Freely Report, p. 1)

Our review revealed active influence, knowingly accepted by the Freeh Group, by several

parties: The Pennsylvania Office of the Attorney General and Federal investigators; the NCAA;

and several high level Penn State officials.

PA Office of the Atiorney General and Federal Investigators. Ourreview of documents
indicates that the Freeh Group spoke regularly with Sandusky prosecutors Frank Fina, Randy
Feathers, and Anthony Sassano, as well as Federal investigators Gordon Zubrod (U.S. Aftorney’s
Office) and George Venizelos (FBI). These communications were occasionally by email, but
primarily in person or by telephone, and the information discussed was memoralized in emails

among the Freeh Group or in entries in the daily diary of the Freeh Group.

Approval for collaboration between the investigators and the OAG was granted by Governor
Corbett even before Freeh was hired; in an email,” Tomalis informed Frazier, “I talked with the
Governor this afternoon re: the Attorney General and our approach aboui having the outside firm

talk directly with that office. He strongly agreed with the approach, and added that he had
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alveady discussed the role of the committee with her. He suggested that you still reach out to her

early next week.”

There are abundant indications that law enforcement officials shared information with the Freeh

roup and that the infent was fo steer the Freeh investigation in a divection that was consistent

with the prosecution’s case against Sandusky.

The OAG prosecutors provided information that disparaged individuals interviewed by the Freeh

Group:

1.

Very early in the investigation, two of the Freeh Group emailed about a telephone
conversation where Feathers spoke with one of them about a report the OAG had
received about Spanier being “involved in a problem in a day care center and the PSU PD
covered the issue up.”® Feathers promised to keep them informed on this matier and
suggested “a ‘get together meeting’ after the holidays.” The investigator who spoke with
Feathers commented, “Spanier may be a concern for owr group to watch/develop.”

On at least 10 separate occasions, beginning in March 2012, OAG informed the Freeh
Group that Graham Spanier would soon be arrested.’! © 6 & Fina suggested questions for
the Freeh Group to ask Spanier.%®

Cynihia Baldwin, PSU General Coumsel, was vigorously criticized. QAG told Freeh
Group investigators that Baldwin interfered with their invesiigation;%¢ was “deeper in the
rix than they expecied;” that the Grand Jury judge was unhappy with Baldwin’s
inconsistent statements;® that they looked forward 1o a day when Baldwin would be “led
away in cuffs.”® Bven after the Freeh Group investigation was complete, the OAG
continued contact. In October 2012, Fina bragged about threatening Baldwin: “the ever
colorful Fina said yesterday that he has told Baldwin’s counsel that he was comfortable
putting *12 people in the box” and being able to convict her. He also said she was
‘looking at a bullet® and “facing the Big Megila, >’

Kim Belcher, secretary for Gary Schuliz, was repeatedly described by OAG as a liar:
Fina told Freeh Group investigators that she lied to Freeh Group about “everyihing she
said;™"! she “got Iicked out of police office as she was lying;”™ she “is still lying to them

[OAG] and they’re planning to charge her with obstruction of justice.”” Fina also said
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Belcher “got rid of stuff when Schultz left*™ and suggested she may have been sleeping
with Schultz.” Details from QAG interviews with Belcher were shared with the Freeh

Group.”®

. Fina discussed the Gary Schuliz notes on the 1998 and 2001 incidents and speculated that
Scheliz may have provided them to OAG to get inmunity and added that Scholtz’s
actions in regard to the two incidenis were “inappropriate at least, at most criminal

conduct.””

. Fina described the report by John Seasock of Department of Public Wellare —which
concluded that Sandusky’s actions in 1998 did not appear {0 be consistent with sexual

abuse or grooming — as “overly definitive” and commented that the process by which

Seasock became involved in the case “suggesis there is something wiong.”™

Apparently referring to Spanier, Schultz, Curley, and Paterno, Fina said “the four of them

(including Wendell Cotriney) are really in the mix.*"

There were multiple additional incidents where OAG fmpropexly shared information with the

Freeh Group:

. TFina said he would provide the Freeh Group with copies of transeripts from the Grand
TJary. %

Sassano described documents obtained from Sandusky’s house, which included names of
Second Mile children with asterisks, and said that when those children were interviewed,
“most admitted they had been assaulted” by Sandusky.®!

Sagsano sent information on a former Penn State administrator who subsequently worked
at The Second Mile so that the Freeh Group could interview him.® -
Sassano disclosed information about the OAG interview of a PSU Trustee’s son, who
was said to have information about Sandusky showering with boys.”

OAG reported to the Freeh Group in April of 2012 that they had nothing more on Joe
Paterno beyond the information already obtained by the Freeh Group.® Feathers
provided the name of an assistant coach whom they considered to be “the key to Paterno”
and said they planned o put additional pressure on this coach;gé Fina later disclosed

details from their interview with him, including that this coach and others kunew about the
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MoQueary incident.*® Fina told the Freeh Group that “Jay Paterno said his father knew
about 1998.7%

6. Our document review produced a copy of the OAG interview by Feathers of Joseph V.
Paterno, on letterhead for Office of Attorney General, Commonwesith of Pennsyivaniz,
dated 10/24/11.%

7. Fina provided the Freeh Group with updates during Sandusky’s trial and said that “the
feedback he received from jurers was that they want someone to take a “fire hose’ to
Pena State and rinse away the bad that happened there.”%”

8. Adter the Freeh Report was released, Fina contacted the Freeh Group io tell them that

Lisa Powers, from PSU Communications office, was under investigation for withholding

information.”®

9. In October 0of 2012, well after the completion of the Freeh investigation, Fina contacted
the Ireeh Group to inform them of the imminent arrest of Spanier, and re-arrest of Culey
and Schuliz, on charges of obstraction of justice; in an email with subject line, “CLOSE
HOLD -- Important,” he noted, “Spanier does not know this information yet, and his
lawyers will be advised about an hour before the charges are announced tomorrow.” Fina
thanked the Freeh Group for their help and said they were “instrimental” in bringing this

about.”!
The Freeh Group appeared to welcome this cozy relationship with OAG prosecutors:

1. From the ouiset, Freeh investigators collaborated extensively with the OAG by sharing
information, including providing interview summary notes, even for individuals who
were not suspected of criminal aciions, when requested by Fina.”> A member of the
Freeh Group spoke with Jonelle Eshbach, identified as the lead lawyer in the Sandusky
investigation, and said the Freeh Group “expected to cooperate with her in every way we

can.”®?

2. Very ealy in their investigation (Febinary of 2012), Freeh emailed his team after they
were informed that Penn State had received a new Grand Jury subpoena, saying, “We
should try to make sure the GJ is not onto something new ... which totally ‘scoops’ us.
Not sure how to do that btw.”®* A few days later, one of the Freeh Group iavestigators

emailed to others: “We showld malce certain that we determine the utility of looking into
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all the same areas of interest raised by the AG in subpoenas, to ensure we do not get
‘scooped’ (borrowing Louie’s term used in connection with the recent federal

subpoena).””

3. The Freeh Group carefully reviewed documents forwarded by Fina that detailed the

charges against Curley and Schultz.*®

A Freeh investigator told others in the group that he had heard 2 yumor that Spanier

would soon be charged and said he would ask Fina to confirm.?’

5. A Freeh investigator told others in the group that Fina had offered to review their report:
“He also said that he was willing to sit with us and talk to the extent he can before the
report is released if we wished for any feedback.™”

6. In an email exchange among the Freeh Group discussing the request of an interviewee {o
review the swummary notes of his interview, one investigator comments, “I definitely

don’t want to get cross with the AG by even appearing to help a possible target.””

Contacts between the Freeh Group and Federal investigators were less frequent and less detailed
than these with PA OAG. Federal investigators provided updaies on their investigation of The
Second Mile,!% complained about “obstruction” by Penn State,!” speculated about plea bargains

being considered by Sandusky and Schuliz,'? disclosed their interest in the 2001 emails,'®
104 indicated their primary

discloged that they were considering subpoena of the PSU Task Force,
6

foeus was oxn The Second Mile and Trustees,'% shared information from their interviews,'?
expressed their belief that there were “50 more Sandusky victims,”*% commented on
implications for OAG case presented by statute of limitations,"® reported that they were working
closely with OAG,!% and passed along Fina’s expectation of proceeding with charging
documents against Spanier.!'® In April of 2012, Venizelos told a Freeh Group investigator that
he had leamed Spanier had coniracted to work with a national security agency; Venizelos
contacted a colleague in the FBI to say that Spanier — whom he apparently had decided was
guilty of some form of wrongdoing — should not be worling with the Bureau, and promised to

share with the Freeh Group his emails exchanged on this matter.! !

The independence of the Freeh Group investigation came wnder question in March 0f 2013 after
Ryan Bagwell (who obtained documents through the Freedom of Information Act) publicized
several emails between the Freeh Group and OAG. The Freeh Group discussed their response
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via emails and Louis Freeh agreed to this statement: “Our communication with these offices in
no way impacted the independence of our work or the conclusions contained in our report.”1?
To the contrary, our close examination of the ongoing contacts between the Freeh Group and
OAG (and, to a lesser extent, Federal investigators) provides compelling indications that the
Freeh Group was influenced by the OAG fo craft a report that was consistent with the OAG case

against Sandusly and impHeated Penn, State leaders as enabling Sandusky’s vietimization of

children.

NCAA. Early in the investigation, Frazier, chair of the Special Investigative Task Force,
informed Maxl Emmert, President of the NCA A, that the Freeh Group had “complete
independence in carrying out the investigation,”*® Frazier then told Freeh that Emmert “would
like ic speak with you in order to assess the sitnation firther.”!™ A few days later, 2 member of
the I'reeh Group reporied back on his conversation with Emmert and recommended to Frazier
that the Ireeh Group share information with the NCAA and the Big Ten io avoid duplicate

investigations,!!® and Frazier recommended this fo the Task Force. !¢

Adfter a phone conversation with NCAA General Counsel Donald Remy, a member of the Freeh
Group briefed Frazier and Freeh on ihe arrangemenis with the NCAA,' explaining that the
NCAA would provide a list of what they wanted fo leam, and would be invited to provide on-siie
education to the Freeh Group “lo ensure that the SIC has a solid understanding of the NCAA's
standards for determining loss of instihttional control and ethical misconduct.” It was also
reported that Remy had agreed to a plan where “the SIC will provide the NCAA an advance
review of any SIC interim and final recommendations and any portions of the SIC report which
relate to the NCAA’s areas of concern.” They agreed to weekly calls with the NCAA to provide

updates. Remy said he saw the NCAA’s role as “monitoring an internal investigation.”

The NCAA’s training of the Freeh Group occiured on January 6, 2012 via conference call,
presented by Julie Roe Lach, head of enforcement for the NCAA, using a PowerPoint
presentation titled, “Institutional Conirol and Uneihical Conduct.”*!® The fraiming materjals also
included a document titled “Principles of Insiitutional Control as Prepared by the NCAA
Commitiee on Infractions.” *® A list of 34 search terms was provided, including: whisile-blovrer,

cash cow, power coach, blind eye, retaliation, and CYA (believed to be an abbreviation for
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Cover Your Ass, an expression conveying a defensive posture). Also provided was a list of
categories of individuals to be interviewed, including those with former and current affiliations
with Penn State athletics and football, and a list of 32 questions to be asked; the Freeh Group
incorporated all this into their investigative plan.'?® These materials provide insight into the
mindset of the NCAA leadership even before the investigation commenced, suggesting an
interest in documenting lack of instifutional control by demonsirating volitional wrongdoing
involving the “power coach” who operated a “cash cow” program. In fact, Jay Paterno (a
member of the football coaching staff) was interviewed by Frech investigators very early in the
investigation and was surprised that most of the questions involved “pover relationships” among
Coach Joe Paternc, Curley, and Spanier; in his bool he recalls his realization that the

investigation would lead to conclusions allowing an NCAA finding of lack of institutional
control .11

Under the best possible circumstances, how could an interested party (the NCAA), who expects
i0 use the outcome of an investigation, be fairly and objectively involved in “monitoring”™ an
independent investigation without influencing ihe process? Daes this constituie a conflict of
interest? The answer likely depends on whether clear lines were respected in the relaiive roles of
the NCAA and the Freeh Group. An example that suggests some line-crossing involves an email
exchange between Remy and a member of the Freeh Group in December, 2011, where Remy
requests and receives editing on a letier from the NCAA to Penn State establishing the preposed
terms of the NCAA’s involvement with the investigation.'? Arguably, to preserve the
independence of the investigation, Remy should have negotiated the ground rules directly with
the University. It appears that Remy was trying fo have it both ways — claiming in a January
email to the Freeh Group that “at this time the NCAA does not have an open enforcement
inquiry or investigation into the issues at Penn State™” while simultanecusly maintaining an
open conduit for regular updates and advance access to the findings from the Freeh Investigation.
Certainly, it was the understanding of the Freeh Group that they were conducting an
investigation incorporating questions from the NCAA and the Big Ten “in lieu of them doing a
joint investigation with us.”*!

Based on documments produced during discovery for the Corman litigation, the public now knows

that these were not “the hest possible circumstances” due to the biased infentions of the NCAA.
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We will elaborate further on this, and will provide a summary of information from our review
that indicates reasons for the Freeh Group’s willingness to work closely with the NCAA, in

Section G, Sources of Bias.

Interference by Penn State leaders, Example #1: Keith Masser, Vice Chair of Penn Siate
Board of Tynstees. During the Sandusky trial, Masser inexplicably gave an interview to the
Associated Press, saying that he had come to believe that Penn State officials had covered up for
Sendusky.’? It is difficult to fathom any construciive reason for making such a statermnent in the
midst of a criminal {rial, and just a month before Freeh’s Report would be released. Are we fo
believe that Masser acted unilaterally, due to a momentary lapse of judgment? Or did he take
this step with the full knowledge and consent of Board leadership? Masser issued an apology a
tew days later for his “inappropriate comments,” The only public reaction from the Board was a
comment rom a fellow Trustee, effusively praising Masser’s chavacier and saying e had the
“utmost respect” for the Board’s Vice Chair.'?S If the Boazd lost confidence in Masser over this

incident, it was not apparent. Six months later, Masser was elected to the chairmanship of the

Roard. 127

Freeh readily accepted the suggestion of his employers, as conveyed by the Board Vice Chair
through the AP ariicle. After receiving the avticle from one of his investigators in an email with
the message, “Masser’s comments are interesting,”'?® Freeh responded o the team: “Interesting
and tends fo raise the expectations that “we’ will uncover a ‘cover up!” ... This goes to our major
‘headline’ and key findings and recommmendations — exactly what the Grand Jury first noted — the
motivation by the most senior PSU officials (and perhaps the “coach’) to move these “bad things
off campus,’ ignore the sufferings of the child victims, and ‘help’ a friend because it seemed like

the ‘humane’ thing to do. Right now I believe this is our main ‘message.””1?

Inferference by Penn State leaders, Example #2: Frank Guadagnine, outside PSU
attorney. Asthe investigation was winding down, Guadagnino sent an email to the Freeh Group
pointing out a Deadspin article on a story from Esquire, focusing on whether Paterno knew about
the 1998 investigation of Sandusky; " he suggested the investigators follow up these leads and
examine Paterno’s calendar.’! This task was then assigned 1o one of the mvestigators. (It is

worth nating that Deadspin is scarcely a source of nubiased and responsible journalistic integrity,
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for example, having previously published an arficle with a headline of, “Joe Pateino is Full of
Shit.”*) As outside counsel, Guadagaino would have been working under the direction of high
level Penn Siate administrators (General Counsel Cynthia Baldwin, President Rodney Erickson)
and/oxr Board Jeadership. Certainly, as an attorney, he should have understood that providing
investigative direction to the Freeh Group constituted interference with an “ndependent”

investigation. Was Guadagnino directed by Penn State leaders to make this recommendation to
the Freeh Group?

Interference by Penn State leaders, Example #3: Trustee Een Frazier, Chair of PSU Board
Special Investigation Task Foree. In June of 2012, with the Freeh Report being drafied,
Frazier forwarded an article!® exploring the question of why Sandusky was not stopped earlier;
the article concluded, “Sandusky was allowed io exist becanse no one dared challenge the power
of Penn State or Paterno, no one wanted fo threaten the legacy of the football powerhouse and
ihe great man himself,” Frazier commented in the email, “I happen o find this ESPN piece by
Howard Bryant well writien and well reasoned. It focuses on the larger lessons to be learned

from excessive respeci for ‘icons’ (Coach Paterno and PS football).”***

Freeh wrote o his team, “Follows on nicely to owr discussion yesterday and tends to answer why
protecting the children was always the second thought.”'** Ons of the Freeh investigators wiote
the others, “The below Howard Bryant article that Ken Frazier passed along over the weekend is
indeed inferesting, in that it shows that undoubte &13! many people (in and outside of the

" University) are expecting our report to state that the “why” for the failuze to report was the desive
to protect Paterno and the fb program.” However, he adds that since they had no opportunity to
interview the principals, they should avoid speculation and focus only on the facts.”*® Another
member of the team agreed, saying that they could explain the WHAT and the HOW but not the
WHY, “since only the principals truly lenow.”"*’ Freeh responded, “T vnderstand — there is a

stroneer case fo be made for ‘protecting the vniversity’ than JP or the *FB program’ — which is

never really arficulated in any gvidence [ have seen”'*® (emphasis added).

And vet, the Frech Report included motivation — to protect the University from bad publicity -
and paired that with a list of causal faciors, including a condemnation of Penn State’s “culiure of

reverence for the football program.”13
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This was the single instance we 1dentified of Frazier sending an articie, with his own
commentary, to the Freeh Group. As chair of the Special Investigative Task Force, which hired
Freeh and oversaw the investigation, his perspective certainly camried immense weight. What
could have been Frazier’s purpose in sending this communication, if not to influence the content
of the Freeh Report? Despite the misgivings of investigators, including Freeh’s own
acknowledgement that they had not found evidence that Sandusky was purposely ignored to

protect Paterno and the football program, Frazier’s perspective found its way info the Report.

“The work product was por shored with anvene who was pof poavi of (ke Svecial Irvestisniive
Counsel’s team.” (Freel Eeport, p. 12)

Our review indicates that information gathered in the investigation was regularly shared wifh

individuals outside the Freeh Group.

Pennsylvania Office of the Aftorney General and Federal Investigators. The Freeh Group

openly and regularly shared information with OAG and Federal investigators throughout the

investigation. '

NCAA and Big Ten. Enities in the Freeh Group diary**? indicated that a standing call was set
up in early January 2012 1o brief the NCAA and Big Ten each Friday, and that regular updates
were provided throughout the investigation. Beth NCAA. and Big Ten requested specific

information as the investigation progressed, and the Freeh Group appears to have provided that

information.

Penn State leaders. Regular updates were provided to the Penn State Special Investigative Task
Force, primanily with Task Force leaders Ken Frazier and Ronald Tomalis."* One diary eniry
reflects Freeh reminding the group that Frazier had asked for updates when new information
arose, and a plan was made for one of the team to call Frazier io apprise him of the latest
findings."** On May 2, as the investigation was close to complete, the full Task Force was
briefed. Notes in the Freeh Group diary reflect the discussion; the Trustees were told the “report
will tmpact more on Schuliz and Curley” and Trusiees expressed that the Board was “concerned
about conspiracy.”™ In early June, a briefing was provided via conference call to the entire

Task Force, the Board’s Executive Committes, and President Rodney Erickson.'* The focus
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was primarily on the implementation of compliance recormendations; Board chair Karen Peetz
yanted to be able to “sync up recommendations with proactive changes” already made by the

Roard. There was also extensive discussion of the plan for releasing the Report.

The full Board was briefed on the status of the investigation on April 9 via conference cal] 140
The information session was led by Frazier and Tomalis, who were prepared by Freeh. An
email” between Freeh and a lead investigator laid out the points for Frazier and Tomalis. The
primary focus was the discovery of “certain critical and extremely sensitive emails between key
parties involving what appears to be the MeQueary Shower Incident.” Briefing points also
included: “The parties to the emails consciously decided not to report the matter io the
authorities, and appreciated and accepted the risk of not reporiing” despite apparently seeming {0
“heliave that Sandusky’s conduct was severs enough (as opposed fo mere ‘horse-play’) as to
decide o offer Sandusky assistance in getting ‘professional help.”” Another bullet point noted,
“Jue Paterno was consulted by one of the parties before making a final suggestion regarding the
course of action.” The email with the briefing agenda included a note suggesting that, “One
additional statement Ken may want to malke is that there is a possibility that one of the parties to
the emails who has not yet been indicted may be” [apparently a reference to Spanier].

A briefing was provided to a group of Penn State’s attorneys midway through the investigation,

focused particutarly on the emails and a discussion of the implications raised by the emails.

“The Special Investioative Counsel revealed this report and the findings herein to the Board
of Trustees and the general public af the same e, No advarce eopy was provided fo the
Board or fo any other person outside of the Special Investigative Counsel’s team.”

(Freeh Report, p. 12}

Our review demonstrates that advance copies of the Report were fo be provided to the NCAA,

the Big Ten, and to Frazier and Tomalis, leaders of the Task Force. Guadagnino zalso appears 1o

have been briefed regarding the Report’s findings.

MNCAA and Big Ten. The original amangernents with the NCAA, as described above, inclnded
“an adveance review of any SIC inferim and final recommendations and any portions of the SIC
report which relate to the NCAA’s areas of concern.”™ In keeping with that arrangement, Freeh

Group diary enivies reflect repeated reminders to fulfill that plan by providing an advance copy
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of the Report to the NCAA and the Big Ten no later than 24 hours prior to the formal Report

release. 150

Penn State leaders. The Freeh Group diary shows plans for providing a final draft of the Report
io Frazier and Tomalis, who wanted the opporiunity to “provide constructive feedback.”'** In
May, a diary eniry describes a request from Guadagnino, who asked for “a discussion about what

the report is going fo say;” a subsequent entry documents a date set for that conversation.!5?

B.3. Report release

Freeh press conference

Freely’s press conterence, held in concert with the release of the Report, was more of a media
circus than a seber, professional communication of findings from an mvesiigation. (See
Appendix 3.1: Freeh press conference: Media Cireus.) This was perhaps not surprising given
that Freeh was hired over another candidaie because Frazier believed he was “more at ease with
the media side of things.”* The press conference was planned by Kekst, a public relations firm
hired specifically for this purpose, and Freeh was carefially prepared by the PR team. '™

The press conference appears to have been designed to produce the greatest media impact and to

reduce the ability of reporters o fully vet the 267-page Report:

e ‘The date was a slow news day for sports reporters, just following the MLB All-Star
Game.

e The chosen date was shortly before the Olympics, and reporters would soon be traveling
to London, and be distracted from conducting a close review of the Report.

e The location of the press conference was not University Park, but Philadelphia, allowing
greater access for reporters.

e The Report was io be released on a website at 9 am. Leaked documents, published by an
online news source almost 8 hours before the press conference, predicied an
“unexpected” website crash that prevenied the release of the Report until Penn State did
a mass emailing at 9:10 am.' From the leaked document: “9:05 -- Thank you for

bearing with us. Apparently there have been some difficulties with the website, We are
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working to email the Report as soon as we can. Please bear with us a bit longer.

Meanwhile we have copies of M. Freeh’s statement.” The predicted website crash did,

in fact. oceur on schedule, and Freeh’s statement'®® was distiibuted to reporters, wio

used that mnformation as their only sowrce and quickly sent out their initial reports.

One of the leaked documents was a set of responses for Q & A, providing advance
knowledge that Freeh would justify the firings of Spanier and Paterno, along with lis
opinion that Paterno did not do “all he should have” to report the allegations of abuse.
Freeh took the podium to respond fo reporters’ questions at 10 am, before it was possible

for them to fully review the Report.

To reiterate: A phony websiie crash appears to have been enoineered fo mrevernt reporters from

having access to the Report, forcing them to rely on his written siatement, which was filled with

inflammatory versions of the Report’s findings. (See Appendix 3.2: Freeh press conference

statements: Frrors.) Were Penn State leaders complicit?

Penn State leaders® responss

A few hours after Freeh’s press conference, Penn State President Rodney Erickson, Board of
Trustees Chairman Karen Peeiz and Task Foree chair Ken Frazier held their own press
conference. Peetz spolce on behalf of the Board, accepting “full responsibility for the failures

that occurred.” Frazier said, “We are deeply ashamed.”"’

Statemnents by Penn State and by Freeh affimed that no one outside the Frech Group was given
information in advance of the O am release on the day of the press conference. Did Penn State
leaders get advance copies of the Report, as was reflected in the planming notes of the Freeh
Group? Or, instead, did they receive the Report at the same time as the public — and then make
statements accepting the Freeh Report conclusions before they could have had sufficient time to

review and consider the Repori? Either possibility has troubling implications.
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E4. Summary and conclusions

Our review indicates that the investigative and reporting methodology used in the Freeh Report

were seriously flawed.

The Freeh Group used interview methodology that was prone io emvor, suhject io
conscious and unconscious bias of investigators, and involved coercion of interviewees.
Independence of the Freeh investigation was compromised by influence from:

a. Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General and Federal investigators

b. NCAA and Big Ten

c. Pena Staie leaders
Conirary to their own siatements, the Freeh Group regularty provided information about
the ongoing investigation 1o

a. Penasylvania Office of Attorney General and Federal investigators

b. NCAA and Big Ten

c. Penn State leaders
Contrary to their own statements, the Freeh Group shared their conclusions in advance of
the Report release with:

a. NCAA and Big Ten

b. Penn State leaders
The release of the Report was designed to prevent thoughtful analysis by reporters so that

Freeh’s inflammatory statements would predominate in media coverage.
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F. Documentary Evidence Regarding Major Conclusions of Freeh
Report

In this section, we review the information and interpretations used in the Freeh Report o support

the major conclusions, and provide material from the nvestigation Source Materials that is

conirary fo the major conclusions.

The Freeh Report provides explanations from Spanier, Schultz, Paterno, and Cwley for the

“yeasons for taking no action to identify the Febmary 9, 2001 child victim and for not reporting

Sandusky to the authorities:

s Through counsel, Cirley and Schultz stafed that the ‘humane’ thing to do in 2001 was {o
carefully and responsibly assess the best way to handle vague bui froubling allegations.
According to their counsel, these men were good people trying to do their best to make
the right decisions.

Paterno told a reporter that °T didn’t know how to handle it and I was afraid to do
something that might jeopardize what the wniversity procedure was. So I backed away
and tarned it over to some other people, people I thought would have a litile more
experience than [ did. It didn’t work out that way.”

Spanier said, in his interview with the Special Tnvestigative Counsel, thai he never heard
a report from anyone that Sandusky was engaged in any sexual abuse of children. He

also said that if he had known or suspected that Sandusky was abusing children, he would

have been the first to intervene.”'*®

The Freeh Report continues, “Taking into account the available witness statements and svidence,
the Special Tnvestigative Counsel finds that it is more reasonable to conclude that, in order o
avoid the consequences of bad publicity, the most powerful leaders at the University — Spaniez,
Schuliz, Paterno and Curley ~ repeatedly concealed criiical facts relating to Sandusky’s child
abuse from the authorities, the University’s Board of Trustees, the Penn State commumity, and

the public at large.”*

The Freeh Report details a list of “causes™ for this, including “a striking Iack of empathy for

child abuse victims by the most semior leaders of the University;"'® “a decision by Spanier,
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Schultz, Paterno, and Curley to allow Sandusky to retire in 1999, not as a suspected child
predator, but as a valued member of the Penn State football legacy ... essentially granting him
license to bring boys to campus facilities for ‘grooming’ as targets for his assaults;”%! “a culture

of reverence for the football program that is ingrained at all levels of the campus community.”!6?

¥.1. “Sponier, Schultz, Paterno and Curley repeatedly concealed crifical
Jacts velating to Sandusly’s child abuse”

“From the aufhorities:” Supporting information/nterpretations

The Freeh Report refies primarily on a sequence of emails to suggest that an initial action plan
(to inform Sandusky he could not bring children to the foothall facilities, to inform the director
of The Second Mile about this decision, and to report to the Department of Public Welfare --
DPW)'®? vwas subsequently changed o not contact DPW unless Sandusky was uncooperative
with the other elements of the plan.’® An intervening event between the two emails was Culey
“giving it more thought and alking it over with Joe;”!% the Freeh Report includes references to
information gained from interviews indicaiing that Cuzley was subservient to Paterno and
making the inference that Paterno may have pressured Curley fo change the plan and not report

o DPW.168

Spanier agreed 1o the proposed change in plan, adding, “The only downside for us is if the
message 1sn’t ‘heard’ and acted upomn, and we then become vulnerable for not having reported it.
But that can be assessed down the road. The approach you outline is humane and a reasonable
way to proceed.”®” The Frech Report interprets this as an indication that Spanter, Schultz, and

Curley decided to report Sanduslky’s conduct to The Second Mile but not to DPW 168

Schuliz also agreed to the change in plan, with a qualification: “I can support this approach, with
the vnderstanding that we will inform his organization, with or without his cooperation (I think
that’s what Tim proposed). We can play it by ear fo decide about the other organization.”® The

Freeh Report infers that “the other organization” is DPW.170

The Freeh Report siates that documents in Schultz’s office “had been withheld from the Special
Investigative Covmsel.”' There is no mention of who withheld these materials but the
implication appears to be that Schultz was atiernpiing to conceal them.
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“ From the aufliorifies:” Contrary information/inferpreiations

Interpretation of emails. The emails discussing planmed responses to the 2001 report of
Sandusky showering with a child were not definitive in terms of demonstrating what exactly
Penn State officials understood about the incident. Freeh investigators acknowledged this; in an

entry in the work diary, they ask, “What evidence that they knew it was more than horseplay?”t7*

Certainly, the Freeh Group should have fully considered all relevant information before coming

to any conclusions about the accurate meaning contained in the grmails.

Spanier interview. In his inferview with the Freeh Group, Spanier said he had not been told
about anything of a sexual nature in Sandus'ky’s conduet with the vouth in the shower, and given
his own background (having been abused as a child) he believed he would have talen action had
he known that Sandusky’s actions crossed the line; he believed the idea of counseling for
Sandusky was to address Sandusky’s faiture to recognize that showering with kids was
inappropriate, not because he thought Sandusky was molesting children; the “only downside” in
the email referred to Curdey’s concern that Sandusky did not work for Pean State and they counld
not dictate to him and therefore he might not comply with the request o stop bringing Second
Mile Iids to campus, which would require them to revisit the situation later.' 17

Spanier stated that Wendell Courtney, PSU outside counsel, told him that Schuliz had consulted
Courtney on child abuse reporting laws and that Spanier was not present at that meeting;

Courtney told Spanier that if he (Courtney) had believed Sandusky’s conduct had constituted
abuse, Courtney would have informed Spanier directly at the time.

Spanier also disclosed that after he informed Schuliz and Curley that he was stepping down from

his position as University president, each independently told him he was being wronged becaunse

they never reported to him anything that would constituie abuse,!”

As the Freeh Group discussed their understanding of't
“ITow does this relate to the Why: Spanier says had anyone told him about molesting he would
have gotten involved; how consistent with evidence that he must have been told about allegation
of sexual conduct? Or, is he telling the truth?”!”® Here we see that the Freeh Group recognized

that Spanier’s statements were not consistent with their nairative, especially in regard to thelr
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insertion of motivations behind the idea that Penn State officials concealed information that

Sandusky was molesting children.

Federal high security clearance investigation of Spanier. Spanier’s Federal high security
clearance, held since 1995, was temporarily suspended due to events surrounding Penn State’s
response to Sandusky’s arrest,'”” and Spanier was re-investigated by Special Investigator Jobn
Snedden from February 6 to May 8, 2012. Spanier informed the Freeh investigators of this
report’s availability, and the investigators made a note fc obtain it,'”® yet no mention of this
investigation appears in the Freeh Report. The Federal investigation is notable because: Spanier
passed a polygraph and was interviewed under oath; Schuliz and Curley were interviewed;
findings from the investigation led io a renewal of Spanier’s high security clearance, concluding:
“The circumstances surrounding [Spanier’s] departure from his position as PSU president do not
cast doubt on [Spanier’s] cunrent reliability, trustworthiness or good judgment and do not cast

doubt on his ability to properly safeguard national secrity information.”'”

Using interviews and documentary evidence, Snedden specifically and directly investigated the
events swrounding the 2001 incident and the responses of University leaders to this incident and

to Sandusky’s arrest. Important information in the Federal high security clearance report:

¢ [From Spanier’s interview statements on 2001 incident: Curley and Schuliz told him
Sandusky had been seen showering with a Second Mile kid; Spanier beleved at that time
that The Second Mile served only adolescents; the unidentified reporter “was not sure
what he saw because it was around the corner” and “what he saw was described as “horse
play’ or ‘horsing around;”” Spanier asked if that was how it was described, and if that
was all, and was told yes; all agreed this was inappropriate and that Curley would tell
Sandusky and The Second Mile that children from the charity could not be brought to
campus; a few days later Cuiley reported the discussions had taken place; “The issue
never came up again. It did not appear very significant at the time.”

e Inhis interview, Schuliz stated: McQueary was uncomfortable after seeing Sandusky
with a kid “horsing around and wrestling” in the shower and “did not say anything of a

sexual nature took place;” Schultz, Spanier, and Cwley agreed jointly this was
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inappropriate but not cximinal; Schultz recalled a decision to report to Department of
Public Welfare but was not sure who had made the report.
o Then University President Erickson was inferviewed and said he trusted Spanier’s
judgment and Spanier was responsible and reliable; said “Spanier is collateral damage in
all this.”
At the time of Sandusky’s arrest, Schultz called Steve Garban, Chair of the Board of
Trastees, and told him Spanier did not know of anything beyond “horsing around,”
according to Garban’s interview.
From his interview, Tom Poole, PSU Vice President for Administration, described being
in Spanier’s office when Schultz rushed in to relate that McQueary had testified he had
told Schultz about sexnal activity between Sandusky and the youth in the shower; Schuliz
was shocked, said McQueary had never told him of anything sexuval; Poole “believed it

appeared there was a lot of disbelief in the room regarding this information.”

Tn a subsequent news interview, Special Investigator Snedden deseribed Spanier as completely
credible and stated, “There was no coverup. There was no conspiracy. There was nothing to

cover up.”!#

Hlorseplay: Interview data. Interviews reflect multiple reports of the 2001 incident as

consisting of “horseplay” or minor, nonabusive conduct by Sandusky.

Several interviewees spoke about McQueary’s teport to Paterno, noting that the information
shared was vague and nonspecific. A fiiend said McQueary told him that he (McQueary) told
Paterno about seeing Sandusky in the shower with a young boy. From the interview notes:
“MeQueary told [friend] ‘I was a little vague with what I told Joe” and added “Joe wouldn®t
understand.” McQueary believed this was because of Paterno’s age. McQueary also said the
Grand Jury misrepresented what he saw to the general public because he never said ‘anal

rape,*”!8

A former football player believed that Paterno’s old-fashioned aititude may have played arole in
MeQueary’s decision about what to report to Paterno, and added, “Joe was as close to being a

priest as a priest— especially concerning discussions of girls and sex.”™® A, senfor administraior
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expressed a similar opinion, describing Paterno as a good Catholic who “may not have wanted to

go there” end didn’t understand the seriousness of the situatjon. 183

A filend of the McQueary family said that Mike knew and respected Sandusky, and would have
been “shocked and embarrassed” about disclosing any misconduct to Paterno. He said he
believed that “Mike probably didn’t communicate things properly and would have been

“reluctant to say things to Joe.”"1%

Trustees said that Spanier'® and Schultz!'* i0ld the Board they had been given reporis of
“horseplay” or “horsing around.” Another Trustee said that “Spanier was an ethical person with
lines you didn’t cross. He thought that Spanier wasn’i aware of the level of the problem with the

Sandusky investigation or he interpreted it differently. 187

The attomey for The Second Mile said Curley had told TSM Director Raylkoviiz that Sandusky

had showered with a youth which was deemed inappropriate but not serious misconduct. 158

A senior adminisirator with decades of experience at Penn Staie discounted the idea that Penn
State officials were given explicit information about Sandusky’s misconduct: “[He] is of the
opinion that the entire public scenario of the Sandusky case makes no sense. The scenario
mndicates a cover up by Joe Paterno, Tim Curley, and Gary Schuliz afier McQueary told all of
them about the rape of a young boy by Sandusky. The cover up would require all of the officials
to make a joint decision to keep the incident quiet to avoid embarrassment and would depend on
MeQueary not telling anyone else. What does make sense, according to [the administrator], is
that McQueary was not clear in describing the incident to Paterno, Curley, or Schultz and [he] is
confident that neither Curley nor Schuliz would perjure themselves about the situation. [He] said
John Dranov disputes McQueary’s statement and Dranov was supposedly present when
MeQueary told his father of the incident. Dranov claims he asked McQueary three times if he
observed sex and McQueary responded that he did not.” He added fhat he was “confident that if
Courtney [PSU attomey] were in the loop on McQueary’s information, he would have advised
[Spamier] to report it to authoriiies. Cowriney would not iy to protect the University or the

football team if he was aware of the incident.” %
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Our thorough and systematic review of interview data did not pro duce a single instance of
anyone reporting having been told by Spanier, Schuliz, Curley, or Paterno of any explicit or
serious misconduct by Sandusky. In contrast, there are muliiple reports of vague, nonspecific

descriptions of “horseplay” or other minor acis.

Relevance of 1998 investization of sex abuse allegations against Sandusky. The Freeh
Report cites Jerry Lauvro, caseworker for the Department of Public Welfare, as concluding that no
sexual assault occmred. ™ Freeh investigators interviewed key individuals involved in the 1998
investigation, as well as law enforcement officials who vouched for the sidll and integrity of
those who conducted the investigation. Reports from all interviewees consistently supported the
conclusion that there was no indication that law enforcement or child services professionals were
aware of any illegal misconduct by Sandusky (see Appendix 2.1: Interview Analysis and

Summary: 1998 investigation of allegations of sex abuse against Sandusky).

Contemporaneous emails confirm that the understanding in 1998 was that Sandusky’s behavior
was not criminal. An email from Perm State’s police chief, Tom Harmon, to Gary Schuliz
stated: “The DPW investigator and our officer mest discreetly with Jerry this moming. ... He was
advised since there was no criminal behavior established that the matier was closed as an
investigation.”’®" Schultz then emailed Curley and copied Spanier and Harmon to relate this
news: “They met with Jerry on Monday and concluded there was no criminal behavior and the

maiter was closed as an investigation. ... I think the matter has been appropriately mvestigated

and I hope it is now behind us.”**?

Whereas the Freeh Report implies that awareness of the 1998 investigation would suggest
“lnowledge” that Sandusky was a pedophile, it is also possible that the cutcome of that
investigation — no charges were filed due to insufficient evidence!® -- might reasonably lead to
an assumption that Sandusky was NOT a pedophile. The Freeh Croup discussed whether
lknowledge of the 1998 allegations should have led to conclusions that the 2001 incident was
indicative of abuse, and agreed fthat such knowledge was “not probative.”’

Lanning training to Freeh Group on identification of “nillar of the community” ehild sex
offenders. Kenneth V. Lanning is retired from 30 years with the FBI as their premier expert in
child molestation cases and was hired by the Freeh Group to train the team’s investigatozs in this
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specialized area. A full day training was provided on December 13, 2011 (see Appendix 4:
Kenneth Lanning, FBI Expert in Child Sex Abuse: Training Provided to Freeh Group,
December 13, 2011).

It appears that the Freeh Group completely failed to make use of this training, which contained

the following very pertinent information:

I Lanning provided information consistent with the interpretation that Jerry Sandusky was
a “pillar of the community” offender whose stature in the community blinded people to
the possibility he could be harming children; this idea was not fncinded in the Freeh
Report.

2. Lanning provided information indicating that youth-serving organizations — along with
law enforcement, child proiective services, and society and the media — are commonly
unaware of the ways to recognize acquaintance offenders; the possibility thai Penn State
officials may have unintentionally failed to understand Sandusky’s actions as abusive is
not included in the Frech Report,

3. Lanning provided informaiion to guide youih-serving organizations in obtaining qualified
consultation when creating policies to protect children — emphasizing the need for
consultants to be knowledgeable about acquaintance victimization; this was not included
in {he Freeh Report recommendations.

4. Lanning provided guidelines for conducting investigations of child sex abuse, and
emphasized the importance of evaluating information and carefully corroborating reports
before making conclusions; the Freeh Report disregards information contrary to the
conclusions rather than qualifying the conclusions.

5. Lemning cautioned that media reports on child sex victimization cases are often
inaccurate end motivated by competing interests (getting ratings, filling time); the Freeh
Group read media reports unciitically and allowed themselves to be influenced by

sensationalistic accounts based on questionable findings.

Mo reports of anyone being asked to suppress Imowledge of Sandusky’s actions: Inferview
data. There was not a single instance of any interviewee reporting having been asked to conceal

informaiion about Sandusky engaging in inappropriate conduct with childrer.
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Characters of Spauier, Schuliz, Curley, and Paterno: Interview data (see Appendix 2.2:
Interview Analysis and Summary: Were the characters of Spanier, Schultz, Cuwrley, and
Paterno consistent with covering up fo protect a pedophile?). Only 9 of the 132 inferviewees
cornmenting on the characters of any of these four men were critical; 93% of respondents
conveyed consistent praise for their ethics and commitment to the highest standards of personal
and institutional behavior. Trustees described Spanier as “an ethical person with lines you didn’t
cross”™ and “the most morally upstanding man I have ever met.” Schultz was described by
Trustees as “a straight arrow who always took the right road” and who was “one of the finest
men [he’s] ever been associated with.” Curley was described by a Trustee as “one of the most
honest people you could ever find” and a former football player currently working in college
sports compared him to other athletic directors saying “no one has a higher level of integrity than
Tim Curley.” Paterno’s integrity was praised by Trustees, faculiy, colleagues in athletics, and
former players: “The ‘Paterno Way’ included ethics, integrity, public service, and academics;”
“a frue visionary” who held everyone to a high code of conduct; “a tough disciplinarian;”
“Paterno would challenge you do do it the right way;” “I challenge anyone o show me a person

who has done more for the University or the community than Joe Paterno.”

Interview data compellingly support that Spanier, Schuliz, Cutley, and Paterno were all men who

behaved with the highest integrity in their personal and professional roles.

Paterno met reporting obligations. Paterno was immediately praised for reporting the
allegations against Sandusky to his superiors. “Penn State head football coach Joe Paterno did
the right thing and reported an eye-witness report of child sex abuse by Jerry Sandusky in the
football locker room in 2002, according to the indictment released this morning by the State

Attorney General. %

Penn Siate policy in effect in 2001 was written for sexual assauli of students, burt not of children;
the sexual assault policy required consent of the victim for a report to be made, or in the few
situations where a report was required even without the victim’s consent, it was required that the

victim be informed. ¢ This presented a problem, as Paterno did not know the identity of the

! Originally, there was confusion over the date of the shower incident observed by Mike
McQueary; this was later correcied to be 2001.
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victim. A conservative approach was to report the incident to his superior, Curley (the Athletic

Director), and to the head of campus police, Schuliz.

In & viritten statement Paterno prepared before being dismissed by the Board, and made public in
June 0f 2012, he described his actions in 2001: “Palerno said that he told MeQueary ‘he had
done the right thing and that I would take the appropriate next step. After consideration, I
determined that, given Sandusky’s status as a retired employee governed by a retirement package
negotiated with the administration, I had no authority to act directly. The next day, in
accordance with University policy, I contacted the head of my department and related whai was
told to me. That was the last time the matter was brought to my atiention until this investigation

and T essumed that the men I referred it to handled the matter appropriately.””!?’

The NCAA changed their reporting policy in 2014 to require the exact aciions faken by Paterno
in 2001. The new policy emphasizes that athleltic depariments must not become involved in
investigations into reports of sexual assault, and instead must “report immediaiely any suspecied

sexual violence to appropriate campns offices for investigation and adjudication. %%

Paterno’s statement upon his retirement — “With the benefit of hindsight, I wish I had done
more” — has been widely misinterpreied as an admission of guilt for having failed in his reporting
obligations. Within the context of the full statement, 1i is apparent this is the compassionate
response om a deeply moral man who was sorrowfizl about Sandusky’s victimization of
children and who was committed to the best interests of the University: “I am absolutely
devastated by the developments in this case. I grieve for the children and their families, and I
pray for their comfort and relief. Thave come to work every day for the last 61 years with one
clear goal in mind: To serve the best interests of this university and the young mexn who have
been entrusted to my care. I have the same goal today. That’s why I have decided o armounce
my retirement effective at the end of this season. At this momment the Board of Trusiees should
not spend a single minute discussing my status. They have far more important matters to
address. Iwant to make this as eagy for them as I possibly can. This is a tragedy. It is one of the

great sorrows of my life. With the benefit of hindsight, I wish I had done more.”!*
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Schuliz file: Confidential but not secret. Schultz retired from his position as Senior Vice
President for Finance and Business in 2009, The confidential file on Sandusky was left in his

office; his successor, Al Horvath, along with several administrative assistants, had access to it.

o I Schultz had participated in a coverup of Sandusky’s actions, why would he not have
destroyed the file on this maiier when he retired, rather than allowing the possibility that
his successor could find it?

In September 2011, Schuliz was rehired on an emergency basis unti] a replacement could
be found for Al Horvatl. Back in his old office, Schuliz had access fo the file on the
2001 incident. Afier testifying before the Grand Jury 9 months before, he was certainly
aware that his actions in 2001 might come under scrutiny. If he had indeed been
wrvolved in a coverup, why did he not at that time destroy or remove the file documenting
the decisions made in 20017

Schuliz testified before the Grand Jury in January 2011 that he might have kept notes
about the 2001 incident. (1) Baldwin was present for his testimony. Why did she not
search for the file in order to share it with law enforcement officials? (2) Frech
investigators reviewed Schuliz’s testimony.** How could they think he was withholding

information about his records when he had testified under oath to the possibility of their

exigtence?

The Freeh Group work diary contains notes on a discussion with OAG prosecutor Fina, who
provided an inflammatory account of events involving Schultz’s administrative assistant Kim
Belcher and the handling of the confidential file on Sandusky. Fina said: (1) Schultz told
Relcher the file was “sacrosanct and secret;” (2) Belcher may have been sleeping with Schultz;
(3) Schultz (whose attorney provided the file to OAG in April of 2012) “may have presented the
papers io get immunity;” (4) “stories are being put together to mateh each other,” apparently a
claim that Schuliz and Belcher were conspiring; (5) Schuliz had “profound conirol over 98
investigations — inappropriate at least, at most criminal conduct.””! The Freeh Group appeared
to have accepted Fina’s interpretation of evenis without considering that it was illogical that
Qehultz would have testified o the possible existence of a file that was accessible to others —a

file that he could have destroyed — if, in fact, he had m‘i’:end‘_ad 1o conceal this information.
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There is no indication that Schultz concezaled the existence of the file.

Was a report made to Children and Youth Services in 2001? Our document review produced
notes made by the Freeh Group showing their review of information related to the 2001

allegations.?”

Email from Wendell Courtney (Penn State ouiside counsel) to Cynthia Baldwin in January 2011:
“We don’t have any file on the matter you and I discussed vesterday, and my recollection of
events is as | stated yesterday. However, I also recall that someone (I don’t think this was me,
since if it was I would have written documentation of contact) contacted Children and Youth
Services to advise of the situation 50 that they could do whatever they thought was appropriaie
under the circumstances, while being apprised of what PSU actions were, i.e., advising JS to no

longer bring kids to PSU’s football locker rocims.”
Exeerpts from Schultz’s Grand Jury testimony:

A So I believe Tim communicated to Jerry that that type of thing
should not be cccurring in the future. 1 also have a
recollection that we asked the child protective agency to lock
into the matter.

Q: It’s your testimony that you believed the 2002 incident was
reported fo the same agency, that child protective services
agency, for an investigation as the 98 one had been?

A That’s my recollection, yes. (Preliminary Hearing trans. at 212,215)

Did the Freeh roup make any attempt to investigate the independent, and consistent, recollections
of Courtney and Schultz that a report to Children and Youth Services was made in 200127 Our
review did not produce any indication that they pursued this possibility, nor did we find any

information that refirtes this possibility.

Fsychological evaluation of 1998 alleged viciim by John Seasock. As part of the investigation
of the 1998 allegations against Sandusky, licensed connselor John Seasock conducted & formal

psychological evaluation of the alleged child vietim. This evaluation included interviews of the
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child, along with a review of police and Children and Youth Services interviews. The report

concludes, “It does not appear that a sexual victimization occurred directly between [child] and

Jerry Sandusky.”?® Important excerpts from the report:

“No evidence of threat, intentional manipulation, or force designed to elicit sexual

behavior.”

Child “disclosed no discomfort with the situation giving Jeiry no opporfunity to alter
his behavior.”

“The reported wrestling was more indicative of harseplay, consistent with ths
developmental behavior of a young adolescent.”

o  Sandusky “did not evident sexual arousal.”

Another coach was present in the locker room, inconsistent with pedophile behavior.
“The behavior exhibited by Mz. Sandusky is directly consistent with what can be seen
as an expected daily routine of being a football coach. This evaluator spoke to
various coaches from kigh school and college football teams and asked about their
locker room behavior. Through verbal reporis from these coaches it is not uncommon
for them to shower with the players. This appears to be a widespread accepiable
situation, and it appears that Mr. Sandusky followed through with patierning that he
has probably done without thought for many years. 1believe the mistake that was
made vvas that Mr. Sandusky did not take into account the pre-adolescent age of this
boy and the level of sexual development that he was at.”

No staring, no prolonged touching, which are typical behaviors of pedophiies.

“Nor does it appear that this young genfleman has been placed in a situation where he
is being groomed for future sexual behavior.”

*One must be carefiil not to quickly assume that a sexmal victimization occurred and
then set forth to find factual information to support such ideation, but should gather
all facts first and then make a determination according to what has been presented.”
Seasock recommended a conversation with Sandusky to help him uwnderstand
community sensitivities about adults showering with children. “The intent of the
conversation with Mr. Sandusky is not to cast dispersion npon his actions but {o help

him stay out of such gray areas in the future.”
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The fact that a trained mental health professional could conduct & careful evaluation of the
sttuation and conclude that Sandusly’s behavior fell into a “gray area” but was not abusive
should have been considered by the Freeh Group as an indication that people who did NOT have

this training — Spanier, Schuliz, Curley, and Paterno — might similarly have been umable to

identify Sandusky as a predator.

Sandusky and The Second Mile

At the time of the 2001 incident, Sandusky was no longer employed by Penn State and was
working with his charity, The Second Mile; his activities included fundraising as well as working
direcily with children. The charity’s CEQ, Jack Raykovitz, was a licensed psychologist. Why
was Raykovitz unable to detect that Sandusky was abusing the charity’s child clienis? Raykovitz
came under cirticism by Second Mile Board members for not appropriately informing them
about the 2001 incident, as well ag about the 2008 Clinion County allegations, which were
determined to be valid accusations of abuse by child proiection professionals.”™ Why did the
Freeh Report fail to mention that the licensed psychologist, who was a mandated reportier, failed

to perceive that Sandusky was engaged in misconduct with the agency’s child clients?

Sandusky’s history as a foster and adoptive pavent: Repeatediy screened by child services
professionals. A news article shortly afier Sandusky’s arrest described the “very siringent
sereening process” the Sandosky farmily wounld have undergone to become licensed foster and
adoptive parents.*™ “Long before his arrest this month on 40 charges related o child sex abuse,
Sanduslky successfully navigated the system’s various background checks to become the
adoptive father of five sons and a daughter, a foster parent, a host for a half-dozen Fresh Air
Fund children from New York City and a congressional honoree as an ‘Angel in Adoption.’
Cowt records show Sandusky and his wife, Dottie, were designated to coordinate visits with his

andchildren as recenily as fast year when one son’s mariags began to disintegraie,”
gt ¥ y 22 peg JEb8

Those who knew Sandusky were well aware of his role as an adoptive and foster parent, as he
was frequently accompanied by children, and likely recognized that he had been screened by

child services professionals on muliiple occasions.
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“ From the University’s Board of Trustees:” Supporting information/interpretations

Supporting information provided in the Freeh Report includes criticism of Spanier for not fully
reporting the following to the Board: (1) the 1998 investigation of sex abuse allegations against

Sandusley;2% (2) the 2001 sex abuse allegations;*"’ (3) the Grand Jury proceedings.?®

“From e Driversity’s Board of Trustees:” Contrary information/interprelaiions

1998 and 2001 incidents. The 1998 allegations were investigated and nltimately deemed
unfounded; the 2001 incident was judged to involve a gray area of “horseplay” rather than abuse
or criminal activity. Given these interpretations of evenis, it is reasonable thal Spanier would not

report either incident to the Board.

Cynthia Baldwin, Penn Siate General Counsel. Baldwin has been faulted for multiple aspects
of her conduct in responding to evenis surrounding Sandusky’s indictment. In an article on legal
ethics published by the American Bar Association, Baldwin was criticized for actions indicating
confusion regarding who was her client (The University? The University president, Spanier?
University employees, Schultz and Curley?). This confusion resulted in a serious conflict of
interesi that affected not only her subsequent role regazding the criminal prosecution of Schultz
and Curley, but also appeared to have influenced her decisions about informing Spanier and the
Board about ongoing developments with the Sandusky case, according to the article.?%

The Frech investigators were aware that Baldwin’s mistakes interfered with her duty to properly
inform the Board of Trustees. One investigator emailed Freeh and six others after conducting a
review of PA Grand Fury secrecy law.?!0 He stated: “Baldwin’s insistence on appearing before
the Grand Jury with Schultz, Curley, and Spanier created an unmecessary hindrance to
Universily’s access to information about the Grand Jury. ... The appearance by Baldwin before
the Grand Ty as counsel for Penn State is an example of a misstep by Baldwin in this matter.”
He noted that if she had obtained outside counsel for Spanier, Schultz, and Curley, she could
have debriefed them after their appearances because PA law stetes that a witness has no secrecy
obligation; Baldwin would not have been bound by a secrecy obligation “and then could have

conveyed the witness information to her clients so that appropriale planning and decisions could

have been made.”

49
CONFIDENTIAL




Many Trustees were harsh in their judgments of Baldwin. A former Board Chair said he
“blamed” Baldwin for the Board’s problematic decisions following Sandusky’s indictment. 2!

Ken Frazier, Chair of the Special Investigative Task Force, described the “breakdown of trust”

between Baldwin and the Board 22

In his interview with the Freeh Group, Spanier was clear that he relied on Baldwin for her legal
advice in his decisions about informing the Board about the Grand Jury?1® He described
Baldwin as “cantious” with the Board and described multiple incidents where he wanted to
provide information to the Board but was told by Baldwin he could not. Spanier said he had
believed he could be held in contenipt of court if he disclosed information concerning the Grand

Jury proceedings. Spanier also noted that Baldwin failed to inform him about subpoenas on

multiple oceasions.

The Freeh Report acknowledges in several instances that Spanier and Baldwin, or Baldwin
alone, briefed the Board about the Grand Jury investigations.?** Tt is certainly reasonable that a
University president would rely upon his general counsel to provide sound advice. Since
Baldwin’s guidance was apparenily flawed, and since the Freeh investigators appeared to believe
that her conduct was misguided, the most reasonable conclusion is that Spanier was NOT at fauli

for any failures to folly inform the Board about Grand Jury proceedings.

Governor Corbet’s failure to inform Board. Governor Corbett came under criticism in a
news article examining the impact of Grand Jury secrecy rules on his obligation to inform Penn
State of the ongoing mmvestigation of Sandusky as an alleged child sex abuser.?'’ Several law
school professors were quoted in regard to ways that Corbett could have legally informed the
Board; all agreed he could have, and should have, pointed Trustees in the direction of checking
into Sandusky. One said, “Corbett had a fiduciary responsibility to the Board. He didr’t have to

divulge that Sandusky was even being investigated, only that they should look closer af him,”

A subsequent email exchange between Freeh and his colleague Judge Sullivan reﬁeoied on this
article and discussed the ethical and legal obligations that were not met when Corbeit, as an ex
officio Trustee of PSU, failed to notify the University about Sandusky. Sullivan described two
potential options for informing Penn State — neither of which Corbeit did ~- noting, “I would
have done 1 or 2 ... T also think you [Freeh] would have done 1 or 2.8 Frech told his team,
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“\We will need to investigate and research this as part of our focus on the BOT. .. Difficult but

important questions for us to be asking — and answering.”*"’

Despite Freeh’s recognition that understanding Governor Corbett’s failure to inform the Board
was “important,” along with his assessment that Corbett was in the wrong, no mention of this

matter was included in the Freeh Report. Instead, firll blame for inadequate briefing of the Board

was placed on Spanier.

“Frppm the Penn State community:” Supporiing information/inferprefations

Supporting information in the Freeh Report includes statements that the 1998 ncident was not

reporied to the Penn State Office of Human Resources;'® and that no documentation of the 1998

incident was made in Sendusky’s personuel £l

“ Fpon the Penn Siate connnumitys” Contrary information/interpreiations

Office of Fluman Resourees policy. The Freeh Report suggesis mishandling of this situation by
the University, referencing a statement from Ron Schreffler, Detective for the University Police
Depariment, that the Sandusly investigation was not referred to Human Resources, as would be
routine22’ However, the Report does not include Schreffler’s qualifying statement: “Te said the
referral being made would depend on the circumstance of the incident. Since Sandusky wasn’t
arrested thers’s a good chance a referral wasn’t done.” 2! The Freeh Report notes that no
written policy required campus police to notify Human Resources of incidents involving

employees.?? Schreffler also said that “no one from the University Administration or Chief

Harmon interfered with the investigation.

1993 incident. The outcome of the 1998 investigation into allegations of sex abuse by Sandusky

resulted in no charges being filed. Pemn State officials might reasonably have concluded that

Sandusky was cleared.
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“Frou the public af Igrge:” Supporting information/interpretations

Supporting information in the Freeh Report includes statements that no action was taken to
determine whether Sandusky’s conduct in 1998 was reportable under the Clery Act,”* and that
“some coaches, administrators and football program staff members ignored the red flags of

Sandusky’s behaviors and no one warned the public about Lirm.”"

“From the public at Inrge:” Confrary information/interpretations

Clery Act policy at Penn State in 1998. Over time, Clery Act reporting requirements have
become progressively more stringeni. Policy in 2011, the most recent we were able fo access, is
suggestive that Sandusky’s behavior in the shower with a child in 1998 would not have been
reportable; fondling was considered a reporiable offense only if the offender’s intent was sexual
gratification.”® This was not determined to be the case, as law enforcement decided no crime
was committed. A conservative position on this matter would indicate that the requirements in
place in 1998 may not have indicated a need to report 2 matier that was investigated but not

prosecuted due to insufficient evidence.

Rumors abeut Sandusky: Interview data (see Appendix 2.3: Interview and Analysis and
Sommary: Were members of the Penn State community aware of rumors about
Sandusky?). A wide range of the Universily community, with a heavy emphasis on cuorent and
former employees from the football program and other areas of athletics, was asked if they had
heard rumors about Sandusky (a total of 279 individuals). A large majority, 88%, said they had
never heard rumors of Sandusky doing anything imappropriate with children. Most of the
interviewees reporting rumors were referencing knowledge of public information (either the
March 2011 article in the Harzisburg Patriot-MNews about the ongoing eriminal investigation, or
the September 2010 incident at Central Mountain High School that resulied in an indicated report
by Children and Youth Services). The remaining few (16) interviewees had only vague, hearsay
knowledge. Not a single individnal reported witnessing, or hearing directly about, improper
behavior with children. Notably, many of the inferviewees who had heard vague ramors stated
unequivocally that they did not believe them, citing Sandusky’s exemplary work helping
troubled youth, or his goofy antics, describing him as “a big kid” who may have had “boundary
issues.” A member of the football staff said he and his colleagnes stili had diffculty beligving
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that Sandusky had molested children, adding, “he fooled the football staff just like he fooled

everyone else and no one had any knowledge about what he was doing.”

" Interview data regarding rumors did not support the opinion that members of the Uhniversity

community had knowledge of Sandusky’s abuse of children.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

An analysis of all the information gained through the Frech investigation strongly indicates:

s  Spanier, Schullz, Curley and Paterno believed Sandusky was engaged in horseplay, not in
any type of serious misconduct, in 2001. They believed that he did not understand that
showering with children was inappropriate and they informed him, and his cuwrent
employer, The Second Mile, that children from TSM wete not to be brought onto
carnpus. When Sandusky agreed o this arrangement, they believed the incident was fully
anl properly addressed.

There were no indications of any efforts made to conceal Sanduslcy’s actions.

All information supported the idea that Spanier, Schultz, Curley and Paterno were men of
integrity and good character.

There were no indications that the University community had heard rumoxs or had any
knowledge supporting the idea that Sandusky was a pedophile.

Sandusky fit the profile of a “pillar of the community offendes” whao escaped detection
because his actions were interpreted within the belief that he had devoted himself to

providing services for needy children.

F.2. Motivation: “To avoid the consequences of bad publicity”

Supporting information/inferpretations

Supporting information provided in the Freeh Report includes: a statement by Spanier that in
2001 “he was concerned with Sandusky because the situation ‘doesn’t look good, Twas
concerned with what people will think, the visibility and the public relations aspect ol if;

a statement atiributed to Curley as saying ““to avoid publicity issues,’ the University would not

2227 and

permit Sandusly to bring kids on campus. 228
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This idea was raised by a Trustee who said he was “not fond of” Spanier and criticized Schultz’s
truthfulness, and suggested that “if Schultz, Cwley, and Spanier were aware of the allegaiions
against Sandusky, they may have kept the matter quiet to protect Sandusky and 1o avoid any

adverse publicity to the university.”??

Contrary information/infernretations

Alternative interprefation of information used in Freeh Report {o suppoert this conclusion.
Spanier’s staternent, provided in the Freeh Report, includes this alternative perspective: “I was
not concerned with critninality. There was no suggestion of anything about abuse or sexual

contact.?#30

Curley’s statement about avoiding publicity, as reported in the Freeh Repori, was third hand, and
thus the accuracy may be in question. The Freeh Report states that Cirley made this statement to
the executive director for The Second Mile in 2001, who repeated it to the counsel for The
Second Mile (no time frame given for this, so it could have occurred at any point between 2001
and 2012), who then relayed this information to the Freeh investigators in an interview in
20122 The precise wording Curley used is almost certainly not reflected in the statement that
appears i the Freel: Report, and any nuance of langnage used may have been lost and may affect

accwate interpretation of Curley’s communication.

Hreeh Group decision to include motivations and causal factors. From a review of emails
among the Freeh Group, along with notes in the diary, it appears that the Freeh Group began
considering causal factors — what they referred to as “the WHY™ — afier the investigation was
completed and as they were writing the repart. Their discussions indicate that their investigation
did not reveal clear causal factors, as they argued among themselves about the problems of |
speculating aboui matters where they did not have hard facts. In one email, they discuss the need
for “adding ‘why” language, including Louie’s “the stated reason is ... but the only reasonable
explanation is fear of scandal,”** demonstrating that the search for causal factors amounted to a
fishing expedition. The Group consulted Kelcst, their public relations firm, for guidance: “Kekst
response to what do they think about the issue of having to describe the “why’ in addition to the
‘how?” ‘If we have a factual rather than speculative answer, it would be fine. Ifnot, no.”* In
another exchange, one of the Group asked, “As I reviewed my notes from LIF [Freeh] vesterday
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he talked about a culture where child victims concerns were not a community value. Is that what
you guys heard?” and another investigator disagreed with that idea and responded, “I still

rmaintain that we should not say anyfhing that we can’t support.”>*

In the search for “why?” factors, the Freeh Group exchanged numerous news articles, actively
seeldng support for certain conclusions and highlighting relevant passages. One email exchange
suggested information from a news article to be used “as we continue to beef up the culture
section.”™® Owr review indicates that interest in the “why?” factors, and use of media pieces for
supporting information of those causal factors, appears to have begun or accelerated afier
receiving the email from Task Force Chair Ken Frazier with comments indicating his agreement
with an ESPN writer’s statements that Penn Siate leaders® failure to reporl was due ic a
motivaiion to protect Paterno, the “iconic coach.” (See “Investigative and Reporting Flaws:

Inierference by Penn State Leaders, Example #3: Truslee Ken Frazier, Chair of PSU Board

Special Investigation Task Force.”)

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Spanier, as president of a major University, and Cwiley, athletic director of a large athletics
program, were certainly not novices in regard to handling negative publicity. Freeh investigators
produced no previous history of these adminisirators having buried bad news. Support for
Freeh’s idea that “the only reasonable explanation is fear of scandal” was not provided. That

Freeh would urge his team to identify causal factors that were speculative, and not based on data,

is concerning and possibly indicative of bias.

F.3. Cause: “A striling lack of empathy for child abuse victing”

Sapporiing imformation/imferprefaiions

Supporting information provided in the Freeh Report included: lack of vrgency in responding fo
MeQueary’s report; 3 failure to identify the child who was in the shower with Sandusly;®7

Curley “exposed child to additional haita by alerting Sandusky;***® “no indication that Spanier,
Schullz, Paterno or Curley had discussions abowut any other enforceable actions that could have

been taken to safeguard children.”
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Contrary information/interpretations

The lack of urgency in taking any action to protect the child seen in the shower with Sandusky is

consistent with the belief of Spanier, Schultz, Curley and Patemo that no child abuse had

occurred.

Spanier and Schuliz both explained that they did not believe it was the University’s role to

conduct any kind of investigation into the identity of the child or the swrounding evenis.

Freeh Group notes contain Schuliz’s Grand Jury testimony: “Again, *98 was investigated. There
was an allegation. I have no idea what the conclusion of the investigation was, whether there
was any merit to the allegation or not. 1 did have the impression that it concluded without any
charges being filed. The incident in 2002, again, I recall that it was also tuwned over to that same
agency for investigalion and it’s appropriate for them to do that, not for me to determine the

name of the boy.” (Preliminary Hearing trans. at 216)%/°

From the notes for Spanier’s interview: “Spanier was asked why he did not authorize an
investigation. Spanier said that he never thought of trying to put together the facts, as this wasa

police and Attorney General issue. He said that he felt like he would have been interfering 2"

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

A full and fair analysis indicates that Spanier, Schuliz, Curley and Paterno did not believe that
Sandusky had harmed the child in the shower. Thus, there was no need for urgency or for

actions to protect children.
E.4., Cause: Sandusky’s retirement

Suppertine injermation/internreiations

Supporting information is not provided even within the Freeh Report. In fact, all relevant

informaiion in the Report vnambiguously coniradicts ihe conclusion.
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Contrary information/inierprefations

Freeh Report says Sandusky’s retirement arrangements were not suspicious. Key Findings
from Chapter 3, Sandusky’s Retirement from the University, state, “The Special Investigative

Counsel found no evidence to indicate that Sandusky’s retirement was related to the police

invesiigation of him in 1998.72#

Another Key Finding from Chapter 3 implies that the awarding of emeritus status to Sandusky
was somehow suspicious.®? This does nof reflect the conclusion from Chapter 3: “While the
decision to grant Sandusky emeritus rank was vnusual, the Special Investigative Counsel found
1o evidence to show that the emerinis rank was related to the 1998 events at the Lasch

29244

Building.

Sandusky’s vetirement: Interview data (see Appendix 2.4: Inierview Analysis and
Summary: Was Sandusky given a speeial retirement deal beeause PSU officials knew he
was a pedophile and wanted fo gef rid of him?). Ofthe 42 interviewees who provided
information about Sandusky’s retirement, only 8 provided comments supporting the idea that the
timing of Sandusky’s retirement may have been suspicious; of those §, only 3 were in a position
to have direct lmowledge of this matter, and all said merely that the arrangements were unusual
but had no concrete information fo support that idea. Interviewees who were personally involved
in the retivement arrangements stated that many employees had chosen to take early retirement
due 1o a one-time window providing full benefits and stressed that no pressure was applied to do
anything different for Sandusky. Interviewees noted that emeritus status was awarded to
individuals who had made outstanding contributions, across all facets of the University.
Tterview data revesled no indication that Sandusky’s retivement arrangements were influenced

by a motivation to remove him from the coaching staff due to knowledge that he was mistreating
children.

Documentary information on Sandusky’s retirement. Examination of the Source Materials
produced support for there being no relationship between Sandusky’s retivement arrangements

and the 1998 meident:
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e Sandusky’s retirement was discussed via email amnong Spanier, Schultz, and Curley,
including‘Sandusky’s decision not to accept the offer of becoming assistant Athletic
director and his consideration of retirement the following year; dates of these emails are
BEFORE the 1998 incident occurred, demonsirating that Sandusky’s retirement was not a

consequence of the 1998 incident *+

o A member of the Freeh Group reporied to other investigators via email on his review of
handwritten notes tumed over by the Patemo family. These materials included some |
handwritten notes by Curley. The Freeh investigator summarized his findings: “No

indication there was any problem with Sandusky’s conduct other than foo much time to

d M 224}
278 ile. 7216 F

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The documentary and interview information are consistent {u failing to support the idea that Pern
State officials hastened Sandusky’s retirvement, or improperly allowed hirm to be honored with |
emeritus siatus, on the basis of understanding him io be a child abuser due to their knowledge of

the 1998 investigation. !

Freeh’s decision to include this inflammatory accusation despite acknowledging ~ in the Report I

itself -- the lack of supporting information is a sirong indication of bias.
B.5. Cause: “d culiural reverence for the foortball program”

Supporting information/interprefaticns !

Support in the Freeh Report for this conclusion comes from four sonrces:

e Reports fom interviews with Lasch Building janitors that, after one janitor witnessed an
ncident where Sandusky was enpaged in inappropriate behavior with a child in the
showers, the janitor failed fo report due to fear of losing his job. “The University would
have closed ranks fo protect the football program at all costs. ™7

= Suggesiions that Paterno wielded influence out of proportion with his role as head
football coach: “A senior Penn State official referred to Curley [Paterno’s adminisirative
superior] as Paterno’s errand boy; ** “Wiinesses consistently told the Special
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Investigative Counsel that Paterno was in control of the football facitities and knew

‘everything that was going on.””?*

A total of two incidents where administrators reduced disciplinary sanctions imposed on.

football players by the Student Affairs Office, indicating (according to the Freeh Report)

“an example of Paterno’s excessive influence ai the University, ™
o An observation that the football program did not participate in Clery Act compliance. !

Contrary information/interpretations

Presh Group knew there was no “culiure problem” with Penn State football. Inan email to
his team, Frech stated: “There is a sironger case to be made for ‘protecting the upiversity’ than
JP [Joe Paterno] or the ‘FB [football] program’ — which is never really articulated in any

evidence 1 have seen.”>?

Examination of a report draft revealed important insights into the thinking of the Freeh Group.?>

s A detailed section that did not appear in the {inal report described the football program’s
“Commitment to Complance,” reviewing Paterno’s Grand Experiment and adherence 10
the standard of “success with honor.” Statements from interviewees described
consistently high standards that were expected and enforced. This section concludes,
“There was a strong end consistent message from Coach Joe Paterno and other head
coaches that compliance was as important as winning on the field of play.”

A section with the heading “The Cutture of PSU and the Dominating Influence of its
Afhletic Program” contained the following passage: “There was a culture ... In PS
Adthletic Department that led staff members to fail fo identify or act on observed
inappropriate conduct by Sandusky. When made aware of a violent crime, the AD
leadership focused on damage conirol and more shocking, Sandusky’s welfare vice (sic)
the proper reporting of the crime and victim suppori. There existed an environment
within the athletic department that led an employes to determine that the perceived threat
of losing his job outweighed the necessity of reporting the violent crime of a child.”
Handwrifien notes in the margin adjacent o this section: “NO EVIDENCE AT ALLI”
A section with the heading “Isolation of the Football Program” contained the following

passage: “This isolation led to a department that was not cooperative with those who
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meddled into the fooiball program business ... this seclusion of the football program

created an ‘us against them’ mentality where anyone from outside the football program

could not be trusted. This attitude that the football coaches could police their own and

handle matters externally, and the University’s acquiescence to this independence,
decreased the external oversight from the athletic deparfment and the university
administration.” Handwritten marks on the draft bracketed this passage and underlined
ag above, with a margin note of “BASIS??” apparently noting the lack of supporting

mformation for these assertions.

This draft report shows that (1) the Freeh Group recognized the football program’s historical
commitment to high standards and compliance, but decided to omit this information from the
final report; (2) the Freeh Group could not find facis to support the “flawed football culture™
conclusion, and rernoved the speculative sections from the final report while retaining the
unsupported claim that “a culture of reverence for the football program™* was responsible for
“divectly contribut{ing] to the failure of Penn State’s most powerful leaders to adequately report

and yespond to the actions of a serial sexual predaior.”**

Janitors’ attitudes abont reporting: Inferview data (see Appendix 2.5: Interview Analysis
and Summary: Were janitors fearful io report wrongdoing?). Freeh investigators
wierviewed 8 janitors, three of whom were present the evening that another janitor (who was not
interviewed, bul is referred to as “Janitor A” in the Freeh Report) reportedly observed Sandusky
performing oral sex on a boy in the Lasch Building showers. The janitors present that evening
confirmed that Janitor A described inappropriate conduct between Sandusky and a child and was
upset, and each of the three said they strongly encouraged Janitor A fo report the incident. Of
those three, only one {“Janitor B” in the Freeh Report) expressed concern about possibly losing
his job as a result of reporting to their supervisor. The second janitor (“Janitor C*) present that
evening appeared 1o have been skeptical about the validity of Janitor A’s report, considering the
possibility that Janitor A may have had a drinking problem or was not credible for other reasons;
this information was not included in the Freeh Report. No information from the interview of the
third janitor present that evening was included in the Freeh Report; this janitor firraly asserted
that reporting such an incident would not endanger anyone’s job. Four other members of the

janitorial siaff likewise stated that fear of losing their jobs would not have been a concern if they
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had been faced with this situation. A former Trustee and previous Board Chair explained that

the faihure of Janitor A fo report the Sandusky incident was a result of a flawed culture within

athletics but provided no specific or concrete information.

Interview data did not support the idea that janitors in athletics were fearful to report wrongdoing

out of concern for losing their jobs.

Paterno did not five MeQueary for reporting Sandusky’s inappropriate conduct. If it were
indeed true that the culture surrounding the football program was such that “the University
would have closed ranls to protect the football program at all costs” —a quote from Janitor B
included in the Freeh Repori?s‘ﬁ — why was McQueary not fired by Paterno after he reported
seeing Sandusky in the shower with a child? No information indicaied that McQueary was

pressured, or even requested, to conceal his report about Sandusky.

Coach Paterno’s influence: Interview data (see Appen&ix 2.6 Interview Analysis and
Swmmary: Was Coach Joe Paterno powerful beyond his role as head football conch?). Of
the 64 interviewees who provided information on this topic, 20 suggested that Coach Paterno
was powerful beyond his role as bead football coach. Nearly half of these were current or former
Trustees; their comments were exaggerated, e.g., Paterno was “the most powerful man in
Pennsylvaria,” “a god,” “the ‘king’ in the monarchical culture of intercellegiate athletics.” No
specific concreie examples of such power were provided, in keeping with the fact that Trustees
would not have had direct ongoing contact to make an informed judgment. Few meaningful
examples were provided by any of the interviewees who expressed the cpinion that Paterno was
excessively powerful. In contrast, the numerous individuals (44) who stated that Paterno’s
power did not extend beyond his role as coach tended to be staff and administrators in the
football program and in athletics, and these interviewees described Paterno’s ethical behavior
and adherence to exiernal regulations, his disciplined use of the chain of commeand, and his
deference to the athletic director and the university president. A senior adminisirator in athletics
said, “people are wrong if they believe that Paterno ran the university.” A Trustee and a sepior
University administrator each independently debunked the rumor that Paterno had thrown

Spanier and Curley out of his house when they atlempied to discuss his retirement.
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Interview data indicated that despite a belief among some individuals that Paterno held power in
the University beyond his role as football coach, interviewees in a position to directly observe
Patemo stated that he was a disciplined and effective coach with high standards of personal

ethics who followed the rules and respected the University’s adminisirative hierarchy.

Special treatment for athletes in disciplinary and academic matters: Interview data (see
Appendix 2.7: Interview Amalysis and Swmmary: Do student athletes receive special
treatmeni?). Out of 87 interviewees who spole about this topic — including Penn State and
State College law enforcement personnel, adminisirators in the Student Affairs Office, faculty
having had oversight roles with athletics, athletics employees, and Trustees — 90% provided
credible support showing that student athletes at Penn State have not been given special
ireatment allowing them to escape academic responsibilities or disciplinary consequences for any
misbehavior. Student Affairs Office administraiors said, “the integrity of the Student Affairs
Office is beyond reproach” and at Penn State, “people have been doing the right things for a long
time” by never giving athletes special freatment. A former dean said that during his 50 year
career al Penn Stale he was never aware of any faculiy being asked to give special treatment o
athletes. A faculty member described an athletic culture where sindent athietes and their coaches
ascribed to integrity in achieving academic success. A PSU police officer with 25 vears in his
position said there had never been a pattern of preferential treatment of student athletes and was
not aware of eny interference by administrators into police matters involving athletes. A State
College police oificer said during his 20 years, athletes and coaches had been consistently

helpful with investigations.

Interview data provide compelling support that Penn State sindent athletes are not given

preferential treatment in disciplinary matters or academics.

Football program did not intervene when players broke the law, aceording to State College
law enforcement official. Carmine W. Prestia Jr., who served 25 years with the State College
Police Department, and 15 years as a magisterial disirict judge, wrote an op ed describing his
experience with football players: “Never once in my time as a police officer or judge has anyone
i the football program asked me to cover up anything, wilhdraw a charge, or do something else

umethical. I certainly saw a number of players get in {rouble. Offenses ranged from simple
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summary offenses to felonies of the first degree. ... Never once a request to do anything to cover
up something. In all those years, if Joe was trying to protect his players, covering up for them,
why didn’t [ hear or see anything? Where were these conspiracies? I know that legal problems

pained and embarrassed all of the coaching staff, but the players had to deal with the

consequences on their ovwn. 27

This article appeared during the time frame of the Freeh investigation, when the invesiigators
were energetically reviewing relevant news reporis.

Clery Act compliznce by football program. From ihe Freeh Report: “Like the resi of ihe
University, the football program staff had not been trained in their Clery Act sesponsibilities”?
(emphasis added). This statement alone demonstrates that ihe football program did not stand
apart from the rest of the University in this regard. Because, as noied in the Freeh Report, the
University’s Clery Act policy was still in draft form and had not been implemented as of

November 2011, the football program could not have “opted out” of training in Clery Act

compliance as claimed in the Freeh Report**’

Penn State’s history of integrity with athletics. Since the earliest days of collegiate athletics,
Penn State has been a leader in academic standards for iis student-athletes as well as ethical
behavior on and off the field of play (see Appendix 3.3: Penn State Athlefics and the Cultwe of
Academic Excellence; A Historical Review). There is no indication that Freeh’s mmvestigators
researched Penn State’s history of athietic integrity, which would have been an important context
as they attempted to understand the University’s carrent culture swrounding athletics.

The Freeh Group also appears to have disregarded statements by Interviewees who were
knowledgeable about Penn State’s compliance with internal and external requirements for
athletic integrily, including Spanier’s statement that only Penn Siate and Stanford had never had

2 major NCAA violation, 8!
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SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The Freeh Report misrepresented the information contained in the Source Documents and
cherrypicked information to support the conclusion that Peun State has a “culture of reverence

for the football program.” Instead, the Source Documents support the following:

o Most of the Lasch Building janitors did not believe they would lose their jobs for
reporiing a problematic incident involving Sandusly.

e Individuals in a position to have direct knowledge consistently described Paterno as a
highly effective coach with high standards of personal ethics who followed the rules and
respected the University’s adminisivative hierarchy. The minerity of interviewees who
held the belief that Paterno was ultra-powerful based this on reputational generalizations
and provided no concrete details.

e Interviews with faculty, adminisiraiors in Student Affairs, and canpus and town law
enforcement officials overwhelmingly indicate no special treatment of student athletes
regarding disciplinary matters or academics.

e The Freeh Report itself indicates that the football program did not differ from the rest of

the University in regard to Clery Compliance.

F.6. Summary and final conclusions: Are the major conclusions in the
I'reeh Report supported by the resulis of their investigation?

The Freeh Report claims that “it is more reasonable to conclude” that Spanier, Schultz, Curley,
and Paterno concealed Sandusky’s abuse of children. The “more reasonable to conclude”
standerd requires that the majority of the information supports the conclusion. By that standard,

the major conclusions in the Freeh Report fail.

Our full, fair, and thorough review of all available information obtained through the Freeh
Group’s mvestigation indicaies that it is more reasonable to conclude that Spanier, Schuliz,
Curley, and Paterno believed that Sandusky was engaged in horseplay rather than in any serious
misconduct. They thoughtfully considered the appropriate response and decided to help
Sandusky understand that it was inappropriate for him to shower with children. They instructed

Sandusky, who no longer worked for Perm State, not to bring children to Penn State facilities.
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They also informed the director of Sandusky’s charity - where Sandusky woilced with children --
that they had given him this instruction.

The Freeh Report relies on a damning interpretation of vague emails outlining a plan of action
for responding to Sandusky being observed in Penn State showers with a child. The great
majority of available information supports the competing conclusion that “these men were good

people trying to do their best to make the right decisions:”

A Federal high security clearance investigation of Sp.anier, conducied concurrently
with the Freeh investigation, concluded that Spanier did not conceal information
indicating wrongdoing by Sandusky. The Federal investigation was superior to the
Freeh investigation becanse Curley and Schuliz were interviewed, and Spanier was
interviewed under oath and passed a polygraph.

s Tnterview data indicaied that McQueary was vague when reporiing the shower
incident; that no one reporied having heard from Spanier, Schuliz, Curley or Paterno
about anything more serious than horseplay in the 2001 incident; that the Penn State
community had not heard credible rumors or that anyone had directly observed
concerning behavior by Sandusly. No one suspected Sandusky.

s Interview data strongly supported the integrity and good character of Spanier,

Schuliz, Curiey and Paterno, which is inconsistent with the allegations that they

concealed Sandusky’s misconduct.

No reports were made that Spanier, Schultz, Curley or Paterno ever asked anyone fo

conceal information about Sandusky.

Paterno met his reporting obligations in 2001. His actions were consistent with

NCAA policy implemented in 2014, where a report is made to a superior and there is

to be NO followup by the person reporting.

To support the conclusions, the Freeh Report relied upon selective misrepresentation and

cherrypicking of their own investigative data.

The Fresh Report suggests that Patemo was an ullva-powerful Ggure who could
dictate to his superiors and that Curley was subservient to him — ideas that are
completely opposite of the great majority of findings in the investigative data.
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The Freeh Report states that Schultz concealed documents, but his Grand Juy
testimony made the judge, and Penn State general counsel Cynthia Baldwin, aware
that those documents could be in his office, and Schultz never destroyed them even
though he had the opporfunity.

The Freeh Report notes multiple failures to inform relevant parties about Sandusky as
indication of concealment — a point that is moot if, in fact, the officials believed no
misconduct occurred,

The Freeh Report contends that the 1998 incident — where Sandusky was thoroughly
investigated by law enforcement and child services, and no charges were made —
should have resulied in Penn State officials concluding Sandusky was a pedeophile.
There is no consideration of the likely possibility that this incident might suggest that

Sandusky had been cleared of wrongdoing.

With suspect support for the major conclusions, The Freeh Report atiempted {o sivengthen its

case by providing motivations and causes, each supporied by cherrypicked data:

&

The Freeh Report states that Spanier, Schuliz, Curley, and Paterno were motivated io
conceal Sandusky’s abuse of children out of a desire to avoid bad publicity, an
assertion that is only weakly supported by selective interpretation of statemenis by
Spanier and Curley.

The Freeh Report contradicts itself by malking inflammatory statements about
Sandusky’s retivement when the Report itself states that there was nothing suspicious
about Sanduslcy’s refirement arrengements — an indisputable indication of bias. |

The Freeh Report describes “a striking lack of empathy™ for the child in the shower in
2001 — inflammatory language and a moot point if, in fact, Penn State officials
believed the child was unharmed by horseplay.

The Frech Report claims a major causal factor was a “culiural reverence for fooiball,”
something that is not remotely supporied by the investigative data, and that Freeh and

his investigators privately acknowledged was unfue.
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Our full, fair, and thorough review of the source documents indicates that Sandusky may have

been a “pillar of the community” pedophile (see Appendix 3.4: “Pillar of the Community”
Pedophiles):

»  Sandusky was a prominent 'ﬁgm'a in the community who was admired for his

devotion to children, as a foster and adoptive parent, and as the founder of a chaity

for children atzisk.

Sandusky’s attentions to children were understood by members of the community as

examples of his selfless devotion to the welfare of children.

Sandusky was deseribed as a “gootball” and a big kid who was socially awlkward, had

“boundary issues,” and preferred the company of children.

s The Frech Group was trained by a leading FBI profiler of sexual abusers, and
therefore had all necessary information to come to this conclusion as abundantly

supported by their own investigative data.

The Freeh Report assigas nefarious reasons for the faitures of Penn State officials and the
community to identify Sandusky as a pedophile. Our full, fair, and thorough review of
investigative material indicates that 2 more accurate interpretation is that Sandusky, like all pillar

of the community offenders, fooled the enfire community.

o Research on social judgment — which the Freeh Group should have considered —
indicates that humans cling to their initial impressions of others and interpret
discrepant information in ways to be consistent with those initial impressions (see
Appendix 3.5: Psychological Science on Social Judgment). Interview data show that
many ndividuals discounted or disregarded any doubts about Sandusky, and that
even after he was charged with abuse, they had difficulty believing he was a
pedophile.

o  Sandusky was repeatedly evealuated by child welfare professionals as a foster and

adoptive parent. These professionals failed to identify any concerning behavior.

An in-depth evaluation of the 1998 incident by a trained mental health professional

concluded that Sandusky had not engaged in grooming or other bebavior consistent

with abuse.

67
CONFIDENTIAL




e At the time of the 2001 incident, Sendusky was retired from Penn State and was
working for his charity, The Second Mile. The CEQ of the charity, Jack Raykovitz,
was a licensed psychologist and a mandated reporter. There is no indication that
Raykoviiz had observed any misconduct between Sandusky and the charity’s chiid
clients.

o The Freeh investigators failed to consider this quesiion: If professionals were unable
to determine that Sandusky was a pedophile, how could University adminisirators be

expected to do betier?

By advancing a sensationalistic navative, the Freeh Report neglected to address the true
problem: that Sandusky’s public profile as an individual with a pational repuiation for service to
children made it ditficuli for members of the Penn State community to recognize that Sanduslky
was a pedophile. In sc doing, the Freeh Report vnfairly and vntrathfully scapegoated individuals
with long records of distinguished service to the University, and unjustifiably atiacked the

culture of an institution with a proud history of high standards for achievement and ethics.

G. Why Would This Report be so Deficient? Sources of Bias

1. Investigator bias from the ouiset of the investigation

An article published by the American Bar Associaiion cauiions against bias in assuming, in

investigations of sexual misconduct, that college administrators have acted to protect the

institution. An excerpt:

Perhaps the biggest challenge for colleges and universities is
overcoming the perception of bias, the idea that if
adminisirators make a mistake, they do so to protect the
institution. If the instituiional failure results in harm o a
complainant or respondent, discemning the nature of the
failure is ofien a distinction without a difference. (A word of
caufion, here, however: in tzking steps io improve campus
practices and remedy past harms, we should take the time to
understand most  administrators” good inientions and
common reasons for failing to respond properly, including
insufficient training, incompetence of ome or more
individuals in the system, human error, and lack of
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coordination. Inthe current climate, few recognize that most
college and university administrators genuinely want to work
collaboratively to educate and transform cuurent practices.y**

Kathleen McChesney was hired by Freeh as co-leader of the invesiigative team because of her
expertise in child sexual abuse in the Catholic Church; she was formerly the Executive Director
of the Office of Child and Youth Protection of the U.S. Catholic Bishops Conference, and co-
editor of “Sexual Abuse in the Catholic Church: A Decade of Crisis, 2002-2012.” She offered
her services to Freeh in an email, saying, “Louie: Just wanted to reach out in the event that any
of my experiences at the Catholic Bishops Conference would be of use to your team. Good luck
with the investigation. Too many sad parallels between this case and the Church.”2% A
member of the Freeh Group reported on her meeting with McChesney, saying, “I think she will
be very helpful. She does not have much Clery Act experience but she does have experience
changing aititudes in the church which has an insularity similar to what we are seeing.”?% Iiis
important to note that before the investigation had begun, Freeh investigalors were maling

assumptions about an insular culture at Perm State and making connections with the Catholic

Church coverups of pedophile priests.

Notes in the Freeh Group diary reflect an early interest in identifying problems with Penn State’s
culiure; in December of 2012, two separate entries outline plans to “focus culfural issues — PSU
engaged at highest levels w/ sports” and “Focus on Praciice, Procedure, Culture. 26

Comments were made in the diary after reviewing interview matezial from a member of the
football program staff who said that Sandusky was often observed showering with children and
people casually handed him towels. Notes in the diary: “No one hied to stop it; sick culture and
weird cutiure. 2% Investigator bias interfered with a possible inierpretation that numerous
people had seen Sandusky in showers with children zmd never observed any problermatic
behavior that would lead to concem. In an early report drafl, there was a passage about failure to
respond to Sandusky showering with kids; a handwritten margin note asles, “How is this

abuge?”267

A diary entry records a briefing of the Penn State Board’s Task Force, indicating an apologetic

attitude for not having found evidence of  coverup: “No allegations of CSA. [child sexual
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abuse]. No smoking gun to indicate coverup. Enough into details & haven®t found that, but still
could find something.”*®® Surely fhis statement would not be made by investigators committed

to neutrality in conducting their investigation.

During the writing of the Freeh Report, the investigators discussed how to frame the findings in
their Report. McChesney emailed to another investigator a link to an op ed fitled, “A Priest’s
View of Penn State,” which begins with the statement: “The terrible parallels between the
horrific sexual abuse cases at Penn State and those in the Catholic Church are by now well
known,” and continues to describe similarities between the two institutions. MecChesney
commented, “FYT — as discussed in Wilmington,” referring to a recent meeting of the Freeh
Group, and the other investigator replied, “Really interesting. T saw many things we just said

around the table refleciad in this arficle. %

In summary, our document review revealed nurnerous indications that the Freeh Group lacked
neutrality from the very beginning of their investigation, as they expected to find indications of
culiural deficiencies at Penn State that had led to covering up for a pedophile, consistent with the

situation in the Catholic Church.
(2. Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General

The OAG vigorously pursued the prosecution of Sandusky. Grand Jury presentments are
undersicod to be one-sided representations of the prosecution’s case and thus are inherently
biased. The Sandusky presentment played a significant role in shaping the narrative around Penn
otate officials’ response to allegations against Sandusicy. The Presentment unfairly mentions
Paterno despite not charging him with & crime, making him appear to bé guilty, and making the
scenario focused more on Penn State than on The Second Mile or on child protective services;
inaccurate porfrayal of the timeline of Sandusky’s then alleged victimization of various children,
creating the mistalren irnpression that muliiple children were abused afier the 2001 shower
incident; claiming that McQueary stated he witnessed anal rape, despite his atterapts to correct
that staternent; misleading statements about witness credibility (see Appendix 3.6: Factual
Erors m Sandusky Grand Jury Presentment). Freeh investigators nnquestioningly accepted the
statements in the presentment despite having access to transcripts of witness testimony, some of
which differed from the presentment in important respecis.
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The efforts of Fina and other OAG prosecutors to steer the Freeh investigation are described n
our report section “E.2. Independence of the mvestigation: COMPROMISED,” where we detail
repeated contacts between OAG prosecutors and Freeh investigators, including numerous
incidents where information may have been improperly shared by prosecutors. The pattern of
these communications sirongly suggests an effort by prosecutors to influence the direction of the
Freeh investigation to mirror the prosecution’s case, and a willingness by Freeh investigators o

work closely with the OAG in a way thai arguably compromised the independence of their

investigation.

It is worth noting that the PA Office of Disciplinary Counsel has lodged a petition for discipline
against Fina for improper questioning of Baldwin; Baldwin’s testimony was used to support
charges of conspiracy to commit pexjury and conspiracy to commit obsiruction against Spanier,
Sehultz, and Cuwley, but the perjury charges were later dropped when a judge comyplained tha

Fina had misled him and had improperly questioned Baldwin.?”

The OAGs efforts to malke their case in Sandusky’s prosecution appear o have profoundly

infiuenced Freeh’s investigation and Report.
G.3. NCAA conflict of interest: “Image-conscious”

Documents released from the discovery process in the Corman lawsuit against the NCAA
revealed that NCAA officials believed that the organization had no jurisdiction over the Penn
State-Sandusky matter, but that they were motivated to sanction Penn State in order to enhance

the NCAA’s reputation (see Appendix 3.7: NCAA, Frech worked together).
Fxcerpts from an ESPN article®” show the motivations of NCAA. leaders:

Last weelk, emails made public in the Corman lawsuit showed
that NCAA officials had questioned their own authorily to
sapction Penn State and that enforcement officials were
hopeful that the tniversity would be “so embarrassed they will
do anyihing” when Frickson signed a consent decree accepting
historic sanctions in July 2012,

“We could try to assert jurisdiction on this issue and may be
suceesshil but it’d be a siretch,” wrote Roe Lach, the former
NCAA Vice President of Enforcement, in an email on July 14,
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just nine days before Emmert announced the sanctions against
Penn State. “I characterized our approach to PSU as a bluff
when talking to Mark [Emmert] yesterday afternoon after the
call. He basically agreed b/c if we make this an enforcement
issue, we may win the immediate batile but lose the war when
the COI [NCAA Commitice on Infractions] has to rule.”

The emails released last week also show that the NCAA did
not believe it had the jurisdiction to act against Penn State. T
know we are banlking on the fact the school is so embairassed
they will do auything, but I am not sure about that, and no
confidence conference or other members will agree to that,”
NCAA vice president of academic and membership affairs
Kevin Lennon wrote on July 14, 2012. “This will force the
Jurisdictional issue that we really don’t have a great answer to
that one.” ...

InaJuly 4, 2012, story in the Centre Daily Times, Gene Marsh,
who was hired by Penn Stale fo deal with the sanctions issue,
was quoted as saying that the NCAA punishing Penn State
after the conviction of Sandusky and millions in civil
setilements would be “lilce shooting road Idill.”

Shep Cooper, an administrator for the NCAA’s Commitiee on
Infractions, wrole an email aboul those comments io Marsh.
“For what it’s worth, I agree,” Cooper wrote. “However, the
new NCAA leadership is extremnely image-conscions and if
they conclude that pursuing allegations against PSU would
enhance the association’s standing with the public, then an
infractions case would follow. I know that Mark Emment has
made statements to the press indicating that he thinks it could
fall into some sort of LOIC [loss of institutional confrol] case.”
Cooper ended the email: “*Shooting road kill’ is en apt
analogy.”

These documents establish that (1) the NCAA leadership did not think they had jurisdiction fo
sanction Penn State; (2) the NCAA leadership decided to proceed anyway, hoping that Penn
State would acquiesce; (3) the NCAA leadership was motivaied to use the Penn State situation to
enhance the organization’s reputation; (4) Mark Emmert made statements to the press that the
Penn State situation involved loss of instifiriional control — the only avenue available for the
NCAA to have jurisdiction in what was otherwise a criminal matter not subject to NCAA

oversight.
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G.4. Freeh’s conflict of interest: Wanting to be NCAA’s “go o
investigators”

Freeh’s Group began speculating in January of 2010 about ways to get business from the
NCAAZ? An email sent by Freeh fo his associates said, “You may have seen comments by the
oncomming NCAA. President that he intends to increase enforcement actions by adding new
mvestigative resources... It is an ideal time to lannch a targeted BD [Business Developrent
Plan] in this space.?” Freeh and his group worked energetically in 2010 to create a business
model offering their services for “athletic compliance and investigations,” noting that their feam
inchided “NCAA compliance subject maiter experts.”?™ Documents outlining their services offer
a view into their early perspectives on their investigative approach, including a focus on
assessing “the student-athlete culture™’ and a comment about “typical corruption issues which
fall into our sweet-spot.”?® Throughout much of 2010, Freeh and his group conducted an
investigation at the University of Southern California, which was sanctioned by the NCAA for
lack of institutional control:2”7 Freeh suggested to his team that they use the USC investigation
as a “test run” in order to develop a “more mature template” to be used in firiure jobs.*”

A year later —just months before Freeh was hired by Penn State -- a member of the group
emailed others, quoting a newspaper article about Univessity of Miami’s NCAA violations,
which suggested that the NCAA might do well to use some of the “millions™ it reaps from
foothall and basketball chamupionships “to fund an independent investigative arm.” He adds, “I

showed it to Louie and he mentioned that we would be perfect” for that.?”” Freeh then suggested

working immediately to “dsvelop a sales/marketing plan. % A few days later, one investigator

emailed others a news article suggesting that the NCAA did not have enough investigators, and
said, “I forward it to you with the hope that it can be of assistance to our marketing efforts, 2!
Another email foliowed two weelss later, informing the group of an upcoming conversation
scheduled with Mark Emmert, president of the NCAA, o inquire about his interest in using the
TFreeh Group’s investigative services.?™

Pursuit of the NCAA did not halt during Freeh’s investigation at Penn State. In February of
2012, one of Freeh’s associates who was wotking on the Penn State mvestigation contacted Julie

Roe Lach, Vice President for Enforcement at NCAA, to offer the Freeh Group’s services as
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independent investigators, adding that “the PSU case is going well.”*** Lach responded that they
were beginning fo consider the use of outside firms for investigation, and said she would add the
Freeh Group io their Hst.** Lach subsequently sent an email to an NCAA colleague with the

instructions, “Please add the Freeh Group to our contractor list. 2%

Shortly after the Freeh Report was released, and two days before the Consent Decree was signed,
Donald Remy, NCAA General Counsel, contacted the Freeh Group to brief them on the
sanctions to be mmposed on Penn State, and the group discussed their desire o become the
NCAA’s “go to investigators” in a series of emails. One of the group said, “This has opened up
an opportunity io have the dialogue with Emmert about possibly being the go 1o external
investigator for the NCAA. It appears we have Emmert’s attention now.”?* Freeh responded,
“Let’s try to meet with him and malze a deal ~ a very good cost contract {o be the NCAA’s *go to
mvestigators’ — we can even crafi a big discounted rate given the unigue importance of such a

client. Most likely he will agree o a meeting ~ if he does not ask for one first. 287

It is & clear conflict of interest that the Freeh Group was soliciting work from the NCAA while

simultaneously conducting an investigation where resulis were to be shared with the NCAA.

G.5. Reliance on sources with poor credibility

Cyuthia Baldwin. The Freeh Report made extensive use of Baldwin as a source; 20% of
citations of interviews were atiributed to her. Freeh investigators relied heavily on Baldwin even
though they were aware that she had mishandled her role in attending Grand Jury proceedings on
behalf of the University and had interfered with Spanier’s attempts to inform the Board about the
Grand Jury (see our report section “F.1. Spanier, Schultz, Paterno and Cuiley repeatedly
concealed critical facts relating to Sandusly’s child abuse: *From the University s Board of
Trustees:” Contrary information/interpretaiions™). Further, the Freeh Group was aware that OAG
prosecuior Fina believed Baldwin had “interfered with the investigation™® and that Fina was
pressuring her with the threat of arrest (see our report section “E.2. Independence of the
Investigation: COMPROMISED”). The Freeh Group themselves encountered early difficulties
in gaining Baldwin’s assistance in producing materials for their investigation.”®® In the face of
all these indications that reduced Baldwin’s credibility, why did the Freeh Group nevertheless
rely substantially on her?
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It is worth noting that Baldwin’s missteps were sufficiently serious that she has been recently

accused by the state Office of Disoiplinary Counsel of violating severel of the Rules of

Professional Conduct for lawyers.?

Vicky Triponey. Triponey, who served as Penn State’s Vice President of Student Affairs fiom
2003 to 2007, found her 15 minutes of fame by gramting an interview where she was hailed as
“The Worman Who Stood up to Joe Paterno.”?! Reswfacing 5 years after leaving Penn State |
under duress, and reportedly eaming $10,000 for her interview,”* Triponey found eager

acceptance from the media when she detailed her criticisms of Paterno in the wake of the
Sandusky scandal.

Triponey’s time at Penn State was characierized by intense conflict with students, who reviled
her for bulldozing iheir student government and replacing it with a pallid governance structure
having little in the way of meaningfil autonomy (see Appendix 3.8: Vicky Triponey: Biased
Source). A student activist website called Safeguard Old Siate was created, where the “Triponey
Timeline of Terror” recounted her assanit on free expression by imposing censorship on the
student radio station, along with other actions to diminish student influence.*”

Tnterview data from the Freeh investigation indicate strong consensus from administrators and
Trustees that Triponey was unprofessional, combative, and had an axe to grind with regard to
athletics, especially football (see Appendix 2.8: Interview Analysis and Summary: Vicky

Triponey). One interviewee stated that Triponey “was the only person he could recall that made

the University better by leaving.”**

Triponey contacted the Preeh Group early in the investigation to offer her perspectives. The
ivestigators regarded her as “key” to interview.”” However, after the unambiguous message
Fom interviewees that Triponey was not credible, investigators acknowledged thai they did "not
want to reference Triponey in any way (given her issues)” and began fo search for other sources
to support Triponey’s claims that Paterno overrode Spanier’s authority by insisting on special
reatment for football players facing disciplinary actions — as the investigators put it, “to
strengthen our discussion about culiure/the “why.”” 296 One report draft showed that maierial
previously attributed to Triponey was subsequently cited as coming from a current Trustes who

was a former foothall player and who had pushed Spanier to force Paterno to retive 27 298
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The Freeh Group’s disdain for Triponey was most evident after she sent a gushing email
effusively congratulating the team the day the Freeh Report was released; cne of the

investigators responded to the team, “Suckup. But 1 already knew that, ">

The Freeh investigators perpetuated Triponey’s biased story about Paterno’s excessive influence
in protecting football players despite full recognition that their only source for this information
was not credible. In their need to “beef up the culture section™% they knowingly disregarded the
mejority of thewr investigative data showing that Paterno did not wield improper influence and
that football players did not receive special treatment in disciplinary matters (see our report

seciton “I7.A. Cause: ‘A culiural reverence for the football program”™.
J progi

Penn State feaders. The Freeh Report relied extensively on information from Trustees and
senior administraiors, who collectively accounted for 40% of the citations referencing interview
data (30% trustees, 10% adminisirators). Those in the highest leadership positions in the
university wounld have had the least direct contact with many matiers under investigation. This is
particularly true for Trustees, who have no role in institutional operations and meet to conduct
business only a few times a year. Given the indications that Penn State leaders appeared o have
interfered with the independence of the investigation (see ow report section “E.2. Independence
of the Investigation: COMPROMISED™), the heavy use of this group as sources in the Freeh
Report potentially miroduces bias,

G.6. Freeh Group’s media sensitivity

Focus on press notfices about Freeh. The Freeh Group closely followed press reports on
Freeh’s work as an independent investigator. In one example, the group shared an article from
The Chronicle of Higher Educarion profiling Freel’s work at the University of Southern
Califorpia: “What's the best way to clean up a mess in college sports? Why, hire the former
head of the FREI, of course.™0! The investigator who circulated the article noted “free
publicity!™% Freeh replied, “Thanks —a lot of media play for us it seems. I take it we’re
collecting this.*® In another exchange during the Penn State investigation, Freeh expresses
concern about getting “scooped” if their group was not first to find relevant information 3 This
interest in getiing good press may have influenced the Freeh Group in their decisions about
investigative sivategy or interpretation of the evidence.
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Freeh Group’s uneritical use of media. From the very start of the investigation, investigators
in the Fresh Group exchanged and discussed media reports about Sandusky. When the group
was working on writing fheir Report, the focus on media pieces intensified. Passages from
articles were highlighted and decisions were frequenily made to include reporters’ ideas in the
Freeh Report. Often, the team appeared to be looking for direction, and at other times,
confirmation of their own ideas. The Freeh Group appears to have been willingly led by the

ongoing sensationalistic media natrative.

One prominent story line in media pieces involved the notion that Paterno was more poweriul
then the Universiiy President, and used his influence to prevent football players from facing
student judicial processes. The Freeh Group circulated several articles on this subject and were
quite clearly motivated to direct their conclusions {o be congistent. One article quoted a spozts
law expert who said none of the events surrounding Sandusky fell under NCAA jurisdiction, but
siated that the Freeh Report would likely identify instances of preferential treatment to aihletes,
which could indicate lack of institutional conirol and thereby constituie an NCAA rules
violation. One of the investigaiors commented, “Mote the statement that says thers is an
expectation that the Freeh Report will find evidence of favorable treatment for siudent athletes in
the school judicial process. Yet another sign that we need to say someihing about the Meridien

incident (but not Triponey). =%

The Meridien incident involved misconduct of football players in 2007 which produced a
conflict between Triponey and Paterno regarding the appropriate disciplinary process to be used.
Tt is notable that the Freeh Group had previously “concluded that this incident was not relevant to
our foous,”3% but upon reading a media arlicle showing “expectations” that the Freeh Report
would discover evidence showing preferential treatment of athletes, they decided to find a way 1o
include information of questionable relevance provided by a soures of questionable credibility.

A reference to this incident is found as a footnote in the Freek Report in a section about the
janitors; the footnote begins, “Some individuals interviewed identified the handling of a student
disciplinary matter in 2007 as an example of Paterno’s excessive nfluence at the University.”*"
Information in this foomote is conveyed without context from interviews, and the incident iiself
is an anomaly within the broader information gathered that shows overwhelmingly that football
players did not get preferential treatment in disciplinary matters znd that Paterno did not have
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excessive influence at the University (see our zeport section “F.5. Cause: ‘4 cultural reverence

Jor the football program.”).

Cyafting the report: Need to “add moxe punch.” Towards the end of the report wiiting
process, Freeh encouraged the group to intensify the language used in conclusions. One
invesiigator reviewed their timeline and said, “That should be enough to tale a good pass at
malcing it more forcefil, as we have discussed — especially the Executive Summary. Ido think
that may address [Freeh’s} view about some of it reading like a ‘high school term paper” — which
again I think is a way of stating that we have the facts without enough strong conclusions.”® In
a Jater communication, another investigator forwarded a draft and said, “I may stll have fo add
more punch.”*% At this stage, report drafis did not include mention of cultural reverence for the
football program in the list of failures responsible for Sandusley’s actions. A. few days afier the
“more forcefnl” and “add more punch” emails, the highly inflarmmatory — and blatantly wnaue -
reference to Sandusky’s retirement was added 1o the list of “failures” and remained in the
report’s final version, despite acknowledgement within the report itself that there was nothing
suspicious about Sandusky’s retivement (see our report seciion “F.4. Cause: Sandusky’s
retizement”). The express interest in producing media sound bites is reflected in the direction of
the report writing, and especially in the press conference when the Report was released (see our

report section “E.3. Report Release™).
G.7. Governor Corbett’s conflict of interest: “Thumb on the scale”

Corbett was enormously influential in the Penn State Board’s handling of the Sandusky matter.

As govemnor, Corbett was an ex officio voting member of the Penn State Board of Trustees. The
governor appoints 6 members of the Board. Three members of the governor’s cabinet are also
voting members of the Board. Together, the governor, aleng with Trustees appointed by the

gavernor, comprised 10 of the 32 voting members of the Board in 2011 and 2012310

Traditionally, the Pennsylvania governor did not aitend Penn State Board meetings. It was
therefore a surprise to Trustees and to Penn State adminisirators when Corbett actively involved

himself in Board affairs following the release of the Grand Jury presentment.31! 312
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Coxbett was Attorney Geneval when Sandusky investigation began. Corbett was
Pennsylvania’s Attorney General in 2009, at the time when an nvestigation was initiated info
sllegations of sexual abuse by Sandusky. He came under crificism when, as a Trustee, he did not
inform the Board about the possible pending charges against Sandusky -- something that legal
experts said he could have done and that his fiduciary duty as a Trusiee required®’? (see our
report section “F.1. “Spanier, Schullz, Paterno and Curley repeatedly concealed critical jacts

relating ro Sandusly’s child abuse: From the Universiiy’s Board of Trusiees:” Conirary
information/interpretations.”)

Coxrbett controlled the hiving of Freeh. Corbett took an active role in the selection of the
independent investigator. Corbeit’s general counsel provided a rank-ordered list of 3 candidates
to Secretary of Education Ronald Tomalis, an ex officio Trustee who served as the Co-Chair of
the PSU Boaxd’s Special Invesiigative Task Force;?™ Freeh was second on the list. When Freeh
was chosen by Frazier and Tomalis, Corbeti’s approval was soliciied and conveyed fo
Tomalis3' (At that time, Tomalis voiced io Frazier his reservations about Freeh’s connection
with the legal firm Pepper Hamilion: “Among some other things some members of firm are
politically active in PA, but that can be addresced.”% Qur document review did not produce any
indications that this potential conflict of interest was addressed in any way.) Why did the Board
defer to the governor’s wishes when selecting their independent investigator? Why did the

governor insert himself into this decision?

Corbett’s role in Board deliberations about Spanier and Paterno: “A political hit job.” A
New Vork Times article in November of 2011 described the surprising involvement of the
Pennsylvania governor in the Board’s decisions to dismiss Spanier and Paterno: “At an
emergency meeting on Wednesday night, the Board removed both the university

President, Graham B. Spanier, and Joe Paterno, the football coach. ... [Trustees] conceded,
without being specific, that the Board had received some unsolicited encouragement about what

action 1o fake. ... It was indicative of him putting a thumb on the scale,” said a person with

divect Jmowledge of the govemor’s deliberations.”!?

An ESPN article™® reported that Corbett actively lobbied for the removal of Spanier and Paterno,

and quoted a fiiend of Corbeit’s who asked the governor, “Who told the Board to fire Joe and
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fire Spanier?” and received the reply, “I told them to do it,” adding, “[Corbeit] was proud of it.”
“Throughout this whole process, I felt he had some ulterior motive,” a Trustee says of Corbett.
‘Most Trustees felt uncomfortable with his role. It was odd for him to be there and participate
the way he did. Very odd.”” The article reviewed “the untold story ... about bare-kmuckle
Pennsylvania politics, old grudges and perceived slights” that accounted for Corbett’s
motivations. Reportedly, Corbeit held animosity towards Spanier, who prevailed in restoring
funding to Penn State after the governor enacied a massive budget cut, and towards Paterno, who
declined to endorse Corbett when he ran for governor due to a wish to avoid the conflict of
interest that would result from the governor’s ex officio seat on the Penn State Board. The day
after the decisions were made to remove Spanier and Paterno, Corbett was seen at a resiaurant
celebrating: “THe was just effusive. It was like a victory celebration. I remember thinking at the

time that it just seemed a strange thing, a kind of gratuitous political piling on.”

John Snedden, the federal invesiigator responsible for the renewal of Spanier’s high security
clearance, put it bluntly. “Instead of finding a sex scandal or a cover-up in the cold case he was
investigating in Happy Velley, Snedden said he discovered ample evidence of a “political hit
job.” ... When the Penn State scandal hif, ‘It was a convenient disaster,” Snedden said, Because

it gave the governor a chance ‘to fulfill vendeitas.”>

Iterview notes for Trusiees who were present for these meetings are consistent with the news
reports. A former Board Chair was “appalled at the behavior of the governor” who “urged the
Board to act because ‘my repuiation is at stake.”* A Trustee who was subsequently elected
Board Chair said that during the meeting “Governor Corbett was very vocal ... and [interviewee)]

had the impression he was leading the meeting, Corbett endorsed the dismissals of Spanier and

Paterno.” Another Trustee who later became Chair of the Board said that Board Chair Garban

was “out of his element and intimidated by the governor.”32? Frazier, Chair of the Task Force,
said the governor iold the Board to “think of the kids” and threaiened loss of support in
Hearzisburg “if you don’t do the right thing” and characierized the decisions as “more PR than,
legal.™# Trusiees were aware of the governor’s feud with Spanier; one longtime Trustee said,
“Corbeit is no fan of Graham Spanier as a result of last year’s budget fight ' Anather Trustee

was told by Secretary of Education Tomalis that Spanier would soon be fired; she had been -
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aware of the conflict between Corbett and Spanier but was nonetheless surprised at the level of

“yindictiveness” from Harrisburg.*

The Freeh Report misrepresents ihe consistent and credible comments from Trustees about
Corbeit’s active role in Board discussions, suggesting that Trustees had “differing recoilections”
about Corbett’s actions. > Tt is telling that an earlier draft of the report provided a more accurate
account of interview data in describing Corbett as taling an active position in advocating for
decisive action,® indicating that the Freeh Group made a decision to downplay Corbeft’s

influence on the Board when Spanier and Paterno were removed.

Sammary and conclusions. Frech was hired, in part, due to the influence of Governor Corbet,
who helped create a crisis at Penn State by withholding information about Sanduslky’s criminal
investigation, and who engineered the removal of Spanier and Patemno by threatening loss of
state fumding to the University. The Board’s actions created a public impression that Spanier and
Paterno were guilty, and the Freeh Report zeinforced that narrafive through seleciively

misrepresenting information from the investigation.

C.8. Penn State Board Vice Chair John Surma’s conflict of interest:
Motivated by revenge?

A series of emails obtained through our search of the source documents revealed that John
Surma’s brother, Vie Surma, held a longstanding grudge agamnst Paterno due to Vic’s belief that

Paternc mistreated Vic’s son while he was a football player.

In 2007, & Letterman (Former Penn State football player) emailed 2 member of the football staff,
describing Vic Surma’s email sent to all former football players with harsh criticisms of Paterno:
“Ife vefers to Joe as Rat. Ti was really ugly. I wrote him a personal note asking him to stop, and
he came back with more personal attacks. ... Not sure what his problem is, but he is angry man
and looks like he is out to get ‘revenge’ on Joe, the staff, the program. ™
Following Sandusky’s arrest, Vic emailed a Penn State football coach, saying: “I was always
proud o have been a PSU fooiball player. Not anymore. The old man’s 40 year reign of
hypocracy has finally caught up with him... You know as well as [ how many young guys he
ruined for the pupose of promoting his own self interests ... I spoke fo my brother today and he
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is sickened by this also & said that the Trustees are meeting very soon. He is not permitted to
tell me anything — yet. I got the distinet impression though that the Paterno virus has run it’s
course in Central Pa.”*?® A few days later, Vic wrote to the same coach: “You know him
(Paterno) much better than I ever could, and my vitriol foward him is all because of the way he
treated my son, nothing more.” He added (referring to his brother John Surma), “Tonight, seeing

him sitting in judgement of Joe was the uliimate irony.”?

Information provided by Task Force Chair Ken Frazier indicates that Surma was a powerful
influence in the Board’s decision maling in the aftermatl: of Sendusky’s arvest.! Frazier said
that Surma steered the Board’s discussion to “who are we going io blame?” and said that no
time was provided for debate, as Surma was a “non-nuanced thinker” who “forced his opinion on
the Board by stating things should be done his way or he was going to leave.” Frazier described
Surma as a bully and said that many Trustees were “cowered” by Surma’s forceful approach and
went along with him. Frazier said that “Surma and Corbeit had a private discussion and Surma
then stated that the Board needed fo take decisive action or risk losing the Governor’s support in
Harrisburg. ... Swrma then asked if there were any objections {o relieving Spanier and Paterno of

their duties” and no one objected.

The Board’s dismissal of Spanjer and Paterno supporied the idea that Penn State officials were
guilty in the Sandusky matter. Rather than insisting on due process, the Board rushed to a
decision before they had full information. Having taken this precipitous action, the Board had

reason to continue to support the guitty narrative as the investigation was conducted.

G.9. Change in reporting strategy: Deleting information from Freeh
Group’s investigation of The Second Mile

Our review of the Source Materials produced a 12-page document outlining a plan for
mvestigating the role of Sandusky’s charity, The Second Mile, in Sendusky’s abuse of
children.* The plan included a table showing 41 individuals having affiliations with both The
Second Mile and Penn State {(many of these were current or former PSU Trusiees), and
describing the close conmecticn between the two organizations. It is unclear to what extent the
investigative plan wes completed. However, a draft of the Freeh Report included material that

was subsequently deleted from the final report.’® Excerpts of material that was removed:
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“Qince ite founding, TSM has been closely intertwined with the University. In 2011,

more than % of TSM Board were University alumni.”

“In addition, ties between several well-respected and influential members of the

Univeisity’s Board of Trustees and TSM is well documented.”

ks

“Some TSM Board members were awarded lucrative contracts frorn the University.

This passage goes on to detail the multi-million dollar consiruction projects received

by specific TSM Directors.

This information indicates possible conflicts of inferest that may have affecied some Penn Staie
Trustees and their close associates, raising the question of whether a decision was made fo

remove scrutiny from The Second Mile and focus it exclusively on Penn State.

.10, Conclusions

The Freeh Group entered info the investigation with expectations about finding evidence ofa
coverup, due to a flawed and insular culture, stmilar to the pedophile scandal in the Catholic
Church.

The Freeh Group was sensitive to their own press due to inferests in marketing their services.
They shaped their Report fo be consistent with media narratives and added inflaramatory
langnage when writing conclusions to gain more press coverage.

OAG prosecutors had an interest in Freeh’s investigation being consistent with the case they
were developing against Sandusky. Corbett arranged for prosecutors to shave mformation
with Freeh. Freeh did not want to be “scooped” by law enforcement and willingly took
direction from prosecutors.

The NCAA knew it did not have jurisdiction because Sandusly’s prosecufion was a criminal
matter. Nevertheless, they decided to pursue sanctions against Penn State in order to enhance
their organization’s repuiation. The only avenue for the NCAA to take action was “loss of
institufional control.” Freeh wanted to become the “go to investigator” for the NCAA and

therefore had motivation fo accommodate their needs.
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Freeh used sources with low credibility and cherrypicked information in 'oz'der to support
certain conclusions in the Report, especially those relating to a flawed football culture, which
constituted loss of institutional control for the purposes of NCAA sanctions.

Penn State Trustees and administrators were overrepresenied as sources for the Freeh Report,
and had opporfunities to influence the shaping of the Report throughout the investigation.
Governor Corbett and Penn State Board Vice Chair John Surma wielded enormous influence
over the Board; each had reasons to perpetuate a narrative where Spanier and Paterno were
blamed and both aggressively pursued the removal of Spanier and Paterno. Freeh was
supportive of Corbeit for helping him to get the job at Pean Siate and thus had motivation to
support the govemor’s actions by crafiing a report finding Spanier and Paterno at fanlt.

The coniflict of interest represented by the associations of many Trustees with The Second
Mile may have motivaied Trustees to encourage Freeh to deleie their invesiigation of The
Second Mile from ihe Freeh Report. Freeh was supportive of Ric Strathers, a member of the

Board of Directors for The Second Mile, for helping him to get the job at Penn State.
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H. Review of Freeh Report Chapter 10: “Recommendations for
University governance, administration, and the protection of

childrer in University facilities and programs.”

A Rill review of these recommendations is beyond the scope of our evaluation, which was

intended to focus on the investigative basis supporting the major conclusions. FHowever, we

highlighi several areas of impostance.

Compliance recommendations

The Report confained 119 recommendations, mcluding enhanced compliance measures and
training, more cenfralized HR organizaiions and fimetions, expanded risk-management protocols,
and board governance reforms. In support of these initiatives, Penn State has added new senior
level positions and personnel in areas such as: Chief Ethics and Compliance Officer, Title IX
Coordinator, University Ethics Officer, Athletics Integrity Officer, Clery Compliance Officer,
Associate Athletics Director for Compliance. New policies and councils include: New Statement
and Codes of Ethical Conduct, New Statements of PSU Core Values, Ethics and Compliance
Council, Re-Structured Strategic Communication Council, Sexual Assault Task Force, and

various new mandatory training programs in a number of related areas.

Penn State znd its 2012 Board should be commended for rapidly implementing many of the
recommendations. The University has integrated what many experis regard as best-in-class
compliance measures at every level of the University. The overall cost in human resowrees and
other capital has been substantial, and there will be ongoing costs related to upkeep and
momnitoring of the programs now in place. Now, at six years post-implementation for these
measures, it is time to evaluate their effectiveness and efficiency to be certain that the desired
goals are being met in a cost-effective manner. In addition, wnintended consequences should be
considered — are the new policies detrirnental in any way, for example, by overburdening
administrators, faculty, and staff with red {ape and paperwork that interfere with their execution

of the University’s mission?

Finally, given that some recormendations in the Freeh Report were intended fo address alleged

problems with “Penn State culture™* — and since our review emphatically demonsirates thai
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there was no suppeort for the Freeh Report’s conclusions about culture problems — relevant
recommendations should be subjected to careful review to determine whether cost savings can be

realized by removing any unnecessary policies.

Board governanece recommendations

Our review demonstrated that cunrent and former trustees were interviewed about board
governance, and that virtually all of themn complained that the board was too large to effectively
conduct the University’s business. Many described the negaiive impact of the large board,
meluding: a “power bloc” of trustees who determined the direction of the board, with tustees
ouiside this inner circle feeling excluded;>* 336 337 338 339 {sengagement of many trustees as a

function of the real decision-making being done by the small group of insideps; 0 347 342 343 344 345

5 3 aco an
18.(31{ ofﬁaﬂsparencyf‘;é 347 348 349 350 351 352 353 354 13&1(3.355 356 357 358 359

These concerns have been validated by reporis from two Pennsylvania Audifor Generals, where
recommendations for Penn State board governance reform have highlighted the need to decrease
the size of the board and to increase accountability and transparency.® 3! Penn State’s Faculty
Senate underfeok its own independent evaluation of board governance and recommended a
smaller board for more effective decision-malking 3%

It is surprising that the Fresh Report does not mention the pervasive negative influence of the
large board. An early draft of the report was pointedly critical of the board’s functioning. Why

were criticisms of the board deleted from the final version of the report?

Notably, in 2014 the board voted to INCREASE its size, and this was supported by many of the
same frustees who fold Freeh investigators that the board was too large in 2012. How are we to

understand this change in perspective?
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L. Final Conclusions

11. Freeh Report conclusions: Not supported by investigative
findings

Treeh used a “more reasonable to conclude” standard, claiming that the majority of investigative
data supported the conclusions of the Freeh Report. Our full, fair, and thorough analysis of the

Source Materials concludes unequivocally that the Freeh Report conclusions do not meet that
standard.

The greai majority of Freeh’s investigative findings support a conclusion that: (1) Spanier,
Schuliz, Curley and Paterno were not aware that Sanduslky harmed children; (2) Penn Staie’s
athletic culture was laudable, not cultish, and did not support or obscure the actions of a
pedophile. Our conclusions are supported by extensive data yielded in Freeh’s investigation —

data that Freeh disregarded and withheld.

Did Spanier, Schuliz, Curley and Paterno hide Sandusky’s miseonduct? The Freeh Report
conclusions rely on the worst possible interpretation of vaguely worded emails. Freeh rejects the
explanation provided by Penn State officials that they carefully and responsibly assessed the best
way to handle vague allegations about Sandusky and that they were good people trying to do

their best to make the right decision. Our analysis identified the following sources of support for

this explanation that Freeh rejected:

o A Fedéral high secwrity clearance investigation of Spanier, conducted at the same
time as the Freeh investigation, concluded that Spanier did not conceal information
indicating wrongdoing by Sandusky; Spanier’s clearance was renewed. The r1gor of
this investigation surpasses that of the Freeh investigation - Spasier testified under
oath for this investigation and Schuliz and Curley were also interviewed. John
Snedden, the Federal investigator, callied the Freeh Report “an ernbarrassment to law
enforcement.”

Tnformation gained through interviews of hmndreds of members of the Penn State

community revealed thai:
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o McQueary told others he was vague in his report of the shower incident.

o There were no reports of anyone having heard from Spanier, Schultz, Curley
or Paterno about anything more serious than horseplay in the 2001 incident or
at any ofher time.

o There were no credible rumors about Sandusky circulating within the
community. No one suspected Sandusicy.

o No reports were made that Spanier, Schultz, Curley or Paterno had ever asled
anyone to conceal information about Sanduslky.

o Overwhelmingly, interviewees praised the characters of Spanier, Schuliz,
Cwiley and Patemo; they were described as ethical and acting with integrity in
all aspects of their professional and personal lives.

o Patemo met his reporting obligation in 2001 by following the procedures
specifled in an NCAA policy implemented in 2014, where a report is o be

made to a superior and there is to be no followup by the person reporting.

The Freeh Report suggests that because Sandusky was investigated in 1998, this
indicated that Penn State officials undersiood Sandusky was harming children. The
Report does not consider the very likely possibility that since Sandusky was cleared,
the officials may have reasonably concluded Sandusky was vindicated and should
subsequently be presumed innocent until proven guilty.

The Freeh Report suggests that Schultz concealed documents. Investigators
disregarded Schultz’s grand jury testimony — which they reviewed — where he stated
that he believed such documents might be in his office. Notably, this testimony was
made in the presence of Penn State General Counsel Cynthia Baldwin, who could
have searched for these documents had she believed they were important. The Freeh
investigators seem unswprised an individual engaged in a cover up did not destroy
potentially incriminating documents. Schuliz had ample opporiunity; he did not
destroy the documents.

The Freeh Group appeared to disregard information provided in a full day training
provided by expert FBI profiler Ken Lanning which showed that pedophiles may

operate in ways that make detection very difficult, even for law enforcement
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personael, and especially for members of the cornmunity whose impressions are
shaped by an extremely positive public profile of the offender.

o The Freeh Group appeared to disregard the fact that many professionals evaluated
Sandusky in regard to his fitness to adopt, foster, and work with childien. At the fime
of the 2001 investigation, Sandusky was retired from the University and was working
with children at his charity, The Second Mile, which was run by a licensed child
psychologist. None of these professionals detected that Sandusky was harming
children. Why would University administrators be expected to recognize a problem

that trained professionals were unable to discern?

Spanier, Schuliz and Curley stand convicted of misdemeanor offenses of child endangerment,’
Paterno was never charged with a crime and Spanier’s conviction is under appeal’** Conspiracy
charges were dropped for Curley and Schuliz while Spanier was found not guilty of this charge —
removing any idea of a cover up. Although these convictions may be interpreted to reinforce the
accuracy of the Freeh Report, we note that 2 prominent jury consultant’s survey found it
impossible for these individuals io get a fair trial anywhere in Pennsylvania-- due to distorted
media coverage and the Freeh Report. A majority of citizens surveyed decided these men were
guilty; more than 70% believed the Freeh Report’s conclusions meant that the officials were
guilty of a crime.’®® Freeh’s opinions and suspect conclusions may have suificiently tainted the

jury pool to cause the convictions of Spanier, Schultz, and Curley.

Why did the Freeh Report include motivations and causes? It is implausible to think that
experienced administrators of 2 major public University individuals with spotless professional
records and the highest levels of integrity, and leaders of a University renowned for high
académic and efhical standards — would knowingly permit children to be harmed by allowing a
pedophile to roam freely about the campus. The Freeh investigation yielded no compelling
support for this absurd premise, and in fact yielded extensive information that disconfirmed this
idea. It appears that, to strengthen the appearance of support, the Freeh Group included
motivations and causes for the alleged failure of Penn State officials o stop Sandusky. Our
review of emails exchanged among the investigaiors revealed their search for what they called
“the “WIY"” factors as they were writing the repori, after the investigation was largely
concluded; it is notable that several members of the group expressed misgivings about adding
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causal factors because they acknowledged that they could only speculate about these due to lack

of any real supporting evidence.

=]

To avoid the consequences of bad publicity. The very weak support for this idea
comes fom statements ativibuted to Spanier and Curley which tndicate their
understanding of the situation in 2001 — that Sandusky did not realize it was imappropriate
to shower with children and that his showering with children made others uncomfortable,
and thus they believed that although Sandusky’s behavior didn’t cross the line, it didn’t
“look good.” In their roles as University President and Athletic Director, Spander and
Curley had extensive experience in handling bad publicity; the idea that they would
knowingly cover up for a pedophile, rather than manage the fallout from publicity
swrounding a former employee, is preposterous. That the Freeh Report would stake its
conclusions on such a wealdy supported theory is clear indication of bias,

“A cuoliural reverence for foothall.” Freeh humself acknowledged in an email to his
investigators that they had never seen any indication that amyone was motivated io protect
Paterno or the football program, In fact, abundant information gained from the
mvestigation indicaied that the culture of athletics at Penn State had long been pristine.
To support this “causal” factor, the Fresh Report disregarded and misrepresented
extensive information from hundreds of interviewees indicating that (1) Paterno did not
wield undue influence in the University beyond his role as head football coach; (2)
student athletes were not given special treatment in academic and disciplinary matters;
(3) Lasch Building janitors were not afraid of losing their jobs. Freeh recognized that
Penn State’s athletic culture was not deficient; why did he highlight this false conclusion
in his Report? We believe we found the answer to this question and we elaborate below.
Sandusky’s refirement. The Freeh Report states clearly that there was no association
found between the 1998 allegations of misconduct (which were deemed upfounded) and
Sandusky’s retivement timing or arrangements. Ow docwmnent review confinms this.
Why, then, was it necessary fo include an eniire chapter on this matter? Despite the
disclaimer that Sandusky’s retirement was not suspicious, the Freeh Report includes an
incendiary passage criticizing Penn State oificials for allowing Sandusley to retire “not as

a suspecied child predator ... essentially granting him license to bring boys to campus
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facilities for ‘grooming’ as targets for his assaults.”3% This blatant indication of bias
undercuts the integrity of the entire Report.

“A striking lack of empathy for child abuse vietim.” This inflarnmatory and
gratuitous “cause” is based on the lack of actions talen to protect children; the point is, of

course, moot if Penn State officials did not have information that they believed indicated

that children had been harmed,
1.2. Independence of Freeh Report fatally compromised

Multiple factors appear (o have influenced the mischaracterization of the investigative data in the
Freeh Report. Most notably, the independence of the investigation appeass to have been
sacrificed by Louis Freeh due o pursuit of bis own conflicts of interest. Other parties appeared
(0 have conflicis of interest and io have pursued them opportunistically in a highly charged
situation whete logic gave way to emotion. Collaboration between Freeh and these parties

resulied in a Report with unsubstantiated conclusions.

NCAA. NCAA leaders knew that the Sandusky allegations were a matier of criminality and
therefore they could not sanction Penn State within their own guidelines. Nevertheless, they
decided that disciplining Penn State would improve the NCAA’s reputation, and provided a

blueprini to the Freeh Group for the one avenue that would permit them to act: a finding of loss

of institutional control.

Freeh had been openly pursuiﬁg a business relationship with the NCAA. for almost two years,
hoping 1o become the NCAA’s “go-to investigators.” This effort continued during the time he
was investigating Penn State — an investigation that Freeh knew would be used by the NCAA.
Contrary to his own public statements that no information was shared outside his group, Freeh
regularly briefed NCAA. officials during the investigation, and shared the Report with the NCAA
prior to its public release. In the Report, Freeh delivered the “loss of institutional control”
conclision — a stafement that the Penn State community must “transform the culture that
permitted Sandusky’s behavior” ~ despite privaiely aclmowledging that their investigative
findings did not support this idea. Afier the NCAA announeed iis unprecedented sanctions
against Penn State, Freeh’s Group noted, “This has opened up an opportonity to have the
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dialogue with [NCAA President] Emmert about possibly being the po to extemnal investigator for

the NCAA. It appears we have Emmert’s attention now.”

Governor Corbett and the Pernsylvania Office of Attorney General. Governor Corbeit
closely oversaw Ireeh’s hire as Penn State’s independent investigator and instructed Sandusky
prosecutors o share information with Freeh. Prosecutors, especially Frank Fina, provided
regular updates about their criminal investigation, some likely improper. Freeh was indebted fo
Corbett for his hire and was motivated not to be “scooped by law enforcement” in order iv
enhance his own repuiation as an investigator; he therefore colluded with the OAG to produce a
so-called “independent” report that was entirely consistent with the cririnal case against
Sandusky. Asa Trusiee, Corbett withheld material information related to Sanduslky from the
Board (as legal experts, including Freeh and his associate Judge Sullivan, believed he should
have done), and exerted an outsize influence on the Board’s decision to dismiss Paterno and
Curley. Some suggest he may have been motivaied by pcﬁi‘ical agendas rather than in pursuing

the interests of Penn State.

Penn State Board of Trustees. The Board’s early response fo the crisis was to quickly assign
blame to Spanier, Schultz, Curley and Paterno. Some Trustees may have been influenced by
Governor Corbetl’s threat to reduce state funding for the University if Paterno and Spanier were
not dismissed — hardly an idle threat, given that he had recently done just that. Other Trustees
may have been motivated by personal agendas underlying a desire fo remove Paterno and/or
Spanier. The public reason given for their decision was a common corporate approach - as
expressed by 2012 Board chair Karen Peetz, “we needed to take our medicing¢” and wait for
{ime to pass, trusting that “by 2014 ... it will just be a distant memory.”*%® Regardless of
motivation, it was in the Board’s interest for the findings of the Frech investigation to validate
their hasty actions fo sacrifice due process and to scapegoat University officials in an aftempt fo
demonsirate control over the crisis. Conivery to public statements by all parties, Freeh provided
regular briefings to Trustees on developments throughout the investigation, and gave previews of
report conclusions to Penn State leaders. Our review showed that Freeh adopted the “iconic
coach” narrative after Task Force Chair Frazier forwarded a media piece, and that Freeh likewise
adopted the “covernp” narrative following Board Vice Chair Masser’s staternenis to the press.

To what extent did Penn State Trustees attempt to actively influence Freeh's conclusions?
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The Second Mile. The Freeh Group laid out a comprehensive plan for investigating the role of
Sandusky’s charity, The Second Mile, ir his abuse of children. An eazly draft of the Frech
Report included results from this investigation, detailing extensive connections between The
Second Mile and Penn State, especially the Board of Trustees. Why was The Second Mile
completely removed from the final Freeh Report? At the time of his hire, Freeh failed to disclose
a possible conflict of inferest — his conmection to Ric Struthers, a close business associate who
was a prominent donor to Penn State and a Director for The Second Mile. Struthers had agreed
to advocate for Breeh’s hire with Penn State Trustees. Did this association with a member of the
Board of Directors for Sandusky’s charity play any role in Freeh’s decision to omit all mention

of the investigation of The Second Mile?
1.3. Iuvestigative and reporting flaws

The Freeh Group’s investigative and reporting methodelogy were characierized by flawed tactics

that impaired the quality of the worlk:

Interview methodology was prone to error, subject to conscions and unconscious bias of
investigators, and involved coercion of interviewees.

Tnvesiigators failed to inferview those baving direct experience with the matfers under
investigation, and failed to qualify conclusions accordingly.

No systematic analysis strategy was used to evaluate interview material.

Despite claiming to use a “more reasonable fo conclude” standard, the Freeh Report’s
conclusions were not supported by a majority of the information yielded by the
investigation.

Release of the Report was done at a press conference where conclusions were
communicated in an inflammatory manner, nnder circumstances that prevented reporiers

from fully evaluating the material in the Freeh Report.
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i.4. Penn State Board is teo large

A consistent message from Trustees interviewed by the Freeh Group was concern over the
negative impact of their large Board — power held‘ by & group of insiders who made most of the
decisions, other trustees feeling excluded and disengaged, lack of transparency, and
communication leaks. Why did the Freeh Report fail to include a recommendation to decrease

the size of the board in its focus on imnproving Penn State’s governance?

The handling of the Sandusky crisis appears to be a case study illustration of ways a large board
may be too cumbersome for effective decision~-making, especially under crisis conditions.
Trustees who were present described a situation where & minority of insider trusiees rushed a
decision while siifling discussion and discouraging dissenting voices. Regrets were expressed by

some Trustees who later believed some of their hasty decisions were wrong,

Penn Siate’s Board must be decreased in size in order {0 create a culture where all Trusieses are
informed and engaged, the work of the Boaxd is transparent, and a diversity of opinions is

welcome as a valued element in high quality decision-maling.
L5. Need for public education about acquainiance abusers

The Board adopied a corporate solution to the Sandusky crisis, apparently believing that
sacriticing a few individuals and expressing remorse would allow the University to recover
quickly from the scandal. Such a hasty and unexamined approach was unworthy of any
nstitition of higher learning. We believe it is our obligation to fully and accurately understand
the circumstances swrounding Sandusky’s actions so that we can learn the appropriate lessons in

order to prevent firture abuse. To do otherwise is to dishonor victims and survivors of sexual

abuse,

Our community did not know enough aboui acquaintance offenders who “hide in plain sight™
behind an established reputation for compagsionate service to youth. The longstanding sexual
abuse recently disclosed at Michigan State University and the University of Souwthern California

amplifies the need for improved understanding and public education.
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Penn State has taken on a leadership role in research into the causes and freatments of abuse, a3
well as academic programming to train child protection professionals. We hope that Penn State
will add to this a commitment fo public educalion, joining with organizations such as the
National Cenier for Missing and Exploited Children in the effort to prevent abuse through
informing parents, children, and youth service organization about effective ways of protecting

young people.

I.6. Final comments

The Freeh Report does not accurately or fairly characterize the Source Material upon which it
was purportedly based. Even worse, it was the produci of external influences and was not by any
measure objective or the result of independence. In short, it is both unreliable and musleading.
Our University paid $8.3 million for an “independent investigation” that was neither independent
nor a fair and thorough investigation.

Entities charged with promoting the University’s interests failed, instead pursuing their own
interests.

s The NCAA acted to enhance its own repuiation and in so doing, sacrificed the well-being
of Penn State’s student athletes, and dishonestly imapugned our University’s stellar
athletic culture, conirary to its own mission.

Governor Corbett slashed the University’s funding and then actively influenced the
handling of the Sandusky crisis in ways that harmed the Commonwealth’s land grant
University, an institution he was obligated to support both as Governor and as a Trustee.
Penn State’s Board scapegoated some of the University’s most Ioyal, honorable, and
longstanding servants in a misguided attempt to quickly put the crisis behind them.
Louis Freeh produced a report with conclusions that wesre not supported by his own
investigation, contrary to the terms of his engagement with the University, in order to
promoie his own business opportumiiies.

As Trustees, our highest responsibility is our charge to protect and support the University’s

mission and reputation. As a resuli of our full, fair, and thorough review of the Freeh

investigation Source Materials, we repudiate the conclusions of the Freeh Report.
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APPENDIX 1
Investigative Methodology for our Review of Tnterviews

The interview narratives were analyzed uvsing established methodology for qualitative social
science research.! Tnterviews were divided across six reviewers who read and summarized

primary content into written notes. These notes were used to ideniify major themes related to the

conclusions of the Freeh report:

o Rumors were widespread in the community and the football program, indicating knowledge
of Sandusky’s actions prior o Central Mountain incident.

o Sandusky was given a special retirement deal indicaiing he was “bought off”” in order to
separale him from the university, due to kmowledge of his pedephilia.

o Characters of Spanier/Schuliz/Curley/Paterno were consistent with a decision io cover up for
a pedophile in order to protect the reputation of the football program.

o TFootball players were given special treatment with disciplinary matters, indicating
mmsidintional miscondect and inappropriate emphasis on fooiball.

o Coach Paterno was powerfil beyond his role as head fooiball coach, indicating Inappropriate
emphasis on foothall over academics.

o Janitors in Lasch Building were fearfil of loging their jobs if they were to report Sandusky’s

misconduct, indicating inappropriate value attached to football over ethical conduct.

These six themes were then vsed by reviewers to analyze the inferview data. When a theme was
present in an interview narrative, reviewers coded as yes/no fo indicate presence versus absence
of support for that theme. Approximately 5-10% of interviews were independently recoded to
increase the reliability and validity of coding; very few discrepancies emerged, and those were

resolved ithrough conferencing.
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The themaiic codes wers transferred to an Excel spreadsheet along with information on each
inferviewee (c.g., job title at time of Freeh interview) and categories we developed to deseribe

interviewees® positions in relation fo the umiversity (see table below). Brief content summaries

and relevant quotes from interviews were alse included.

The data in the Excel spreadsheet were analyzed to provide summary information about number
and categories of interviewees responding as support being present/absent for each theme,
Content snmmeries and guotes weze nsed {o broaden the understanding of interviewees’
responses. The full text of interviews was frequenily reviewed fo ensure that context was
adequaiely considered in the accurate use of the quoted matexial. For each theme, quantiiative
information was provided (e.g., number of inferviewees whose responses did or did not support
that theme). In addition, relative wel ghting of the evidence was considersd; this involved an
asgessment of the credibility of information provided, aceording to factors meluding the
Lileelihood that the interviewee was in a position o have direct knowledge ol the material
seported. Citations for specific interviewess were included in the analysis of each theme to
demonsirate the source for the information that was included, but individual identitics were not
yevealed. Excepiions fo this were made only for a few individnals whose positions were
singulazly influential and important in understanding their interview material: Rodney Erckson,
President of the universiiy; Cynthia Baldwin, General Counsel for the uriversity; Een Frazier,
chair of the Special Tnvestigative Task Force; Anthony Sassano, agent for the Penosylvania
Attorney General; and Vicky Triponey, former tmiversity Vice President for Student Affairs,

who made public claims about Patemo and the university’s football program after Sandusky’s
arrest,

In addition to the six thematic areas, analysis was conducted for two topics of focus by the Freeh
group: the integrity of the investigation of the 1998 Sandusley incident, and the credibility of
Vicky Triponey. These analyses wers condueied in essentially the same manuer as the six
themes. In the analysis summary of the 1998 incident, names of iaw enforcement and child
services professionals were included due to the importance of understanding the specific roles of

hese interviewees in understanding the credibility of their siatemenis.
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Group Number Percentage of Total
Athletics 150 34%
Adminisiration 80 18%
BOT 55 13%
Commonwealth Cempus 48 11%
Law Enforcement 27 6%
Academics 16 4%
Operations 12 3%
State College 10 3%
Camps 9 2%
Second Mile o 2%
NFL 5 1%%
Legislature 5 1%
Freeh Group 3 1%
Stodent 2' 0%
Council 2 0%
Paterno family 2 0%
Alummi Association 2 0%
Fimail 1 0%

! Creswell, . & Poth, C. “Qualitaiive ingniry and research design: Choasmg among five
approaches, 4% ed.” Sage, 2018.
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APPENDIX 2.1

Inteyview Analysis and Summary: 1998 investigation of allegations of sex abuse against
Sandusky

o Analysis of inferviews indicates thai, due to the Inck of evidence found in the 1998
nvestigation, in combinatien with Sandusky’s repuiaiion as a humanilarian
dedieated to improving the lives of valnerable children, Penn Siate officials conld
not reasonably be expected fo fyeat Sanduslov a8 a “suspected child predator”

The Fresh group inferviewed several key individuals invelved in the investigation of the 1998
incident. These include Ron Schreffler, Deteciive for the University Police Department; #
Jerry Lauro, Investigator for PA Department of Child Welfare;* Slephen Sloane, Assistant
Distzict Afiomey for Centre Covnty.® None of these law enforcement 13rofeésionals reported
being aware of eny credible evidence of illegal misconduct by Sandusky. Schreffler and Sloane

said that District Attormey Ray Gricar had infegrily,

Keiih Robb, Detective for State College Police Department, was interviewed alihough not
involved with the Sandusky investigation, and said that Assisiant DA Haren Arnold was known
te be an aggressive prosecutor of sexmal assanit cases and would have proceeded if sufficient

evidence existed in the 1998 Sandusky incident.®

James Norman was a police officer for the University Police Depariment in 1998. He was not
involved in the Sandusky investigation bui stated that if Distvict Attomey Ray Gricar believed
there was insufficient evidence to prosecufe Sandusky, then this judgment could be relied upon

to he frue.’

The Freeh Report suggests mishandling of this incident by the universily, referencing a statement
from Schreffler that the Sandusky investigation was not referred to Human Resources, as would
be routine.’ However, the report does not include Schreffler’s qualifying stalement: “He said
the referral being made would depend on the circumstance of the incident. Since Sandusky
wasn’t arrested there’s a good chance a referral wasn’t done.™ Schrefiler also said that “no one

fromn the University Adroinistration or Chisf Harmen inferfered with the investigation, 1%

APP 04

e i e




Conclusion: The Cenire Comnty DA determined there was insufficient evidence to bring

charges against Sandusky for the 1998 shower incident. All interviewees concur that DA Gricar

and ADA Amold were ethical and professional. None of the law enforcement or child services

professionals were aware of any credible evidence of illegal misconduct by Sandusky. There

was no indication that auy university official interfered with the investigation in any way, or ook
ey action to hide or suppress the emistence of the investigation or its conclusions. Once the
investigation was complete, and charges were not filed, there was no reason for anyone 0

consider Sandusky to be & “suspected child predator”

! Interview, February 27, 2012,
2 Tnterview, March 24, 2012

3 nterview, April 4, 2012,

4 Interview, Jamary 31, 2012.

5 Tnterview, Mazch 21, 2012,

6 Tnterview, December 14, 2012.
7 Interview, February 1, 2012,

8 Freeh Report, p. 49,

9 Interview, April 4, 2012,

10 interview, January 27, 2012,
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APPENDIX 2.2

Interview Analysis and Summary: Were the chavacters of Spanier, Schuléz, Curley, and
Paterno consisient with covering wp fo protect a pedophile?

= Analysis of inierviews indicates that Spanier, Schuliz, Cuyley aad Paterno
demonsirated eonsisient inlegrily in thelr professional lives; their characiers are not
consistent with covering np Sandusky’s actions.

Of those who commented on the characters of any of these fowr men, only 9 provided any

negative descriptions; 123 provided posiiive commentary on the four,

Three! 23 who offered negative assessments of any of the four men were cument or former
frostees. They described Spanier as “contrelling,” a “micromanager,” and “standoffish” and one
said Le was not forthcoming with the Board of Trustees. One? said that because Spanier did not
ask who had witnessed Sandusky in the shower, it was fair io conclude that Spanier wanted o
avoid the situation. One” said that Spanier must have known about the 1998 incident becanse he
was 50 “hands on” and suggesied that because Pateimo conveyed MeQueary’s statements io
Curley and Schultz it was an indication that he “didn’t want the incident handled.” Two® 7 said
that they did not perceive Schuliz as forthcoming with the Board; one® said he believed Schuliz
had once lied to the Board. Two® 1% suggested that covering up for Sandusky could have been

motivated by the desire to avoid adverse publicity and reputational damage.

President Erickson described Curley as Paterno’s “errand boy.” A staffer in Footbal'! described
Curley as a “puppet” for Paterno and said Paterno would have been motivated to protect the
football program. An adminisirator in Athletics (outside Foothall)*? said Curley avoided

confrontation and “conld not say no” to football coaches.

A high level adminisirator™ guestioned Paterno’s honesty in regard to statements he had no prior

knowledge of Sandusky’s maltreatment of children, but provided no specifics.

An emeritus professor' said that he could not believe Corley and Paterno were unaware of

Sandugky’s actions because “they Imew everything about the football program.”
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One former football player’ stated that Patezno “called the shots™ and Curley and Schuliz would

have— done what he said.

Those providing positive assessments of the characters of Spander, Schuliz, Cuiley, and Paterno

were crrrent or former frusiees, senior administrators, adminisirators, staff, and coaches in
Athletics, and faculty.

Cynfhia Baldwin, former chair of the Board of Trustees and then-cuirent (General Counsel, said

zhout Curley and Schuliz, “I had no reason to believe they weren’t telling ihe truth.”

A faculty member'® said he knew the fovr men very well and stated, “T mow these people, I
lenow this mstituiion, I cannot be convinced that there was a cover up.” He added, “a lot of

smart, sthical people” did not recognize Sandusky’s actions for what they were.

Multiple interviewees in high-level positions within Athletics reported that compliance with
NCAA and oiher athletics rules was sirongly emphasized from the top, with Spanier attending
anmial mestings of athletics staff and both Spanier and Curley threatening rule breakers with
immediate termination.’” 181920 21 Seyeral noted that Penn State rules weze more stringent than
those the nniversily is required to uphold (e.2., NCAA, Big Ten) and that Penn State’s sincere
adherence to rhles was greater than they had experienced when working at other universities,™ »
24 (e head coach smid he never felt any pressure to win becavse the athletic cnfiure was so
positive.?® Other coaches said ihat Spanier and Curley were consistent In siressing the need to
“dg the right thing” and embrace “success with honor.”?7 A mepaber of the football academic

staff said, “integrity and homor are important benchmarks™ for Athletics.?®

Spanier as described by current/former trustees and senior adminisivators as an effective leader
who was open and accessible and well-liked by the univessity commumnity.” ** One trustes
noted Spanier’s loyalty to Penn State, as evidenced by his refusal to accept the offer of a highly-
paid position at the NCAA.* A longstending trustee who worked closely with Spanier described
i as “an ethical person with lines you didn’i cross.”™ Another frustee with a history of
fmportant leadership roles on the board said he did not believe Spanier would cover up

information abowt Sandusky.* A, senior administrator described Spanier as “the most morally

5235

upsianding man I have ever met,
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Schuliz was praised by seven current/former trustees, who described his professionalism,
dedication, and ethics 36 3738 39 9041 Thay said Schultz was “a team player who is very shaight
and respectable,™ “a straight arrow who always took the right road,”® and who “took things
seriously and was responsive to inguiries and issues.”* A former trusice who had worked
closely with Schuliz via several board leadership positions said he found it “very difficuil o
believe” that Sclniltz would have eovered up Sandusky’s actions.” Another trustes who lmew
Schuliz very well said Schuliz was “one of the finest men he’s ever been associated with.”*® A
senior administrator deseribed Schuliz and Cusley as “incredible men of integyity.”"”

Curley was described by a wide range of individuals as a person with greal integrity. Trustees
said Curley was “thoughtfil, caring, sensitive, honest and forthright,”* “very well prepared, a
great public speaker and an effeciive administrator,”™ and “one of the most honest people you
conld ever find.”™® A former chair of the board said he did not believe that Cunley would
intentionally cover up the Sanduslcy issus {o protect the university.” Administrators within
Athletics said Curley is a man of high integrity and character who never acied in an unethical
mamner; 5 one said Curley’s leadership of Athletics involved the values of a sirong work ethic,
loyalty, and a desire for the best ontcome for the university.” Another high-ranking
administzator within Athletics said it was “hard to believe” that Curley would have suppressed
information about Sandusky.> A former football player said that his job requires him o work
with Athleiie Directors across the nation and “no one has a higher level of iniegrity than Tim
Curley;™* another former player said Curley “would not knowingly lie or directly mislead
anybody.™’ Senior administrators outside Athletics snid Cudley “always wanted to do whal was

best for PSU, not just foofball,”® and “Curley’s word was his bond.”*® A faculiy member

described Cunley as “a decent, moral man,”®

Multiple interviewees described Paterno as & person of high standards who promoted ethical
conduct, An assistant football coach described Patemno as “a true visiopary™ who held everyone
to & code of conduet, concluding *God doesn’t make many of those men.*™ A facully member
who worked closely with Aibletics said “the ‘Paterno Way” included ethics, integrily, public
service, and academics.”® A member of the football siaff described Paierno’s consistent
enforcement of high standards of hehavior for his players: “a tough disciplinatian...nobody

would cross Joe, they were more afaid of Joe than the law.”®® A former player echoed ihis,
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“Paierno believed there was a right way and a wrong way 1o do things, as with football

saying,
w64 An administrator in Afhletics

and in life. Paterno would challenge you to do it the right way.
i7ed Paterno’s academic leadership throughout the univessity, recalling Paterno sfandm g

emphas:
“he as good as this football team” in

up during a Faculty Senate meeting and challenging them to
[ challenge anyone to showme a

terms of academics.® A prominent commumity member said,
0266

person who has done more for the University or the community than Joe Paterno.

Conclusion: Very few interviewees provided negative assessments of fhe characters of Spanier,

aterno, and their comments wers largely based on speculation and
¢ avoiding reputational harm might

Schuliz, Cutley, and P

supposttion, nclnding the noion voiced by two irustees ihat

have been a motivation for profecting Sandusky. Many more intervicwees spolke about the high

integrity of the four men, and made their assessments on the basis of extensive direct Imowledge

of them.

! interview, March 12, 2012,

2 fnterview, April 12, 2015,

3 Interview, May 3, 2012,

4 Tnterview, April 12, 2015,

5 Tnterview, March 12, 2012,

¢ Tnierview, April 12, 2015,

7 Interview, May 3, 2012.

5 Interview, April 12, 2015,

? Interview, May 3, 2012.

10 Tnterview, April 12, 2015,

U Tyterview, February 28, 2012,
12 Tterview, February 7, 2012.
13 Tnterview, April 10, 2012.

M Tnterview, February 16, 2012.
15 Interview, May 1, 2012.

18 Tnjerview, February 21, 2012.
17 Interview, Jannary 13, 2012
18 Tpierview, March 12, 2012.

18 Toterview, January 11, 2012.
2 Trierview, January 10, 2012.
2 Tyterview, January 10, 2012,
22 Tnierview, February 15, 2012.
2 Tpjerview, Jamuary 11, 2012.
2 Ynierview, Jannary 13, 2012,
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6 Tnterview, January 13, 2012
21 Interview, Jamary 11, 2012,
2 Tnterview, February 28, 2012,
2 Titerview, March 22, 2012.
3¢ tnterview, March 15, 2012.
3 Tnterview, June 5, 2012,

¥ Interview, March 15, 2012.
33 Interview, Aprl 16, 2012.
M Interview, March 15, 2012.
33 Tuterview, April 19, 2012,

3 mterview, April 16, 2012,

3 Interview, June 5, 2012.

38 Interview, March 15, 2012,
* Interview, March 15, 2012,
0 Interview, April 5, 2012,

# Tnterview, April 19, 2012,
42 Tnterview, June 5, 2012,

3 Inferview, March 15, 2012.
“ Tnierview, Apsil 16, 2012,

45 Interview, March 15, 2012,
46 Tnterview, Tune 5, 2012.

4 Tnterview, March 22, 2012
42 Interview, April 16, 2012,

9 Interview, Juns 5, 2012.

0 Interview, May 2, 2012,

3 Interview, March 15, 2012,
32 Tnterview, Febrary 8 ,2012.
3 Interview, February 6, 2012,
5% Interview, February 6, 2012,
% Interview, January 24, 2012,
38 Interview, May 2, 2012.

57 Interview, April 26, 2012,

58 Tnterview, April 17, 2012.

* Tterview, April 19, 2012,

& Interview, July 3, 2012.

8 Tnferview, December 12, 2011,

& Trterview, July 3, 2012.
8 Interview, December 6, 2011.
“ Tnterview, April 25, 2012.

8 Interview, Febmary 15, 2012,
5 Tnterview, May 16, 2012.
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APPENDIX 2.3

Inferview Analysis and Summary: Were members of the Penn State community aware of
vamors about Sandusky?

o inte communily

Analysis of interviews indieates that most members of the Penn 8
were not awars of rumers about Sandusky.

Of interviewees commenting on whether they had heard nymors concerning Sandusky, 34

reported hearing 1TH10I3 and 245 teported not having heard rumors.

a1l of the 21 interviewees who worked at Commonwealih campuses where Sandusky had held
ated they had never seen or heard of anything disturbing about

en; an addifional 37 Commonwealth campus employees Were

Ti is importani to note that

snpumer football programs st
Sandusky’s behavior with childr

apparenily not asked about this topic.

To fully understand ths reports of hearing rumors, it is important o differentiale betwaen rUmors
fhat are reasonably traced back to any direct knowledge of 5
o from two ieidents: (1) an incident involving a student

endugky’s mapptopriate behavior as

opposed io public lmowledge stemmin
ot Central Mouniain Figh School, where Sandusky worked as an assistant coach, which was

reported to Children and outh Services and which resufted in Sandus
Second Mile in September of 2010; (2) a repoit in the Harrisburg Patric
abont Sandusky being nmder investigation for alleged child mpolestation. An ex

imterview naratives revealed that the maj ority of those who reported hearing about Sandusky’s
EWEES

lcy’s resignation from The
t+-News in March of 2011

amination of

rieties with children were referencing one of these two incidents, leaving 16 intervi

impron
who had heard rumors that appeated to not have been directly rolated to this public knowledge.

123 4115 heard rumozs dating back 4 o 5 years prior to their
avrars of the incident #f Central Movmtain High School, and une

er of a victim from Lock Haven High School had talked

Four former foothall players
interviews; several of these weie
reporied hearing romors that 2 moih
ihe situation.’ One player said he did not believe the

sbout making a lot of money from
§ Another former

“rumblings” he heard because «@mdusky was a father fgure {o needy kids.

player’ said he believed that “gelect people within the community Inew” and mentioned that
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Jack Raykovitz, former director of The Second Mile, had fold him a year prior fo the interview
that “Sandusky shouldn’t be around ldds.”

A Penn State sindent® who had pariicipated in Second Mile football camps as a teenager said that
he never saw or heard anything inappropriate regarding Sandusky; however, he was told by a
former player about allegations of sexmal contact with boys by Sandusky two years before his

arrest, and stated that he did not believe this as Sandusky was a “Ggurehead of the community.”

A group of four members of the local community who tailgated together reported hearing
mmore.? 12112 One of these’® is the father of two sons who had worked as football equipment
managers; he said that one son had heard rumors of Sandusky in the shower with a boy, and the
other had not heard any rumors. A retired Centre County Assistant Disirict A’tﬁomey” who
worked with Ray Gricar on the 1998 Sandusly incident said he thought there were some tailgate

runors about the 1898 investigation.

A, secretary in Athleiics’ said that she had been iold by another seoretary that Sandusky had
molested children; no time Fame was provided, Howevez, the other secretary’® was interviewed

and denied having such knowledge. [Exceipt from interview notes]:

[She] said she was as “shocked” as everyome else when
Jemry Sanduslcy was arrested and charged with all the sexnzal
assaulis m November 2011, She lnew Sandusky from
working with him and the football team earlier in her career.
She described Sandusky as kind of goofy, funny and one of
he nice guys she worked with on the football team. [She]
Imew Sandusky’s wife and kids, She never suspected
Sandusky of ever being involved in this type of criminal
behavior, She said no one has confided in her aboud any
kmowledge of Sandusky’s fnvolvement in such behavior.

An administrator in Afhletics (outside Football)!? reported hearing rumars sbout Sandusky’s
involvement with young boys around 2007 or 2008, and heard that Sandusky had been
investigated but the charpges were dropped. He heard simoilar accusations in 2009, but said he
heard people say, “That’s just Jerry, he's always clowning around” and “the kids from the
Second Mile love him.” He had alsc heard about the mcident witnessed by the janitor but this
story was dismissed by many as Sandusky acting bke a big ldd. He stated that he had heard
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sumors from some of the football equipment managers who found the rumors hard to believe and
referred to these incidents as Sendusky “messing avound.” He described Sandusky as “a big

goofy guy who was like a sweet ancle.” He noted that “many people also dismissed rumors

concerning Sandusky because of the Duke University lacrosse case and other incidents where the

vietms tnrned out to be falsely accusing someone or were trying to extort money or falsely
accuse.”

A handfal of other interviewees reported hearing second and third hand stories involving vagoe
notions of Sandusky’s improprieties, without mention of the timeline (and therefore these stories

could have resulied from either of the two publicly known situations).

The Fresh Grovp interviewed a pumber of former/current foothall equipment managers. None of
fhose interviewed reporied hearing romors about Sendusly. Apparently fusiraied, inferviewers
asled one!® how it was possible the shower incident was not known by those who worked in the
Lasch Building. He responded that he had no Imovwledge of Sandusky showering with boys and
would have stopped it had he known. The answer 10 this question appears o be that Michael
MeQueary did not share lus story even with his elosest friends in the football program until after
the nevws of the grand jury appeared in the Harrisburg newspaper in March of 2011, As
confirmed by three interviewees, ' * 2! a small grovp (tncluding MoQueary) called themszelves
the “lameh bunch” because they aie lunch iogether every day. These three interviewses each
described MceQueary occasiopally malking comments about “something awful” he had seen,
“gomething that changed my life forever.” MceQueary did not disclose further details, even when
his friends made gentle inquiries, and his fiiends respected his privac:};' by not pursuing the
matter. MoQueary finally told them about {estifying before the Grand Fury and said the
disnbing thing he had seen involved Sandusky with a boy in the showers. Two of them®

said they had seen Sendusky openly showering with boys, and were not conoerned, ag other
cosches routinely showered with their owa sons.

The Freeh group interviewed a wide range of employees of the football program, including six
coaches, four frainers, four equipment managers, Two academic advisors, an adminisirator, a
recruiling coordinator, and two admimisirative assistants. In addiiion, 28 employees of Athietics

were interviewed, including nine high ranking adminisizators, as well as various levels of siaff.
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Outside Athletics, 13 police officers (either PSU or State College), two Faculty Athletic
Representatives (foxmer/éurrent), 8 faculty, 40 trustees, and 26 senior adminisivators were
interviewed. Also interviewed were 21 staff and adminisirators from the Commonwealth
campuses. NONE OF THESE INDIVIDUALS REPORTED HEARING RUMORS ABOUT

SANDUSKY MOLESTING CHILDREN.

Two high-level employees in Football and Afhletics™ ** said they were mnaware of any incidents
or ramors concerning Sandusky prior to news reports. One said, “ihe whole thing is so
unbelievable, I can’ get my anns aronnd it President Rodney Brickson noted that he was

particularfy struck when reading the news accounts because he had never heard “anything lile

this about Sanduslcy,”2¢

One member of the fooiball program staff > considered himself a close friend of Sandusky and
described Sandusky’s successfnl grooming of football program staff, [Excerpt from his

interview notes:]

Sandusky was always very physical with the kids, constanily
hmgpging them from behind, wrestling with them, or grabbing
them by the neck, This was unique 1o Sandusky. Other
coaches were not like this. [He] said, “When voun saw Jemry
with a kid, you felt Incky for the kid.” [He] caid he viewed it
as Sandusky mentormg ldds and giving kids with bad
backgrounds a second chance. [He] sald Sandusky was just a
“big kid” himself. [He] belisved that The Second Mile was
Sandusky’s passion.

[He] said that the other coaches spoke often about the
Sandusky investigation after the publicity, making comments
Iike “can you believe 1i?” and other staiements indicaiing that
they were suiprised abowt the allegaiions.

[He] said Sandusky fooled the Football Staff just like he
fooled everyone else and no one had any lmowledge about
what he was doing.
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Conclusion: The Freeh group attempted o determine whether the Penn State community,
especially within Athletics and Football, was aware of Sandusky’s abuse of children and failed 1o
act. The vast majority of interviewees questioned about this — 245 — said they had not heard
ramors. OFf those who did report having heard mumors, only 16 described stories that were
possibly (not definitely) uniinked to public knowledge about Sendusky that resulied from his
retizement fom The Second Mile or from newspaper reports of the grand jury investigation.
Few of the ramors involved anything beyond vagne allegations of improper behavior with
children; no one reported wiinessing, or hearing direcily about one or more specific incidents. It
is gtriking that those having heard rumnors tended not to believe they were plausible in view of
Sandusky’s reputation as a man who cared deeply about the welfare of children. His ™ goofy”
and playful behavior provided a further level of cover for any inappropriate boundary crossing
with children, There was no evidence in the interviews that membess of the University

comniumity concealed knowledge about Sanduslcy’s malfreatment of children.

! Yterview, May 2, 2012,

2 Interview, May 1, 2012.

3 Tnierview, May 30, 2012.
Nnierview, April 23, 2012.

5 Interview, May 1, 2012.

6 Tnterview, May 30, 2012.

7 Interview, May 8, 2012.

8 Interview, April 14, 2012,

? Interviews, April 4, 2012.

10 Tterview, April 2, 2012,

Y Tmterview, April 3, 2012.

12 fnierview, April 20, 2012,

13 Tnterview, Apil 4, 2012,

1 Tnjerview, March 21, 2012.

15 Tnterview, May 3, 2012,

16 Tierview, Pebruary 25, 2012.
17 tterviev, February 7, 2012,
18 Tnierview, Febmary 23, 2012,
19 Interview, February 22, 2012,

APP 15




20 Tnterview, Febroary 15, 2012.
2 Interview, December 17, 2011.
22 Interview, February 22, 2012,
B Tnterview, December 7, 2011,
24 Interview, December 7, 2011,
2% Interview, January 4, 2012..
6 Taterview, April 12, 2012.

2T Tnterview, February 15, 2012,
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APPENDIX 2.4

Interview Analysis and Swmmary: Was Sandusky given a special retirement deal because
PST) officials Imew he was a pedophile and wanted to get rid of him?

o Amalysis of interviews indieaies that Sandusly’s retirement was net suspicions.

"There wers 42 interviewses who provided information relevant to this issue; their posiiions
within the university spanned the entire range of those interviewed. If is noteworthy that the
majority of these individuals would have had no direct knowledge of these events and therefore
ihelr statements must necessarily have been based on hearsay or speculation. Only 8 provided

opimons favoring the idea that Sandusky’s refirement arrangements may bave beeil suspicious,

The Freel Report explains thet the Pennsylvania Staie Employees® Retirement System had
offered a one year refirement window allowing members o retire afier 30 years (insiead of the
usual 35) with full retirement benefits.! As described in the Freeh Report, Sandusky received a
lump sum payment at his retirement to offset the decreased pension he would receive as a resuit
of retiring at 30, instead of 35, years. Sandusky was also given emeritug faculty status,

something typieally awarded only to full professors; Sandusky was a {enured assistant professor,

A high level administrator in Fuman Resources® at the time of Sandusky’s refirement met with
Sandusky to explain the arrangements and processed some of ihe paperwork. She was
interviewed by the Preeh group twice. She stressed that she was not asked or pressured to do
anything different for Sandusky than for any other employee, and noted that many employees
with 30 years of service were considering faking advantage of the window. She stated that the

emeritus statis was nousual bui exceptions wers sometimes made, and said Sandusky had been

awarded-this status due to his many years of successfil coaching,

Others jnferviewed who were in a posiiion o Imowledgeably cornment on Sanduslky’s reifrement
were consistent in stating that they had no kuowledge of anything untoward in regard o his
refirement arrangements. Those interviewees included high ranling adminisirators in Finance

and Business,? and in Homen Resources for Athletics at the ime of Sanduglky’s retivement and
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immediately afterwards.*® One® noted that the emeritus award was sometimes made as an

exception for employees who were “well thought of”

A football equipment manager who was a close fiiend of Sandusley,” said that Sandusky had fold
him that he originally had wanted to coach for three more years, but that it was Hnancially

advantageous to him fo retive within the window.

Only 3 of the 8 providing opinions that the relirement was “possibly suspicious™ were in dizect
position to have kmowledge of this maiter, and none relaied any specific problematic facts about
Sandusky’s retivement; all merely noted that the arrangements were “unnsval.” These meluded
Rodney Ericlson, President (and Provost at the time of Sandusky’s retirement) as well as two top

level adminisizators in Foman Resources,®?

The reraining 5 inferviewees who considered the relirement potentially suspicious were
individuals who had had no direct involvement with Sandusky’s retirement. Their statements
consisted of speculation (e.g., wondering why Sandusky retired early) or rumor-mongering. ™ ¥

1213 14

Conelusion: Not a single interviewee provided any conerete information indicating thai

Sandusky’s reiirement amrangerments were made due fo a motivation to hasten his departure from

the coaching staff.

! Freeh Report, pp. 55-61,

2 Interview, March 14, 2012.

3 Tnterview, April 10, 2012,

* Tnterview, Jamary 24, 2012.
5 Interview, December 15, 2011,
8 Interview, January 24, 2012.
7 Interview, Febmary 15, 2012,
8 Tnterview, January 4, 2012,

? Interview, February 2, 2012.
10 Interview, May 21, 2012,

N Interview, January 10, 2012,
12 Interview, April 24, 2012,

B Interview, May 1, 2012.

¥ Imterview, Apil 8, 2012.
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APPENDIX 2.5
Tnterview Analysis and Summary: Were janitors fearful fo report wrongdoing?
s Analysis of tnterviews indieates janitors were got fearful of reporiing wrongdoing.

Ofihe 10 interviewees addressing this question, 3 provided information supporting the idea that
janitors were fearfutl, and 7 provided disconfirming information. Respondents mecluded 1

curreni/former trusiee, 1 senior administrator, aud 8 current/former janitors.

This line of inquiry centers around en incident that occurred in the fall of 2000, where a janitor
(identified in the Freeh report as Janitor &) observed Sandusky in the Lasch locler room.
performing oral sex on a boy. This janitor was not interviewed by the Freeh group; three janitors
present that evening were interviewed. One of those (identified in the Frech report as Janitor BY)
had observed an adnlt and a child in the shower (he could only see their legs) and, apparently
mnconcerned, he waited for them fo finish so he could clean the shower, The Freeh report stated:
“He waited for the two to finish their shower, and later saw Jerry Sandusky and a young bay,
around the age of 12, exit the locler room holding hands.” This differs from the account in the
interviews notes for Janitor B, which did not mention the age of the child and did not say they
were holding hands. From the notes for the interview of Janitor B: “While he was mixing the
chemicals for the cleaning, he saw the doors open and Sandusky walled out of the shower with a
young boy. [He] said something like ‘hello coach’ and Sandusky acted completely normal —
[Fanitor B] did not notice anything umusual ebout his demeanor at this point. The boy did not say
anything.” Janitor B stated that shortly afterward, Janitor A ran out of the shower room, very

upset, and said he had seen Sandusky performing oral sex on the boy.

Another janitor worldng that evening was identified in the Freeh report as Janitor C? Accounts
from Janitor B and Janitor C agres that Jantior A spoke of seeing oral sex, was distranght over
vhat he had seen, and both accounts indicate that Janfiors B and C urged Janitor A to report the

incident fo police or to their supervisor. Both said they offered to assist Janitor A in making the

report.
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Janitor B said he told Janitor A 16 or 15 times that he should report the incident, but Janitor A,
‘who was a wage and payroll (part time) worker, was afraid he would lese his job. Janitor B (a
full time worker) seid he felf that he would be fired if he reported Janitor A’s story. In fact, it
was Janitor B who later reporied this incident o the DA’s office afier he read the March 2011

newspaper article about Sandusky.

Jenitor C’s account differs fom Janitor B’s, stating (apparently in response to a direct question)
that he had no recollection of any discussion regarding fear about fosing their jobs in retaliation
for reporting the incident. Janitor C said that had he witnessed the incident, he would likely have

become violent with Sandusky and wounld have reported fo the police or his sopervisor.

Althe time, it seems Janitor C was skeptical about the veracity of Janitor A’s report. Jenitor C
did not mow Janitor A well and thought perhaps Jamitor A had a drinking problem or “may have
been making it up.” Janitor C was reluciant to make the report himself becanse the information
was second hand, be was not sure if Janitor A was credible, and he respected Sandugky. Janitor
C told the inferviewers he was concerned abort making a false report, citing Proverbs in sayiag
thet ii is a sin o make felse wilness against someone. Janiior C also appeared to belisve that

university policy required only the person observing a problem to report.

Another janitor worldng that night (Janitor D) was interviewed by the Freeh group, but his
statemenis were not included in the Freeh report, Like Janiiors B and C, Janitor D stafed that
Janitor A wag very upset because he saw “something inappropriate” between Sandusky and a
boy, and he immediately urged Janitor A to report the incident to their supervisor. From the
interview notes: “In response to questions, [Janifor D] says he has no idea why {Janitor A]
would not report what he saw. [Janiior D] advised that wage/salary employees made about half
what the regular employees made and of course if you were someone causing a problem or
creating problems for the bosses then maybe ¥ would affect getiing hived but in this stmation,
[Tanitor D did not think reporting this would be & problem in any way.”

Notes from the interview of the janitors® supervisor * indicate that: “In her opinion there is not an
atmosphere of fear among the janfiors for reporting a person such as Sandusky and no one should

be concerned about losing their job for reporiing.”
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Four ofher janitors who worked in Lasch Building et the time of this incident were interviewed.”
678 None said they would have felt concern over losing their jobs if they had made such a
report, All said they would have reported (except one who made no comment either way). The
janitor who was on vacation and was replaced by J anitor A the night of the incident was asked if
being wage/payroll stams would have mads him relnctant o report; he responded that: “IT it had

been him he would have drug Sandusky ouiside and waited for the police to get there,””

Two inferviewees who were not divectly connected o janitors at Lasch Building commented on
the likelihood of janitors reporting an incident such as the one involving Sandusky. A high level
adrministraiors outside Afhletics'® stated his opinion that janitors were likely to repori only o a
supervisor due o the hierarchical nature of themr union: he made no reference to janitors being
fearful of losing their jobs. A former trustee’ made note of the failure to report by the janitor as
an indication of a flawed culinre within afhletics, but he appeared to only be referencing the story

rather than contributing any independent information.

Conclasion: Only one person having direct involvernent with the incident, or with the Janitors
who worked at Lasch Building at the time of the incident, deseribed a fear of losing their jobs as
5 resulf of reporting Sanduslky’s improper behavior with a chidd, The interview material
indicates that the janiiors’ failure fo report was due o factors other than concern abott

reribution fom an all-powerfil football culture.

! Interview, August 2, 2012.
2 Tnterview, August 2, 2012.
3 Tnterview, August 9, 2012,
* Interview, April 5, 2012.

5 Tnterview, August 3, 2012.
& Tnterview, August 9, 2012.
7 Interview, August 9, 2012.
8 Interview, August 9, 2012.
? Interview, Augusi 9, 2012,
W Ierview, April 8, 2012.
U Tnterviev, March 15, 2012,
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APPENDIX 2.6

Interview Ansalysis and Summary: Was Coeach Joe Paterns powerful beyond his role as
head foothall coach?

e Analysis of interviews indicates that Paterno was NOT powerlul beyond his xole as
head football coach.

Among the interviewees who provided information relevant to this question, 20 supported the
idea that Coach Paterno was powerful beyond his role as head football coach, and 44 refuted this
idea. Analysis by category of respondent indicated the following breakdowns: cmrent/former
trusiees (8 yes, 7 no); senior administrators (1 yes, 7 no); football program siaff (1 yes, 12 no),

Adtbletics Department (2 ves, 4 no).

Most of those who belizved that Coach Paterno was powerfnl beyond the football program
provided generalized commenis without specifics. A former trusiee characterized Paterno as
“the ‘king’ in the monarchical culture of intercollegiate athletics.”® Another trustee said Paterno
was “the mosi powerful man in Pennsylvania, even above the Governor.™ Two individuals, a
trustee’ and a former Tootball player,* used vulgar metaphors, saying that “nobody could take a
dump” and “a toilet wasn’t flushed” without Paterno knowing about it. One former trusiee said
that other frustees feli that Paierno was a god, or were afraid of him.” Interview notes for another
former trustee stated that “he knows nothing aboui the situation but opined that Paterno had too

much power.”®

A few provided concrete reasons for their opinions that Paterno was very powerful: A forrer
football player said, “I knotw how things work on campus, Paterno is more powerful than the
governor” becanse “he took the endowment from nothing to where it is today.”? A f.{mner
trusiee felt that Paterno’s advocacy for academic excellence following his first national
championship indicated that he feli he was above the board.® A faculty member recounted the
board’s inability to convince Paterno to retire as an indication of his power.” A senior
adimindstrator said that Paterno’s press conference (following the annonncemment of Sandusky’s
indictment) indicated {hat the board had no control over Paterno and “he had to go.'? A former

football trainer said that some decisions involving ofher sports “had to go through Joe.”!!
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The majority of those refiuting the “a]1 powerful” description spoke of Paterno as a highly

effective, dedicated, conscientious head coach, Repeatedly, interviewees described him as

disciplined and adhering to high standards for himself as well as players and staff; bis dedicztion

to compliance with exiernal regulations as well as to his own code of personal ethics was

emphasized,

Several inferviewees direcily contradicted the idea that Paterno’s power extended beyond the

football program, A cument trustes stated that the hoard was not afraid of Paterno.™* A senior

adeministrator in Athletics said “people are wiong if they believe thai Paterno ran the

wniversity.” A head coach said, “Ue did not ron the Athletic Depariment. When they would

would constanily refer to the AD and president as other coaches did.
ers on any issues a head coach would have and

talle about issues, he
Paterno referred to thezn as the decision-malk
said they will make the right call. Paismo deferred to the President and AD on Athletic
14 A memnber of the foothall coaching stafl concumred, saying,

elf¥15 Another fooiball coach

always

Department wide decisions.
“Paterno believed in the chain of command and followed it hims

anid that Pern Siate was “not a Joe Paterno-run nniversity” and added “there are no corners cut

with Joe.”’6 A senior administrator in Student Affairs involved in student disciplinary matters

“not a fan of Joe Paterno” becanse he made inguizies when his players got in trouble, but

was
5 and a trosteet®

stated that his siaff operated compleiely independently.!” A senior administrator!
otk debunked the rumor that Paterno had thrown Spanier and Cizley out of his house when they

went to discuss his retizement.

Conclusion: A minority of interviewees believed that Coach Paterno held power in the

university beyond his role as bead football coach; most of those individuals expressed

reputational generalizations without basing them in concreie details, and some of those wha

ovided reasoning for this position referred fo Paierno’s leadership fn fundraising and

pr
academics,
majority of the individuals in direct
oversiepped his role as head football coach — members of the football program, the Atbletic

s _ stated that Paterno respecied and adherad 1o

indications of positive influence but not misuse of power, Importantly, the great

position o observe incidents where Patemo could have

Department, and semior wriversity adminisirator,
the hierarchy of autherity within te nmiversity. Resalts of this analysis demonsirate that

although there existed a belief among some individuals that Paterno was more powerii! than a
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football coach should be, those with direct knowledge of Paierno’s actions viewed him as a
highly effective coach with high standards of personal ethics who followed the rules and
respected the university’s admindstrative hievarchy.

' Interview, March 15, 2012,

2 Interview, March 15, 2012,

3 Tnterview, May 3, 2012,

* Tnterview, May 1, 2012.

3 Tnterview, March 13, 2012,

§ Interview, March 22, 2012.

? Interview, April 18, 2012,

5 Interview, March 13, 2012.

? Tnterview, February 21, 2012,
1 mterview, April 10, 2012.

U Interview, April 20, 2012.

2 Tnierview, April 12, 2012,

B Iuterview, Febmary 7, 2012.
Y Interview, January 13, 2012.
15 nterview, February 28, 2012,
18 Tnterview, December 20, 2071,
7 Interview, December 6, 2011.
'8 nterview, February 10, 2012.
1 Interview, March 8, 2012,
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APPENDIX 2.7
Interview Analysis and Smmmaxy: Do student athletes receive special freatment?

o Analysis of interviews indicates that athletes do not receive special treatment in
disciplinary matiers or academics.

Of those who provided information related to this question, 9 interviewees said aihletes did
receive special treatment, and 79 said they did not. A breakdown of roles is important o provide
context for those providing affirmative responses: Penn State law enforcement persormel (2 yes,
5 no); State College law enforcement personnel (2 yes, 3 no); senior administrators (2 yes, 16

10); Football program employees (1 yes, 14 no); trustees (1 yes, 8 no); administrative stafl (1
yes, 15 no).

Taw enforcement officials on and off campus commented ihat sometimes staff from the football
program advocated for student athletes in ways that they felt were ineppropriate.) 234 This
opinion was shared by two administrators from Student Affairs® ¢ One of these adminjstraiors
was Viely Triponey, former Vice President of Student Affairs; her time at Penn Siate was

extremely controversial and is addressed in a separate section of this report which shows that her
credibilify is in guestion.

One interviewes said that foothell players sometimes were given access to athletics facilities in
ways that were against the rules.? A frustee said he thought there probably was something to the
allegations that athletes are given special freatment, but had no concreie knowledge to report.’ A
past president of the Penn State Alumni Association had heard rumors of athletes receiving
special treatment in disciplinary proceedings, but thought that if this was frue, such incidents had
happened long ago and were not cusently occurring; he noted that Joe Paterno had a reputation

for being very sirong about discipline of his players, and tecalled that Franco Harris was benched

for several games for being in “Paterno’s dog house.”

The great majority of respondents said simdent athletes did not receive special treatment, This
included & administraiors in Student Affaig 10 11 2213 ¥I5 181718 Several of these individuals

had worked in Student Affairs for decades and reported that athleies were neves freaied

AFP 25




differently than other students in disciplinary matters. One said “the integrity of the Student
Affairs Office is beyond reproach.”® Another was “ademant” that student athletes were not
given special freatment and emphasized thet, at Penn State, “people have been doing the right

things for a long time,”20 2!

Three faculty having close ongoing relationships with Athletics and student athletes, some dating
back several decades, were tmanimous in reporting no inierference by Athletics on behalf of
student athletes. 2 2* 2 One said that Spanier and Curley made it clear that anyone violating
NCAA rules would be fired;?® another noted that Paterno often adyvocated for more stringent
rules than required by the NCAA* One siated that “the cufire” was understood, in that student
athietes knew they needed to be successfl students, and coaches did not try {o undermine the
academic integrity of student athletes.® Two former deans® 3 agreed with these faculty, one
stating that in 50 yeuars, he was never aware of any facully being asked to give special Greatraent

1o athleies,!

In comirast o the concerns voiced by a minority of law enforcement officers, the majorily who
were interviewed believed thai student athletes did not receive special ireatment. A retired
officer of the PSU police stated that during hiz 25 years, he had not seen a patiern of preferential
treatment of foothall players by campus police; he noted that some officers might have been
more lenient while others were “exira hard” on them, and added that he was not aware of any
interference by adminisiration into police matters involving athletes,** An officer with the State
College Police Department for mote than 20 years said that both athletes and coaches had

consistently been helpfil when involved with investigations.®

Anthony Sassano, an agent in the PA Aftorney General’s office who was an investigator in the
Sandusky case, said there was no influence from administraiion or football coaches in regard to
arrest of stndents or athletes. He said the police department “did not show much mercy” on
football players. He noted that the Penn Stats Police Depariment was “legalistic” and “would

proceed if someone did something wrong, no matler who it was.”

A sepior administrator in Aihlefies said he was unaweare of any disparafe freatment of student

athletes, and said he sirongly believes in the ways that the Universiiy has infegrated giudent
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athletes into typical student life, for example, by allowing them fo have contact with international

students and nonathletes becanse they do not live in special dormitories.™

Conclusion: 90% of respondents, incloding adminisirators in Student Affairs, faculty and deans
with longstanding history of connections with Athletics, and law enforcement officers on and off

campus, reporied no special treatment of sindent athlefes regarding disciplinary matiers or

academics.

! Tnterview, December 21, 2011,
2 Interview, February 15, 2012,

3 Interview, Jamary 19, 2012,

4 Interview, December 21, 2011,
3 Interview, March 10, 2012.

& Interview, March 26, 2012,

7 Inierview, Febrary 1, 2012,

8 Tnterview, March 8, 2012.

? Tmierview, April 19,2012,

10 Interview, March 22, 2012,

1 mterview, December 6, 2011,
12 Tnterview, December 21, 2011,
B Tnterview, March 14, 2012.

¥ Interview, December 27, 2011,
5 Interview, Febmary 8, 2012.

16 Tnterview, December 18, 2011,
17 Inierview, December 19, 2011,
8 Interview, Aprl 12, 2012.

19 mjerview, February 8, 2012,
20 nterview, March 22, 2012.

2 Interview, December 6, 201 1.
22 tnterview, February 6, 2012,

23 Interview, Janmary 12, 2012.
2 Tnterview, December 7, 2011,
25 Interview, February 16, 2012.
26 Tnterview, Jarmary 12, 2012,

27 Taterview, February 6, 2012,
2 Imijerview, Febrnary 6, 2012.
2 mterview, April 10, 2012.

30 Tnterview, Febmary 16, 2012
31 Ynterview, February 16, 2012,
32 Interview, Febimary 1, 2012.
32 Tnierview, December 14, 2011,
3 Interview, January 4, 2012,
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APPENDIX 2.8
Interview Analysis and Summary: Vieky Triponey

e Amnzalysis of inferviews indicates that Triponey is not a eredible souree of
imformation. Inferviewees deseribed her as woprofessional and anfair in her
approach to disciplive of studeni-athleles, and said that her jeb performance was
unsatisfactory and led ¢o a contentious separaiion from the universily.

References to Vicky Triponey were found in material from 28 interviewees, primarily trustees
and high level adminisirators. Only two individuals, both frustees, spoke positively about

Triponey.' 2

Triponey was described in many interviews as conflici-prone, combative, and volatile. She
i

“lashed out” at President’s Couneil meeiings.” Others considered her “emotionally unhealthy,

“100 dominating,”” and “universally disliked.”®

Conrems were noted regarding Triponey’s management siyle. Former Provost and current
v 2

President Erickson’ noted that Triponey was not well regarded at her previous universify and

observed that she failed o develop good relationships with her senior administrators, who left for

other jobs. A senior University adminisirator reported that he conducied a review of complaints
that Triponey “abused her staff and used her staff for personal gain;” these reports were found {o

Dbe legitimate and Triponey was subsequently fired.®

Multiple interviewees described conflicts between Triponey and Joe Paterno in regard 1o
disciplinary matters involving football players. Both Triponey and Paterno were described as
unyielding in their positions;” their relaiionship was characterized as “contentious and
childish.”'® Erickson indicated that Triponey was “old school student affairs™ at a fime when
new approaches were coming inio praciice. Football staff believed Tuiponey was mnfair to their
players'! 12 and did not understand Paterno’s siringent discipline of his players.”® One of
Triponey’s senjor administrators said Triponey “had an axe io grind any time Athletics was
involved.”™ A special commritiee was sei up by Spanier and charged with studying and
benchmarking Penn State’s judicial affairs process; the administrator responsible for this work

said that both Triponey and Paterno supported the recormendlations.
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Following the Sandusky scandal, Triponey surfaced in the press, complaining that Paterno had
caused her to be fired.® 17 One interviewee stated that Triponey was paid $10,000 for her
interview with BSPN.1® A trustee noted that despife Triponey’s claim that Paterno was the
source of her dismissal, the trustee believed that complaints made by a number of trustees who
felt Triponey was “horrible in deafing with people”™ convinced Spanier to remove her,” Another
srustee stased that Triponey “was the only person he could recall that made the University better

by leaving.”?

Clonclusion: Triponey was unprofessional and left the university under duress. She was known
o have hosiility towards Penn State Athletics, particularly Joe Paterno and the football program,
and seized the opportunity to obiain revenge and financial gain following the Sandusky scandal.
Her interview resulis are therefore not credible becanse it is not reasonable to expect that her

answers would reflect a fair porizayal of events or sifuations ocewrring while she worked at Peam,

State,

! Tnferview, May 3, 2012.

2 Tnterview, March 15, 2012

3 Tnierview, April 12, 2012

4 Interview, April 12, 2012.

5 Inferview, April 20, 2012.

6 fnierview, March 15, 2012,

7 Interview, April 12, 2012.

¢ Tnierview, February 2, 2012.

? Interview, April 12, 2012.

10 frierview, April 12, 2012,

1 yterview, February 6, 2012
12 Interview, December 7, 2011,
13 Inierview, December 5, 2011,
Y Interview, April 12, 2012.

15 Tnterview, Janvary 18, 2012.
16 Interview, February 2, 2012.
7 Interview, Janwary 3, 2012.

18 Interview, Jamuary 3, 2012.

9 Tnterview, April 5, 2012.

2 fnterview, April 16, 2012.
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APPENDIX 3.1

Frech press conference: Media eircus

Excerpled from: Silverwood, W. “Iyaximize your message to the mediz: Hold a
press conference” January 11,2017, Facehool Notes, Wendy Sifverwood.

héﬁuszifwﬁﬁsg‘bnﬂkeﬁmfmiesfwgmi%sﬁywesﬁfgz;g;imize—v;&m—mesgage—ﬁ&%&w
§1eéﬁa—hg!&a—;:aregs—s:mé’egema!ﬁﬁ%&ﬁ?ggﬁ%EEL}E__Z' '

Waximize Media Attendanece: Hold a Press Confevence
Trech Press Conference - July 12 2012, Philadelphia

Why a press conference? Is appropriate to hold a press conference when you bave

significant hard news fo release and wand to convey it to a broad andience.

Pro Tip: Create a media-fifendly set-np. The set-up should inchude a podinm and,
a microphone for the speakers 10 use when delivering the#y comments.
airs for the spealers and/or attendees.

typicaily,
Depending on your venie, you cani glso provide ch

FYS yras a new veniure for Freeh and e frm had zo frack record.
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“We had a huge amount of emotional feelings for the victims. Which is one of the
reasons why we did the one press conference ~-we had to do one press conference, but it

wasn 't aryihing Iwanted fo ialk abour ever again.”

http:/Hortune.com/2013/07/25/lovis-freeh-on-penn-state/

Why would Freeh consider doing his first ever press conference for Penn State? FSS
could just as easily bave presented the report at University Park before a special session
of the Trustees, The Board - who held a fiduciary dniy — could then properly assess and
respond to My, Freeh’s opinions within that report. This would have been just as
sensitive to the victims and delivered on the commiiment the Eoard made when they

engaged Freeh and his fledgling firm.,

Pro Tip: Pick an easily accessible site. Your location should be convenient for the

media to access and, when possible, relevant to the news you have to annoumee.

Originally, PR fitm Kelest & Company wanted to hold the press conference convenienily
in NYC, but it was nltimately decided that it should be held in Pennsylvania, given this

was a move relevant location dealing with the state’s flagship university.

The press couference was held in the ballroom at The Westin in dbvmmvm Philadelphia.
Local TV affiliates of ABC, CBS, NBC, Fox; metzo DC & NYC media outlets; and the
national TV and prini media outlets such as CHIN, WST, ITYT were in attendance.
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Pro Tip: Hold it a the right time, Timing is very important for press conferences. The
best choices for coverage are usually Tuesday through Thursday, in the late momming or

early aflernoon (between 10 am and 2 pim), so that reporiers can meet their deadlines.

The Date
The date of Thursday, July 12th was special because it was one of the slowest sports

news reporting days of the year and if you wanied maximum media exposue for
something that invelves a very high profile college football program and its coach, this is

the day.

The Timing
A 9 am release of the prepared remarks & planned upload of the report to the web - with

a 10 am press conference - allowed reporters to comfortably file and repoxt a sensational
story in time for the noon news cycle.

L

The date and timing of Freeh’s dramatic press conference and release ox the Hreeh report
ensured that there wounld not be any more meaningful review of the Freeh report itself by

national news ouflets.
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Bomnus factor: the Summer Olympics were starting at the end of July when many sports
and national reportezs would be leaving shorlly for London and covering the Games.

Thus they would not be inclined to fully review, vet and repoat on the Frech report.

This maximized even more the impact of Freeh’s messags, something that shouldn’

maiter for & non-biased, full, fair and independent investigation.

Before the press conference
The full Freeh report, wiich was 267 pages and included 702 endnotes and 105 pages of
appendices, was to be made available i the media and the public exactly ons hour befors

his 10 am press conference.
Bug that didn’t happen.

An article posied by Deadspin at 2:35 am the morning of July 129 coniains a document
with & talking point for an “unexpected” 2:05 am difficuliy with the websiie — which is

cudons — becanse il’s oot 8:05 am yel,

Clearly, there was intent to not make the full report as accessible as FSS wanted the

public o belisve, and o have the media rely heavily on the Remarks & Key Findings.

The Freeh Report Will Conclude Paterno’s Firing
Vas Warranied, According To These Preparation

Documents

& Vi PR STATESCARDAL xu n
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g:05 Thank you for beararing with us. Apparently there
have been some gitficulsifties with the website. We are
working to errail the repc®0rt as soon as we can, Please
hear with us a bit lpnge;. . Inthe meantime, we have
copies of Mr. Freeh’s stateéement,

geginning of G&A

we will now belong the Q&4 period. Please raise Your
hand i you wouild fike 16 ask a question and wait 10 be

Additional falki ints for t
ttional falling points for the planned press conference were also relrisved and posted

by Deadspin.
a: Does the evidence suggest the removel of presicent Spanier wWas apprapriaie?
A iYes, we helieve it tloes)
Q: Does the svidence support the tapminztion of Coach Paierno?
A [ves, we helieva it does.]
Q: Do you believe Coach patemno did all be should have to report these allggations?
As {No] .
a: Da you belleve Coach Patemp was protacting Mr. sandushky?
Al W can oply reporton what Conth Patemo did and died not da. We ara nct ascribing motives or
mativation.
o Do you believe Coach Paterno had o0 rmuch power at PSU?
A [To come}
[aX3 po you helizve anyone else was protecting M. Sundusky?
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[1] hitp://deadspin.com/5925339/the-frech-report-will-conclude-paternos-firing-was-~

‘warranted-according-to-these-preparation-documents.

The Timing during the press couference

8:57 a.am.

Louis Freeh issued his prepared remarks.

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

FEMARKS OF LOUS FREEH IN CORJURCTION WITH ANNOUNCERENT OF
PUBLICATION OF REPORT REGARDING THE PENNSYLVANIA STATE
URIVERSITY

Philadafphia, PA, July 12, 2012 — Louls Freeh today lssued preparad remsrks in
conjunctfon with today's publication of his report of the investigation info the facts and
circumstances of the actions of The Pennsylvania State University surrounding the child
abuss committed by a former employee, Gerald A. Sendusky, Mr. Freeh will summarize
ihese remarks durlag his press conference at 10 aun. {oday.

hitp://www.chssports.com/collegefootball/FreshReport Press Releass 07 12_12.pdf

WNews siies and Twitter [if np shorily after, a narrative was shaped, all in time for the noon
news cycle.

8:59 a.m

Freeh report: "Total disregard for “%Eé?@ safety and
welfare of Sandus

. By The Palrict-News 5, Pant
Follow on Twitler [ ZEmzil
are July 12, 2032 a1 {:59 AR, upeated July 12, 2012 al 9134 A4
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9:00 a.m.

ESPN Blg Ten |
@ESFN_BlgTen

“Wasars. Spanier, Schuliz, Paterno and Curley - rapeatedly
concealed orifical facts relating to Sandusly’s child abuse

00 Al - 12 Jul 2@32
S AN 1 O K %

8:13% a.m.

COLLEGE

Freeh Report ?@5@&?@ State £ @%ﬁ@%ggﬁmimﬁﬁ Joa P
lky’s Child

1 07T DT et ] Upited i d

This virtually instantansous and unifornly negative reporting just before, during and after

his press conference perpetuated the many npproven assertions and opinion-based
conclusions, without any evaluation or analysis by the news outlets. The timing did not
afford any meaningful opportunity for the four principals involved, their representatives,
any newutral third party or even the Trustees fo assess o even respond to Mr. Freeh’s
opinions.

Clearly, the release of the report was meticulously staged for mexdnum impact and

minimnm chance for any kind of a rebuital.

907 2.0,

The University issued 2 brief statement in responss to the selease of the Freeh Report,

with a mags email at 9:10 am.




July 12, 2012

Statemznt from University leadership and the Board of Trustees:

Today with the repori released by judge Louis Freehy, the Penn State Board
of Trusteés delivered on the commiiment we made fast Movember when
we engaged fudza Freah 1o conduct an independant investigation into the
University's actlons regarding former Pann State employee, jerry
Sendusky, and tha handling of allegations of the child abuse crimas of
which he has since been found guilty,

9:10 a.m.

Onvvard State — Penn State’s student ron blog - was able to obiain a copy of the Freeh
report as a PDF before the “crash” and place it on their site. These sident reporiers were
able to pore thre pordens of the report, while not everyone else in the room had access.

Iitip://onwardsiate.com/2012/07/12/live-blog-frech-report-on-penn-siate-release/

9:31 a.m.
Pennlive reporis this vsing just the key findings:

J@% Paterno, others covered up j@fﬁgﬁ Sandusk

By Sara Ganim ] The Patrdot-Nows =, Print
Follow on Toitter {hEmall
o July 12, 2012 ot 9:51 A, updated Januory 21, 2013 28 12:37 PN

9:40 a.am. — 9:45 a.m.,

With the press still having problems accessing the full report - two USE diives, and then
a third~ were given ol to hrmriedly share among a full room of reporiers to download the
report onto their laptops. A fintile effort if you'se a reporter who can’i access the websiie

and yvou have {o wail your fum for a USE.

This ensured that the media conld not read mmuch more info the report past the Kay

Findings before Freeh ook the lectem at 10 am.
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9:52 a.m,
The NCAA released the following statement:

“Lile everyone else, we are reviewing the final report for the first fime today. As
President Emmert wrote in his Novenmber 17" letier to Penn Sicae President Rodney

Ericlson and refierated itis week, the uriversity has foir ey grissiions, concerning
compliance with institutional control and ethics policies, to which it now needs io
respond. Penn Siate’s response io the lester will informn our next steps, including whether

or not o iake further action. We expect Penn Sicie’s corninned cooperaiion in our

examination of these issues.”

However, Chair of the NCAA executive commiftes BEd Ray later admitted that he never

fully vead the Freeh report and only looked at the executive snmmmary and press accounis.,

Tn his testimony in the Paterso Family’s ongoing case, Ray admitied that he was unawars
that he needed to prep for anything related o the Freeh Report before the organization’s
execwive board met fo discuss possible sanctions on the University. Instead, Ray spent
fime in Hawaii where he was wunable to read the entire report. Ray said he retumed on the
19th or 20th and approved the consent decree an the 21st without actually reading the |

report that was the basis of these sanctions.

5 worth noting that the entire Freeh report was viewable and downloadable online for

the entirety of Ray’s trip and two days before.

*Sa | may havelooked al Ure esvective summary when it came oul, and certaily mﬁ pressacsounts, but 1 doal Bieve 1 wead orvas able fo dovinload
sl god & copy of (e Ba1 reporf it alter T ol back, which was about 1lie e of The pross conferenze {armumpdng the Conserl Decse), orsumuthing

iorlly therenfter,” Ray aid to Wick Sclers, the Falerno fandy favyer.

10:00 a.m.
Louis Freeh took io the lectom.

Pro Tip: Make it visual, Consider the visual impact of your event — especially for
photographers and TV cameras, Display a banner behind the speakers and on the podium.
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Pre Tip: Have aun sgenda. Start prompily. It is unprofessional {o keep the media
waiting. The entire press conference should not last more than one hour, including the Q

& A

Freeh’s agenda was to reinforce pre-determined themes to the media and the public at

large.
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Talling Points / Freeh Presser Q & A prep/ Kekst & Company
Kelst was the PR firmn handling the work for the “special commitiee of the Pennsylvania
State University board of trustees that is investigating the university’s actions with regard

to the allegations of child abuse” and coordinated efforts with Freeh Spozldn Sullivan.

Felesi’s Penn State team includes Tom Davies, Jeremy Fielding, Stef Goodsell & Jim

Fingeroth. Tom Davies was the press conference moderator.
Q & A prep done by FGIS, LLC Managing Director, Walter Donaldson, I

. o~ & pation.
A e betiave it would rank themvedy féghty, among the best In thie a3t
r What recommendations wavkd you Jige to 550 2 educational Instilutions sdopting?

AL i 1hirk the reommendations are vatid loeevery institutlon of higher fearning.

wdaties Doraldsen 1) {
bragoy Deeats i
2 Gelatioret LLG
Freuh SAFT laﬁsttxss._ﬁc:;! Felar i
RYZER s ] [ it
e, S VRS
frt o< YRR
C gl -6
i »*;&:\szﬁ g

hitps//www.scribd. com/document/99880230/Permn-State-Q-A
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APPENDIX 3.2
Freeh press conference statements: Krroxs

Excerpted from: Blehar, R. (2013). Sandusky scandal report 2.
ké‘éﬁz!fﬁs‘w‘msrcﬁém&k.ﬁamf&_&yﬁ_&:gésﬁﬁ!ﬁiﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ@imﬁm 2 - meaa sanciiony follopdf

Judge Freeh’s press conference statements on the following pages are evaluated against ihe
20 errors and omissions cited on page 4. Bid indicates lines siruck hased on the ervors and

omissions,

Our most Faddening znd sobering flndinzis ihe total disregard for the safety and welfare of
Sandnsky's child vietns by the mest senic: leaders at Peam State. Themost powerful men ot
Penn State Failed o tale sy steps for 14 vears o protect the children whe Sandusly 1'1mez—¢s,
[1fmgsrs. Spmler. Sehultz, Pateno and ww:lev asver demonswaged, dzrmgii acions orwords, oy
soticer fot the £afary and well betng of Sandugize's viedins untl after Sanduslys grrest.]

In erifies? wriiten « ~az:cespméeme that we uncovaed on Aarch 20ch ofthis vear, we see evidinee
of their proposed plant of aetton i February 2001 that mriudeémpomaml!aghnms ahaug
Sandusky 1o the autheriries, After ] ‘\i& (iuri"'szozasulzééw:h B, Parerno, howevar, they
changed die plan and decided uot 1o make arveportio de sutharies) Their fafluee to prowt the

Febmm 9, 2081 child victim, orgna_ke attempts to identifi-him, created a dangerous sitnzdon

LY

for other unknewn, unsuspecing voung bovs who were fured to the Pan Statecampus and
foothall games by Sanduchy and victmized repestedly byl .

BPILEHNE

The umea reasons by \Ies‘:s, Spaniar ‘1\,11:.1112 Paterno and Curley forpotwabing action fo

(1) Through vounsel, Messrs. Curlevand Schultz have stated thavile “humans™ thing to do it
2001 wasto careflly andre»pensibl, assessthe best way to hondle vagie b zroub!mg

.
allegations.

{21 pir, Peterno said thar T didn’t know exacly howw handle ftond I was afeid o do G
something that mightjeopasdize what the university procedure was. So [backed away and mumed Cﬂmmﬁt Erﬁ%i-ms-ﬂ o
ftover o some eﬂxarpcnple people I thought would have a lide more experdse thanTdid & gmar Sy R AG U2

didn vwork outdhat way,” ) [

{31 3. Spanier wid the Special Iivestgatve Counsel that he was never told by anwone thatthe ;

Febmary 2001 meident in the shower involved the sexual abuse of a child but anly “haorsing £ | anal AR IS Eo tm e
aronnd.” He further stated thathe never agked what “hersing sround” by Sandusky entailed. ; ;‘f"" aaguE R
{
. . ¥ . r [ nt [0

Taking into accountthe avallable witness statements and evidence, ivismore reasenablero I i“;mfmiu :r] g
conelude that, in order to avoid the casequences of bad publichry, die mostposvarfyl leadars i/ J U nammant attar J
o Brate Universivy - Ressrs, Spanfer, Schmler, P;nem:n and Cuxi«.v v %Lpaaradlv concealed Fa Cammesnk [rtapof:gras sy prustizay

J Fhrst helevetay Moliezeny s repaiTannsdaan

cxideal faces reia!mgm Sandushy’s chitd abuse fram the mwhorities, the Board of Trustees, Penn ;‘I,’
Siat;: commiiiiy, and the wbhc at largs. ;Aiﬂlt\u ih r:cmr:cfm totreatthe dzilé a‘bus%rﬁlmﬁmeh g

Crmm&n&;E:%’iBléjt b33
i velg eiearg ofs

Furdher, they sxposed this child 1o addidonal harmy by oleing Sendusky, whe A
swas the only one who knewthe child's identity, abc;;t what MeQueary saw iz the S
shower o thenightof Fébmmiv 2008 ‘
{The evidence shows that hess fow men alyo new aboura 1988 criminal investigadon of i
Sandusky :elmnwzo ;,usmf:'ed sexu&i tilbt‘tfﬁé‘&tt with 2 v ol.mﬂbr;n In 2 Fen State f“«;wzball &

126 5 28l TErs o .:zg,
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Edifs to Freeh Press Conference Findings — 12 July 2012

[\r. Patemna was made aware ofthe 199§ invesigation of Sandusky, followed it closely, but

failed to take my action, even tough Sandusky had been u key member of his voaching swif for ..

almost 30 years, and hadan o Ficajust staps away o B, Fatendo’s. (AT e very least, Mr.
Paterne could have atersed the enire foothall iz i in order voprevent Sandpshy fom bringing
andther child fuee the Lasch Building, Dizsws, Spanier, Schuliz, Paiema and Covley alsp failed w

aler e Board of Trusees abourthe 1503 v eriganon o ke any fuiher acdon azanst b,
SanduskyNone of them even spolea to Sandusky abouthis cenduct i shor, aothing was dang

and Sandusks was allowed to continue witl inypunity.

Based on thé evidence, the only nown, intervening facior between the dedsionmade on
Febritarv 35, 200§ by Messrs. Spauier, Cusley and Schulzio reporithe incideatio the

Deparonant of Public Welfare, and then agrasingnot 1o do seon Fabroary 27¢h, was Mr.
Patema's Febrary 26t convarsathon with Mr. Culey.] | .

P R R LR R R AL ]

TWe never had the opporimity to talls sith Mr. Paterno, big he did sur what b told MeQueary on
February 10, 201 1 when MeQueary reparted what he savw Sandusky dolugin the chowerthe
uight before: “Vou did ewhat vouhad to do. Itis my jeb now e figure out wehar we wang o de.”
Why would anvone have to figme ous what had to be deneta these clircumstancas? five alsa
Lnew thathe delayedvepouing Sandusky’s sewnsl conduct heeause M. Patemo did net “wangio

eyt Rt Sy Aptut- i SN SRS WRENE PR S
NS

inveifere” with peeples wesbend, Tl bis aredi, Mr, Pataruo stgjed on Movamber 5, 2011 WL

the benefit ofhindsight, fwizh Ihad donemore™

(Thelr callous and shodking disregard for child victhms was mderscored by the Graud Jory] which .-

Wevember 4, 20171 presenunent that there was ho“atiempt to invesigate, 1o idenuiy

noted B its
Viedm 25

repeourrenes on Linivarsin propery”

[Vome of these four men wokiany respensible aciion alier February 2001 other than A Curleg
informiing the Secend Mle that Me. Sanduslerbad showered wiil a bes) though ey all
fnewr sbouy e 1095 meliend the bestthey conld muster 2o protect Saud

although we found no evidence that ihe Penn State Board of Trustees was swars ofths
alfegations regarding Sandusiyin 1998 and 2001, that doss netshidd the Board from criticisi.
‘In this mater, the Board ~ despite its dusies of care and gversight of the University and s
Officers - failed ro create an exvironment which hedd the Thniversinys mast senior leaders
accountable o it. Mr. Spanjerresisted the Boards awemps to have more ransparency, In facy,
around the fime that &, Sandusky, Mr. Curleyand My, Sehelez wers arrested, Al Spanier was
wwifling 1o give the Board any moreinfonnation about what was seing on than whathe was

providing t» the public, :

{afier amedia report onazeh 31,2011, the Board was pui oh netee about seriovs allegations
that Sendusky was sexmally assaulting children on the Penn Stase cavmrsl The Beard failed i fis

duty £o make reasanable ingniry inta these sexdous maiers and o demand actien by the
President

1 fo protaa thar child or others from simifar gondnet sxeantes related 1 prevennng s

b

1
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Edits to Freeh Press Conference Findings — 12 July 2012

([ Bresidens, a Senior Vice President, and Gensral Counsel did notperferm their duty ro make
fmely, thorongh and’ ‘f’mﬁmajﬂ_repam ofthase 1596 and 2001 allegaionsto the Board. This was
2 failure of guverhance for which e Board roust aleo bear rasponsibifiee,, L

Ve alsa found that;

e Thé Board didnothave regular repoying procedies or comiminee sbucturesto ensure
dizclosura ofraajor risks 1o the Tniversicy;

s Some Trustees felt diel meatings were g “rubber st&.mp process for M. Spanierzacilons;
o The Board did ot independently ask for mere lnformation or assess thevnderepening by
Syanier shouzthe Samdudrrinvesdgadon after May 3011 and thereby faffed 10 overses

property his executive managenent of the worst orisls in Penn State's histors;
s TheBoard was over-confident In Spanier's abilides ro handle erizes and was naprepared 1o
deal with;
- the filing of erliminal chiarges againer senlor Universicyleadere and s provaineir
former Toothall coadh in Wovember, 701 1; and,
«  the fidng of Coach Panuso,

From 885-2011, Pein Sgte’s "Tone atthe oy for ansparaicy, compliziee, 1 police reperting

and ekild protection was completelwrong, as shown by “the iusction and conczalient o the

part of its must sentor leaders; and foftosw ed by thase at e bovom of die Unwc_m wrepzamid L.
af power, This s pestredectsd By the janiiors’ dea{don ot io 1epart sandustey s i ge 2600
sexual aseals ofa vomg bovin fhe Lasch Enilding shower. The janitors were afrald efbeing

fived fov vepoting s powertd footbalk coackd

Ctzmmeﬁz{rﬂs.'i@] YTRE PobEE,E, 4, and
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Analysis of Freeh’s Remarks During the Question and Answer Session

The following remarks were made by Louis Freel during the question and answer period

preceding his formal repori af the press corferencet  Red fype indicates the

allegation/siaternents that are unsupperied based on e eryors in the Freel Report ihai were

identified on page 5 of this report aid the ivial verdicts at Appendix 4.
20:40 - “the evidense clearly shows, in our view, Hiaphive sEreemeai (o coimeal”
22:20 - “fhe rages of these boys ocerred in the Lasch Building”

24:12 - “feeloblizzied 1o Bdvisg fheBEard on a dmely and filsome basis. That clealy did not

X

happen here in 1998.

26:00 ~“Bistvsen: 2009 and 2011 goriie of e saire thimgs it alluded 07 (refewsing fo
Sandusky interacting with youth on the PSU campus)

96:70 “the reasonable conclusion thet we make is that all fowr individuats, dat

T've meniioned inchiding M. Pateiin tmade ¢ dedisitn —aiade o degision % seiively eoficeel
Imowlades in the svents of Febiugry 2011. Tcan’t parse between them, degrees of responsibility
- what’s significant and shocking is that the foir of them, The fur mest gﬁcrfnl people 5t Pemn

e Uninersity thade 4 decision to-cofiveal s inforimation.”
28:18 - “As we put in our report, the motivation fo gvdid Y cehsennerees efbad publicily, New
iiast bad publicity.”

2852 - “What’s siriling about 1998 is nobody eves shele to Bandusky. Not one of those four

persons. Including the coach who was a few steps away from his office. There’s no indication
anybody spole to him.”
30:08 - “Well ws kndve when M Culey spisfls to s Sécbad Mile be veéd the sams wérd, that

they were worried about Sandusky showering with a boy because of bad publicity. 3o this

1 fptpeflwrerw youiube.com/watch?v=g_afZMa5HIA (PBS)
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notion of bad prbchyy, wihich is veally Seclosnie, opering; aud mposting, s a gervadive contem
mi fagr by those ranning the university.”

30:55 =*Tlera"s seveydl sumatls = somlomporaneois vkl —in 1982, which we found by the
way, which g ba's (Baterno) olpely following e cage, He's claaly following s 1598
fsdiigation.”

33:08 - “The janiiors, that’s the tone on the bottom. Ok. These are fhe employees of Penn State
who clean the locker rooms in the Lasch building wheis vanag béys are being rapedl. They

witnaes, what is probably, in the report, #ie mest herifle vipy, that’s desaribed”

36:20 - “He (Patemo) as someons once said, mades perbaps the worst mistake of his life. We're
not singling him out. ‘We're puiiag him i a ealegory of il ather people who.ave the oy

moyfer Jezders of Fona Sinte... He whesn infogral et of the aptive desivionto syricenl.”
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TWENTY CRITICAL ERRORS/OMISSIONS IN THE FREEH REPORT

The following st is provided to quickly identify some of the most crifical errors and omissions
in the Freeh Report. The list of errors and omissions is not all inclusive, but identifies many of

those which were used by the NCAA as a basis for levying sanctions and Freeh’s press
conference remarks, The errata® published with the Freeh Report did not identify any of the
errors contained below; therefore these errors remain the record today.
The Freeh Report:
1. Omitted Federal and state laws regarding the confidentiality of child abuse reports.
2. Tncorrectly found thai Patemo, Curley, and Spanier kmew the details of the 1993
investigation (nons of the e-mails used as evidence confain any deiails about the
investigation).

3. Tncorrecily found that Spanier fafled in his duties by not informing the Boeard of Trustees
about 1998 (based on the Standing Orders of the BOT, the e-mail evidence, Spanier’s
sravel schedule, and his statement — Exhibit 27 - he did not know of the investigation).

4. Tncorrectly found that Paterno, Curley, Spanier, and Schuliz were kept informed of the

1998 investigation of Sandusky (e-mail evidence shows they were not kept informed).

5. Incorrectly found that Paterno and Curley provided Sandusky with access to facilities for
conducting programs for youth (access was granted by PSU’s Outreach Office).

6. Constructed an incomplete timeline of Sandusky’s crimes.

7. Did not investigate the claims by Gary Schultz and Wendell Couriney regerding
confacting Cenire County Children and Youth Sexvices (CYS) about the 2001 incident.

Did not address {he changing testimony end non-specific information rep orted by Mike

L]

2 hﬂ;&:f!@mgmss.gm.edu!assat—;fcngienthouismFreeh—Reamr‘é—on—?mwS‘iﬂ%&—E&RﬁTﬁ.—
SHEET.pdf
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MecQueary regarding the 2001 shower incident.
9. Omitted the testimony of Dr. Jonathon Dranov regarding the 2001 incident,
10. Incorrectly characterized e-mails as “cryptic” and “unique” to the 2001 shower incident.

1. Incomrectly concluded that Schultz, Spanier, and Curley had agreed to report the incident
to DPW, but Patemo changed the plan.

12. Incorrectly concluded that PSU failed to report Sandusly in 2001 to avoid the

consequences of bad publiciiy.

13. Did not investigate the potential conflict of interest issue between DPW and The Second

Mile that was mentioned by police chief Thomas Harmon doring the 1998 investgation.

14. Incorrectly stated Pateimo, Curley, and MeQueary should have reported the 2001 incident
to comply with the Clery Act.

15. Incomrectly found that Paterno did not report the 20071 incident immediaiely becanse he
didn’t want to interrupt anyone’s weekend (Paterno informed PSU officials on the
weekend. In addifion, Paterno’s schedule reveals that his out of town iravel delayed his

report by a day).
16. Incorrectly recounted the twial testimony regarding the Fall 2000/ Victim 8 incident.
17. Did not critically analyze testimony in the Fall 2000/ Victim 8 incident.
18. Incorrectly stated that Victim 6 was assaulted (Sandusky was acquitted of that chargs).
19. Incorrectly stated that Vietim 7 was assaulted (Sandusky was not charged with assaulf).

20. Incerrectly stated that Victim 5 was assaulied (Sandusky was acquitied of that charge).
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APPENDIX 3.3
Penn State Athletics and the Culture of Academic Excellence: A Fistorical Beview

Tt is indisputable that off the field, Joe Paierno’s focus for his football teamn was their acadermnic

snccess. One needs no futher proof than the successfil Grand Fgperiment and his bold 1983

challenge to Pexn State’s Board of Trustees — to upgrade the academic curricutum, faculty and

Paciliiies and fura the school into & world class vniversity.

The sthietic department had been upgrading academic requji‘emems for years before the late

1960s when Paterno, in his tenue a8 head coach, began institnting the Grand Experiment, His

belief that Penn State conld become an elite collegiate football power with athleies who wers

superior on the feld and in the classroom tock these gspirations to a higher level. “People tell

me it can’t be done without sacrificing standards,” Paterno said in 2 1967 ariicle in the
Philadelphia Daily News.!

Paterno wwas realisiic. He lmew most of his players would not be scholars but he wanted them 1o

be good students, “people who belong in college ... [learning)] art and Lierature and music and

ATl fhie other things college has io offer.” Easy conrses were out, and tougher ones were in. And

over the decades he and his staff pushed them all 1o get their degrees and becomae good ciiizens
contributing to society.”

Tn Paterno’s 46 years as head coach, the graduation rates of his players were among the best in

{lie nation. Since the NCAA 2nd the American Football Coaches Association began racking

annual graduation rates in the mnid-1980s, Penn State football players have praduated at an

average percentage rate in the high 80s, with graduation 1aies of minority players also averaging

i1 the 80s—both far above the national average.? 136787

Thirty former chairs of the Universtty Faculty Senate from varions soademic backgrounds are o1
the record in 2012 supporting the athletic dep ariment’s academic success and sixict adherence 1o
the rules. 1% One former chair, Dr. Johm Wichols, was a founder and one-tirne chair of the

Coslition an Tatercollegiate Athfetics, 2 naiionwide alliance of 63 university faculty senates with

FBS [iv 1] football programs concemed abowt the irajectory of athletics in an academic

chairs believe the academic intentions and performance
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of our athletic department over many years has been among the best of peer institutions and

meany people oniside Penn State may not realize that,” said Nichols, now professor emeritus of

the university’s College of Commmications.!* 1*

Thirty-one of Paterno’s players became first team Academic All-Americens with thirteen of
those selected as first, second or thixd tsam Ali-Americans on the feld. Five of his seventeen
players who received prestigious $18,000 posigraduate fellowships from the College Foothall

Hall of Fame were also first team All-Americans !

Dennis Onkotz, Charlie Pittman and John Urschel are living bookends for Paterno’s Grand
Experiment. Onkotz, a inebacker siudyigg bio-physics, and Pittman, a running back majoring in
business, were in Paterno’s fivst recyuiting class and became Academic All-Americans in 1969 as
well ag first feam All-Americans on the feld. They also were the first Paterno players io receive
a hall of fame §18,000 post-graduate fellowship and went on to successful business careers.!* B
Urschel, ean offensive lineman who was in one of Paierno’s lasi classes of recruiis, was ihe
premier scholar-athleie in the conniry in 2013 when he received the esteemed Sullivan Award,
presented by the Amateur Athletic Union as the nafion’s outstanding amateur athlets, and the
William V. Carpbell Trophy, given io the nation’s oufsianding college football scholar-athlete,
by the National Foothall Foundation and College Hall of Fame. Urschel eamed bachelor and
master’s degrees in mathematics and a masier’s in mathematics education with a perfect 4.0
Grade Point Average af the same time becoming a two-time All-Big Ten starting guard and a
second-feam All-American. He trned down Princeton and Stanford to attend Penn State
because he said he wanted to play for Joe Paterno. He is now pursuing a Ph. D at MIT and
continning his foothall career in the National Football League with Baltimore. 1817

It was Penn State’s first national championship team in 1982, led by Academic All-American
Todd Blackledge who won the Davy O"Brien Award as the nation’s ouistanding quarterback,
that sprared the Board of Trustees o invite Paterno fo talk about his team af the {rusiees meeting
on Jan. 22, 1983. Patemno swrprised everyone. Instead of discussing football, Paterno
concentraied on academics and the deficiencies of the tniversity in that realm 1% 19

“Tt bothers me to see Peun State football be Number One and. . .several weeks Iater and ws find

out we don’t have many of our disciplices that rated up there with other insiitutions in the
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counity,” Paterno told the trustees. “We need money so that we can get some stars... We need
vibrant, aggressive, brilliant teachers and scholars... We need chairs [of departments]... We need
a better library.,. We need more confroversy, we need more freedom, we need more people to
come to us with different ideas, we need more minorities ... We need to find our soul .., We

have got io raise $7 to $10 million bucks as far as 'm concerned in the next six months or we are

going o lose some things and an opportunity we have, 72021

With the full support of the Board of Trustees and the administrations of Presidents Johm

Oswald, Bryce Jordan, Joab Thomas and Graham Spanier, Paterno’s call to academic arms
sransformed Penn Stats into one of the couniry’s great public universities. In the next three
decades, Paterno’s financial challenge helped raise billions of dollars to fudfill his academic

vision--inclnding nearly $14 Million toward the $34.4 Million ezpansion of the library ithat now

bears the Patemo name—while also personally contributing $5 Million

Ty honor of Joe and Sue Paterno’s long Hme cornmitment to academics, Penn Staie’s College of
Liberal Arts in parinership with the school’s Schreyer Honors College named iis new fellows i
program in 2008 afier the Paternos. The program for undergradusates requires a commitment that
includes “completing a specified number of honors or honors-equivalent couzses, mainfaining a
high grade average, and completing a research-based or creative capstone profect.” As the initial j
news release a’adu‘t the program staied, “The (Paternos) embody academic ambition and
excellence in the liberal arts tradition that is a haltmark of the Fellows program — as well as iis
comrnitment to ethics, leadership and service...In their many years at Penn Sizie, the Patemos

have consistently advocated that excellence is not something reserved for 2 few elite, but a trait

that showld be pursued vigorously by all.”™?

Paterno’s eniphasis on academics and his Grand Experiment were not born in isolation. They
were an extension of Penn State’s long history in the sducation of students participating in
varsity sports, a siruggle between academics and the offen tainted world of intercollsgiate
athletics that goes back to the era of the so-called “tramp athlete” in the late 1600°s and early
1900°s. When Penn State began competing against other colleges in the late 1880s, the students
organized and ran the teams under an organization entitled the Athlete Association starting with

haseball, football, izack and basketball. Some faculiy assisied in an advisory capaciiy--but not as
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coaches as now defined--while others bemoaned the Hime siudents spent playing sports of any
k:ind.% 272828

In Jemuary of 1899 the ultimaie authority for albletics was given to the alumni, a move that
would change Penn Stete athletics forever, Nine years later, the alumnd created the position of
graduats manager, a position that continned wniil the eatly 19508, and. superseded the avthority of

the first three athletic directors 203!

The alumni wielded so much power and influence over the next several decades that eventually
in 1928 the adminisiration was forced to take control and radically cut back the athletics
program. In 1907, the Faculty Commitics on Athietics helped implement four new rules on
eligibility that set academics as a priority for varsity sports, inelnding one that required athleles
be eorolled as students within two weeks of the siari of a semesier and another declaring students
be ineligible if they did not achieve a certain level of grades,* 3

However, the sindeni body rebelled at the passing of new eligibility rules that would eliminais
the “tramp athleie” syndrome then inherent in iniercollegiaie athleiics. In that era it was
commeon for athletes o move fom school to school, sometimes within the same academic
semester vear, sivailar 10 a vagrant who travels aimlessly on foot. Two of Penn State’s most

famons historical athletes bore that tainted designation — Levi Lamb and Lee Talbot.***

The rules would have made it mandatory that athletes spend a full year in the classroom and pass
a “satisfactory examination for advarcement” before joining a varsity team while also playing
“for no more three years.” Not uniil a period from 1911 through 1914 were those rules adopted
under the presidentiel leadership of BEdwin Sparks, including a rule that made anyone ineligible
who had received a “Bachelor’s degree from this or any other college of equal scholarship

standards™ or who had competed in infercollegiate athletics at another college equal/similar

standardg 63738

Meanwhile, on & national level, Penn State also was involved in helping fo organize a new group
of college presidents to bring stability, standard miles and continuify in college athletics. In 1905
the Infercollegiate Athletic Association of the Uniied Siates was bom. Oddly, Penn State was not
granied membership in the New York based gronp witil 1908 and one year later, the crganization

of 50 colleges changed its name to the National Collegiate Athletic Association, or NCAA 374
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s no coincidence that the emphasis on eligibility and the classroom evolved during a 22-year %
stretch (1906-1927) when Penn State foothall emerged as an intercollegiate power in an era long :

before the creation of national polls. Tn retrospect the undefeated 1911 and 1912 tearns are DOW

considered national champicns by some hisiorians.? 2% The teams from 1919 fhrough 1923

were umbeaten in 30 straight games, playing an intersectional schedile in such venues at New
York City, Washington DC, Qegitle and the 1923 Rose Bowl in Pas

ege Football Hall of Fame and five others became first

adena, Five players from that

period have been indncied into the Coll
teamm All-Americans, later becoming highly successful in such professions as medicine, business,
higher education and the milifary- 44454647
By the early 1920s, college football rivaled major league baseball and horse racing as America’s
favorite sports, but eollege dmminisirations and faculty became concerned about the

overemphasis of intercollegiate athletics in the acaderic environment. In Janmary of 1526, the

sement of Teaching began examining the place of athletics
all but influential

Carnegie Foundation for the Advan
on 130 college campuses, including Penn State, Al aboir the same time, a sm
Penn Siate alumni faction led by Al Seerstary Mike Sullivan began pushing for the de-

emphasis of all intercollegiate athletics, particnlarty football. s efforts also coincided with a

nevw, reform-minded college president, Ralph Heizel 84950

etic department, the adminisiration and aluroni creaied anew 13-
1927, two monihs afier the

Tn the restruciming of the athl
man Board of Athletic Control to oversee all sports. On Angust 10,
arrival of Hetzel, this board with the approval of the board of trustess, ended all financial aid fo

athletes, banming scholarships starting wifh the entering class of freshmen in the fall of 1928 and

reducing other spending. (As of 1924, 75 student-athietes were on scholarship or receiving

finaneial aid.) To furthex stress academics, the board also recommended the separation of sports

from the Departmert of Physical Education, which oecarred in Jannary, 1930 with the oreation

of 2 new School of Physical Fdueation to replace the PE department end giving ail coaches

academic ranl under the supervision ofa achool direcior who would not be 2 coach.’t %
Whe=n in 1927, Penn State officially informed the Carnegie Fommdation of the Board of Athletic

Contiol’s actions, the foundation’s final report eronsously cited Penn Sizie as one of the

“whose athletic standerds were 0ot consistent with is educational end ethical
add a footnote to its repori, but

insitfutions

values.” President Hetzel later persuaded the study committee 10
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the footnote was completely ignored by the public and media, a sifuation remimiscent of the false
narrative propagated in 2011-12 about the alleged culture of football at Penn State. 5354

Even before the elimination of scholarships, the quality of the football program had begun to
deteriorate. With the elevation of physical education to a complete academic school in 1930,
Frogh Bezdel relinquished his head coaching position fo become professor and director of the
new school. Bezdek had been a national leader against the creeping “professionalism™ in
intercallegiate athletics. His seven-year tenure as director of the School of Physical Bducation

reinforced his philesophy with academics e major priority. > %

However, without financial aid for athletes, the fooiball team spiraled downward inio mediocrity
under Coach Bob Higging, a two-time All-American end on Bezdelc’s best teams who also had
been a good student, graduating with a degree in Commerce and Financs.*” % From 1930
through 1938, the team. did not have a winning season. Eazly in the decade alurmni and other
friends helped Higging by recruiting young men from the coal mines and steel towns of
Pennsylvania. They found them subsidized housing and jobs fo help pay their twition and bools.
What the alumni did cireumvented college policy bui was not against the NCAA rules, aud as the
1940s progressed Penn State was relevant again on the field, climaxing with the undefeaied

Cotton Bow! team of 1947 that finished No, 4 in the nation, 57 6061

Afer the 1948 season, Higgins refired and was succeeded for one year by Joe Bedenl:, another
Penn State All-American under Bezdek and long-iime assistant to Higgins. With college footbhall
again changing in the post-World War II years, the board of trustees in May of 1949 autherized
the implemémaﬁon of 100 tuition scholarships for athletes, A vear later athletic financial aid
was restrucitred with 30 full scholarships that included tnitfon, room and board for foothall,
Within moniths additional full scholarships and tuition-only were authorized for all sports.526

Under college president Milton Eisenhower, the hiring of 2 new football conch and athletic
divector in the ealy 1950s revolationized Penn Staie’s étud&n‘t~ athletes. Charles “Rip” Fngle,
with success on the fisld in the academically-siringent Ivy League at Brown University and
farmily roots in cenlral Pennsylvenia and Penn Stnie, became the head coach in the spring of 1950
and brought his graduating quarterback, Joe Paterno, with him, Vet i was the hiring of
Michigan’s experienced administrator Bmie McCoy in 1952 as athletic dizecior and dean of the

School of Physical Educaiion that vas the catalyst of the academic advancements. 54 63
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McCoy, a shrewd businessman who also believed in the education of athlstes and following the
rules, overkauled the athletic department, inchiding its administrative and finaneial operations.
McCoy eliminated the 2hmni-dominated athlstic board of control that supervised all spoits from
inframurals to varsity. As dean of physical education, he bolstered the athletic department’s

academic rigor, making it more attuned to the same standards of Penn State’s other academic

componenis such as Engineering and Business.®® %

Coaches comiinued to teach in the clagsroom as they had done for years, but now witl: more
divect responsibility to School of Physical Education through associate dean John Laviher, the
suceessful former men’s baskeiball coach (1936-49), who was a true academic.® @ Penn State’s
Faculty Senate helped implement new entrance tules that required athletes be admitied under the
same gualifications as non-athleies and o male the same academic progress as non-athletes.
MeCoy explained to The Daily Collegian, the Penn State student newspaper, in 1959: ...
{athletes)must either be in the upper two-fifihs of their high school graduating class or score high
in the college board exams or pass a university-given entrance fest, .. Under senate regulations, a
student is put on probation when his semester average falls below 1.7...An athletic (scholarship)
will be removed if an athlete is not maldng normal progress toward a degree. This “normal
progress” means o stodent must have aconmulated am All-University average of 1.4 at the end of
his freshman vear, a 1.6, 2 1.8 at the end of his sophomore year and a 1.9 by compleiion ofhis
junior year. A 2.0 is necessary for graduation... I think our eligibility requivements are higher

than most other schools.”?

In conjunction with the new rules, assistant coaches monitored the classroom work of the
athletes and provided any needed tutoring. Tn. 1954, Engle placed assistant coach Frank Pairick
in charge of academic advising for football players, freshmen in particniar, as a collateral duty.”
What began then as a small step to support the proper education of Tootball players and other
athletes would one day grow inio a highly-praised natiopal exemple of academic sapport for
athletes that confinues to this day mnder the name of the Morgan Academic Center for Student-

. Athletes with a fnfl-fime siaff of 17 and dozens of pari-iimers in a brand new (2016) modem
facility loaded with updated computer tachnology.™

Na doubt the foundation of Patemno’s Grand Experiment was set by McCoy, Engle, and President
Walleer but # was Paterno who elevated the basic student-athlete education philosophy to the
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highest level. Some critics have attermpted to disparage Paterno’s Grand Experiment, pointing
parily to the admission of & mumber of student-athletes after 1980 who were football players
under special university rules.” Those “presidential admissions” had been in place for decades
for the general student population and were aimed at admifiing high school students with
academic potential but with inferior grades. Once enrolled, the students had to abide by

university’s regular academic standards, ™

Sorne of the football players who received “presidential admissions” went on to graduate and
cihers did not make it. The Grand Experiment continued, if diluted a bit from Paterno’s original
goal, but Patemno also believed he was giving those on. “presidential admissions” a chance o get
a degree, receiving all the same academic supporis as the other foothall players were getiing in

academic support wait, 75 78

“Presidential admissions were not just for football players,” said John Coyle, Penn State’s
NCAA and conference Faculiy Representative from 1970 to 2000. “The Presidential Admits
allowed consideration to be given also for talent fo admit freshmen on the main campus as Jong
as the prospective student met the umiversity-wide minimum academic requirernent. For most
vears, the number of special admits for the Blne Band, ROTC, Music, Theater, elc., far exceeded
the number of requests to consider student athletes. Then in the 1980°s, Penn State received
growing criticism for the refatively low number of minority athletes, especially in basketball and
football. Coach Paterno made a special effort to rectify this situation, but had 1o request more
special admits— a classic case of “damuned if you do and damned if don’t.” Actually, the normal
progress requirements for student-athletes were more stringent than maost D-1 institutions and

admission standards were higher than for some other Universities.””?

Uniil the scandal broke in late 2011, Penn Staie was considered the prototype of a clean athletc
program that followed the rules and pushed iis student-athletes towards academic excellence.
Despite attempis to te its image to the crimes of Jerry Sandusky, there has never been evidence

of academic sacrifice for football success.™ 7 8081
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APPENDIX 3.4
“Piliay of the Communiiy” Pedophiles

One in every five girls and one in every seven boys are sexzually abused by the Hime they reach
adulihood.! Despiie these nwrnbers, many victims do not report sextal abuse to anthorities or
even their families, for a vauiety of reasons ranging from shame or fear fo confusion.? This

means that in every commmunitly, there are both victims and offenders who are tnknown o

anyone.

The stereotypical child sexual abuser is portrayed as a stranger, lurlking aronnd sehool bus stops
or playgrounds in search of victims. As such, we feach children about “elranger danger” but
ignore discussing the statistically more likely situation that children are far more Iikely to be

victimized by someone they lknow.

It is important io fully nndersianding how offenders operate, which children are at hi ghest rigk

for abuse, and when/how {0 report child abuse suspicions. Most news reports revolve around the
“situational™ offender, who is more likely fo abnse children because there is an opportunity and a
desire to offend. Situnational offenders have no preference for a certain {ype of victim and fend to

be both sexually and morally indiscriminate. This is the “stranger danger” type of offender.

However, much less understood, and more diffculi to identify, is the “preferential” child sex
offender (PSO). How does this type of offender differ from the situational offender? While
sitnational offenders typically have no preference for age or gender and are Hicely unknown to

the vietim, preferential offenders have a distinct preference for and are sexually atiracted to

children?

“Nice guy” or “pillar of the commumizy offenders”

There is a sub-category of preferential child molesters known as “nice guy” or “pillar of the
community” offenders. While our siereotype of a child sexual offender views a molesier as an

svil monster, the PSO is quite the opposite, maling it very difficult for those arownd them 1o
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“gee,” or believe, that they have a sexmal attraction toward children, Characteristics of & nice guy

offender inchade:®

s High somal statns and/or working in a positon of anthority

® Trmndi}f, helpful, giving or loving and tales specizl interest in certain childrea or groups

of children.

o Often involved in organizations that serve children, such as schools, youth camps or
sports leagnes, churches, or youth charities.

o (Cains the trust of children by offering time, atiention ot oifis

May be socially awlward and pr efer the company of children over same age 4 adults

a

Whils a sitnational offender is driven by opportunity or impulse, the PSO will seek or use
positions where there is opporiunity o seduce and manipulate victims, families and commumiiies
in oxder to carry out their crimes. This is accornplished, over fime, through a process lmown as

“arooming.”’

Groonuing

The grooming process does 1ol only occtr with the intended victim. Offenders will also groom

families and even the local community. In addition,

and other institations, including state child welfare agencies and profe

sex offenders may groom criminal justice

ssionals, into belisving that

they present no risk fo children.

What does grooming look like?

Grooming nsuaily begins with subtle behavior that may not initially appear to be inappropriate,
such as paying a lot of attertion to he child or being very affectionate. Groomiog may invalve:®

o Anpmrelaied adult who seems overly interested n a child.

o An aduli who frequerily initiates or creates OppOr ‘unites to be alone with a child {or

muliiple children).
An aduli who becornes fixated on a child, soms imes at the expense of mimacﬁons with

their own children or Tamilies.
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o Anaduft who gives special privileges or opportunities to a child (e.g., rides to and from
practices, efc.).

e An adult befriends 2 family and shows more interest in building a relationship with the
child than with the aduolis

e An adult displays favoritism towards one child within 2 family.

e An adult finds opporivnities to buy a child gifts.

e An adult caters to the interests of the child, so a child or the parent may initiate contact
with the offender.

e Anadult who displays age and gender preferences.
Who is ar greatest risk of becoming a victim of a PSO?

At greatest risk of grooming and abuse by & PSO are those children, needy because of emotional
or physical neglect or who come from families immenrsed in siressfil life simations such as
divoree or inadequate financial resources,” Identifying children from these environments, the
P50 seduces themn witl: gifts, opportunities, attention, affection or whatever the molester
deterimines might be lacking from a child’s life. This molester identifics with the child, listening

and talking to them and gaining their trust as an anthority fgore.??

In public, “nice guy” PSOs are viewed positively by everyone around them. [n private, they
often push boundaries with children, lowering inhibitions by being very physical or playful,
sometimes discussing sex topics or providing pomography in order to make the child think of

sex acts as less taboo and more “normal 10

Why are PSOs difficult fo identify?

Because children are groomed info compliance by the PSO, victims will ofien not call out for
help or disclose that they’ve engaged in sexmal behavior.!! FEven though they may be suffering
psychological hamm, the PSO is freais them well, makes them feel special, and gives them access
to things or opportmities not otherwise available. And because these molesters are seen as
pillars of the commumity, even whea their social behavior may be perceived as odd or awloward,
it is simaply nofathomable o those arcumd them thai this trusted and well respecied person could

possibly be sexually abusing children. 2
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Prevention of Childhood Sexual Abuse

Despis the clear need fo prevent child abuse, most major offender management nftiatives center

around registering known sex offenders, notifying communities about offenders in their

neighberhoods, conduciing baclground checks on individuals wishing to woulc with children,
and giving longer prison sentences o offenders. These ate all reactionary measures and there ave
0 sciemiific data available that support their efficacy. 13 And, to date, there are virtually no

evidenced based programs o policies that focus on the area of child abuse prevention.

LitHle Inown facts abowt child abusers:™*

The overall re-offense rate for child molesters is significantly lower than that for other

cximinals
25% of victims are abused by a family member and 60% are abused by someone else

from their social network.

Omne fhird of all adult offenses against juveniles involve “compliant vicHms” or someone
who cooperated for a variety of reasons.

Tt is estimated that 93% of sexual abuse cases involve someons the child vicimn lmows.
Child molesters are more likely to be educated and employed than other criminals.

Policy and law focus on reporing, registration and notification, while ignoring the facis that that

children are actually at lower risk of being molestad by someone who is a known offender and

stranger than by someone within their own family or close social network. As difficult as it may
be to conduct research on “nice gy offenders (because they are unknown), reducing child

abuse will never occur as long as state and federal governmental efforts are reactive, rather than
proactive.

Additionally, while laws and policies have changed to increase the number of mandated reporters
and o edncate employees about how and when to repoit abuse suspicions, 42,000 calls to
Pennsylvania’s ChildLine went tnanswered in 2013 alone.”® If only a small fraction of those
calls were credible reports, how many children in the state of Pennsylvania have suffered, or are

siill suffering, at the hands of an wnioown abuser?
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APPENDIX 3.5
Psychelogical Science on Social Judgment

Why do people have difficulty helieving someone might not be who they
appeared fo be all along?

When we initially meet scroeone, we form an impression, Although there is an adage “don’t
judge a book by iis cover,” science has demonsirated repeatedty that first impressions are most
important. That is why ws iry so hard to “make o good first impression.” That first impression
sets the siage for how we continve 1o ses and understand that person. In fact, when we rst meet
2 siranger, the frst impression provide the only (and therefore, the most compeliing) information
that we have about someone. This is known as confirmation bias.! Al additional information is
Judged based o that initial impression. Thus, if our first impression of our new neighbor is that
he is a friendly guy who came over to help move arornd the furnifure that the movers put in the
wrong place —all other information will be judged by that standard. That is why neighbors are

often so surprised when a serial or spree killer is discovered in their neighborhood. We hear on

TV that “He/she was such a guief, polile guy.”

The faci that all additional information we receive about someone is then viewed consistently
with that first impression is known as the “halo effect.” This is an awtomatic thought process—
our perception of another pexson is “colored” by a person’s specific characieristic or behavior.
Because if is aniomatic (we don’t realize we are doing if), we judge the fotal person based on a
single factor —a person’s strength, weakness, physical appearance, or behavior. Soin the case of
that first impression of the neighbor (he is helpfinl and friendly), the halo effect means that we
see all of their other behaviors as fitting with that impression/ belief, In actuality, this automatic
tendency prevents people from being obj eciive-hecanse people do not always behave in just one
way. However, the halo effect means thai our initial impression causes us to ignore other

information becanse it does not it with what we believe we Imow 1o be the trth,

When we cammot ignore a pisce of coniradictery tnformation (we actually see our neighbor slap
his wife across the face), we automatically nse & {honght proeess called confirmation bias. We

take the contradictory information and work to undersiand It in a way that fits with ovr initial
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impression, So we malke excuses for the behavior — he must have been really drunk, she must
have said something horrible for that “nice guy” io do that. In short, we process and later
remember the contradictory information in a way that confirms ovr preexisting beliefs. We give
very litfle consideration to the fact that maybe our initial impression was wrong. We stick with
our initial impression because it is easier to force the new information into our overall belief
system rather than having 1o start io build a totally new perception/belief system about this

person,

But even if we cammof raiionalize behavior such as domestic abuse by thai “great guy™ next door,

why do so few people do something aboui it? There are several reasons:

1. People are often shocked or frightened by what they have seen or heard. They fear
thai the perpetrator may tumm and do the same thing or something even worse io the

person who reports or niervenes.

2. Particularly in cases when the behavior is not witnessed directly, people often doubi
themselves. “What if the person who told mé that is lying?’ The vast majority of us
have experienced false rumors being spread about ug and we know how difficuli it is
to combat those falschoods. Therefore, we arve ofien reluctant to act on negative

information passed on to s because of the possibility that it too is false.

3. People fear potential consequences should they get involved and report it. What if
nothing changes and they made it worse for the person being abused? Will the person
reporting be legally liable if it ends up being false? Could the person reported tum
around and sue the reporter for false reporting? Could there be some other type of

retabation?

4, People believe that if it was really happening “someone else must have reported it by
nov.” Most people have heard the story of Kitty Genovese, who in 1964, was raped
and killed in two separate late-night aitacks outside her apartment buildiﬁg in Queens.
Tor more then half an how, 38 respectable, law-ebiding citizens waiched a killer stalk
and stab a woman as she cried ouf “He’s killing me, please help.” Only one woman

eveniually called the police and that was after Kitty was dead. When interviewed
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later, many of the witnesses thought that it was “pome of fheir business” or T assumed

someone else had already called.” In this case, the horrific event was actually

witnessed. This assuraption that “it ig not my business” or “s0meone clse has

reported 1+ (called the bystander effect) is even sironger when the person did not

witness the concerning behavior first hand.

“Confrmation Bias: A Ubiquitous Phenomencn in Mamy Guises.” Review of

Nickerson, R
General Psychology, yol. 2, no. 2, 1998, pp. 175-220, doiz10.1 037//1089-2680.2.2.175.

2 1Jishett, R., and Wilson, T. “The Halo Effect: Bvidence for Unconscious Altersiion of
Tudgments.” Jowrnal of Personalily and Social Psychology, vol. 35, no. 4, 1977, pp- 250-256.,

doi:10.1037//0022-3514.35.4.250.
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APPENDIX 3.6

Factual Errors in Sandusky Grand Jury Presentiment

Backoround: Pennsvivania Grand Jury Proeesses

In Pennsylvania, an Investigating Grand Jury is an investigative and prosecutorial tool that can
be uiilized by a county District Aiformey or the Attorney General. Axn investigative grand jory
can be impaneled o hear and observe testimony and evidence o determine if there is any to
support the filing of criminal charges. 1f the investigative grand jury believes the evidence
presented by the prosecution wairants the filing of criminal charges against an individual or

individoals, an investigative grand jury presentment will be issued.!

The grand jury differs from a petii jury (al jury) in iis numbers and duty. A peiii jury usually
congsists of only 6-12 jurors while grand judes usvally have 23 jurors. Petif juries are tasked io
determine guilt while grand juries are not. Pennsylvania grand jurors sexve Tfor a period of 18
momiths, appearing in cowrt an average of 2 days per month. Although grand juries can be
gxtended for a lopger term, sometimes testimony on one case will carry over info & second

panel’s term.”

All evidence presented in 2 grand jury is done in slrict secrecy. All grand jury participents
including, but not limited to, jurors, atiomeys, and stenographers, are sworm {0 secrecy and
subject to prosecution for contempt if they disclose information. Additionally, all documents
produced and transeripis made refleciing testimony are available only to the Commonwealih, the

prosecution, and ave not available for public consumption.®

For a witness, sounse! can be present in the grand jury room dudng guestioning and is allowed o
advige the witness but cannot make objections or arguments or otherwise address the grand jury
or the atiorney for the Commonwealth. The supervising judge has the power to remove cotmsel
Trom the grand jury room. If counsel violates the rules of the grand jury, they ave subject fo a

charge of confempt.*
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Limitations of Grand Jury Proceedings and Presentments

The Attomey for the Commonwealth controls the investigation and dissemination of information
to the grand jury itself. The Attomey for the Commonwealth controls the witnesses and the
testimony they offer to the grand jury in both content and context. Consequenily, the grand jury
is presented with a one-sided version of the accusations in the light most favorable to the
prosecution. Judge Sol Wachtler once said thet district attorneys have so much influence on
grand juries that “by and large, a grand jury would indict & ham sandwich on the death of the pig,
if that’s what you Wan"{ed.’; ‘Wachtler believed grand juries “operate more offen as the

prosecutor’s pawn than the citizen’s shield,”

Because of their one-sided nature, preseniments issued by grand furies should never be
considered 100% factual, In the case of the Sondusky grand jury preseniment, there ave claims
made that have been shown io bs false, misleading or struciured in such a way as to focus
attention on cerfain individeals and create highly biased perceptions of the case, which were

propagated through sensationalisiic media reports upon release of the preseirtment.

Tactoal Ervor $#1: Including Joseph V. Paterno in P;’esenimeni

While federal srand juries must adhere 1o certain investigative rules and demand secrecy in
N

investigative findings to prevent collateral damage to innocent witnesses and other third parties,
Pennsylvania does not bind its state grand juries in such a manner. The failuie to regulats
precisely what is ineluded in the document does not provide those individuals with the ability to
defend themseives. Publicly mentioning Paterno siwongly implied he had committed & crime.
The prosecuting attorney has stated that there never has been ary evidence that Joe Paterno was

involved in perpeirating any ciime, so his name shotld have never beeh mentioned in the

presentment.’

Factual Error #2: Misrepresentaiion of Viethmiration Timeline

The investigators did not actually find any of the victims. The vietims were either self-reporied
(Victims 1, 9, 10), were reported (victims 3, 4, 5, 7) by the mother of Vietim 6 (1998 shower
incident), or wers hearsay victins not yet identified (Victims 2, 8). When crafling the

preseniment, proseciriors numbered victims by thelr enfry into the case, not by the dates of their

victimization.®
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From the 2011 Grand Jury Presentment using alphabetical identifiers for each victim
e Victim 1, AF — Reported abuse by Sandusky

e Victim 2, Ul — An incident was wilmessed by a graduate assistant in 2001 in a PSU
Shower

«  Vietim 3, IS ~ Abused in PSU showers/facilities by Sandusky (Identified by mother of
Victim 6)

o Victim 4, BH — Abuged in PSU showers/facilities by Sandusky (Identified by mother of
Viciim 6)

o Victim 5, MK — Abused in PSU showers/facilities by Sandusky (Identified by mother of
Victin 6)

e Vigtim 6, 71— Reported by mother in 1998 ~ Abnsed in PSU showers/facilities by
Sandusky

= Victim 7, DS — Abused in PSU showers/facilities by Sandusky (Identified by mother of
Viclim 6)

e Viciim 8, U2 — Not known, [dentified by hearsay witness (Janitor) — Reporied abuse in a
PSU shower by Sandusky

Based on this nambering system, the preseniment steers the reader to conclude that Victim 1 was
the first victim and Victim 9 the last. If as the reader is led to believe, these viclims are
aumbered chronolegically, then after Victim 2°s abuse was reporied to PSU officials, 7 others

would have been subjected to abuse.

But that isn’t what happened. This revised timeline shows how abuses reportedly occmred:

Chronological Timeling for Identifying Sandusky’s Victims

s Nov. 2008, Victim I, AF — Reported abuse from 2005-2008 by Sandusky.

e Jume 2009, Victim 2, ZK_— Reporied by mother in 1998. Reparted abuse in PSU
showers/facilities by Sendusky (acquiital on indecent assauli).

s Tune 2009, Vietim 3 BK — 2nd child in 1998 investigation. Reported abuse in PSU
showers/faciliies by Sandusky. Never brought to trial.
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Tune 2009, Victim 4, IS — Identified by “Victim 2° mother. Reported abuse in Sandusky
home, on tips, and at PSU.

June 20609, Victim 5, BH — Identified by “Vigtim 2’ mother, Reporied abuse in
Sandusky home, on trips, and at PSU.

Tupe 2009, Victim 6. J& — Identified by “Vietim 2° mother. Reporied abuse in PSU
shower by Sandusly.

Tune 2009, Victim 7, DS ~ Identified by “Vietim 2’ mother, Reported abuse in PSU
pool.

Nov. 2010, Victim 8, Ul ~ An incident was witnessed by a praduate assistant in 2001 in
a PSU shower.

March 2011, Victim 9, U2, Identified by hearsay witness (Jamtior). Reported abuse n a
PSU shower by Sandusky.

As shown, The 2001 incident that Mike McQueary witnessed was the second ic the last victim
account lenown fo the OAG and the final witness was hearsay {esilmony without a known victim.

There is no evidence fo support the notion that the handling of the 2001 shower incident by PSU
admimisirators led to multiple other children being abused.

Factual Brror 83: MeQueary’s Statement
By far, the most ouirageous sentence in the Sandusky grand jury presentment appesis on pages 6

and 7:
“He saw a naked boy, Victim 2, whose age he estimated 1o be ten years old, with his

hands up apainst the wall, being subjected to anal intercourse by a naked Sandusky.”

This statement has been dispelled on numerous ocCasions.

MeQueary family fiiend, Dr. Jonathon Dranov, testified that he queried Mr. MoQueary 3 times
on the night he wimessed the incident about whether he saw a sexmal act and 3 times he was told

0.7 e was one of the first two people to whom Mr. McQuesry spolke.’

Following the November, 2011 presentment release, MecQueary wrote an email fo a prosecutor

and 2 Sendusky investigator, claxifying what he had seen, “I cannot say 1000 percent sure that it
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was sodomy.” “I did not see insertion ... it was sexual and/or way over the line in my opinion,

whatever it was,”®

In more recent testimony in Sandusky’s PCAR hearing, Jonelle Eshbach, 2 Commonwealth
attorney who worked on the Sandusky case, also testified that McQueary asked for permission to
publicly correct the record but was asked by her not to do so for fear that he would jeopardize the

Commonwealth’s case.”

The December 16th, preliminary hearing testimony of Mike McQueary also proved the falsiiy of
the Sandusky grand jury presentment’s statement that he had reported seeing Sanduslky engaged
in sexual intercourse with a young boy. From his December 16, 2011 testimony are the

Tollowing quotes:
“I have never used the word anal or rape in this -- since day one.” (p. 72)

“T"ve already stated that when I saw his arms wrapped around the boy that I could not see

his hands...” (p. 75)
“I cannot say that I saw M. Sanduslcy’s hands on a boy’s gentials.” (p. 75)
“Twould not have used the words anal imtercouzse.” (p. 81)

“Tthink it’s clear T can’t remember the words I used.” (p. 102)

Although MeQueary’s testimony aboui the shower incident has since changed over time, this
sworn testimony, closest to the time of his appearance before the grand jury, strongly indicates
that his grand jury festimony did not inclnde staternents about ‘witnessing anal rape. McQueary’s
email atternpting to correct statements in the presentment further supports the idea that the

inclusion of this material in the preseniment can only have been a deliberate misrepresentation.

Trror#4: Wisrepresentations of Witness Credibility
The grand jury preseniment states that “The grand jury finds the graduate assistant’s testimony 1o

be extremely credible.” On the surface, this would seem fo be comnpelling in terms of the

strength of the testimony. However, grand jury panels change over time and sometimes
iestimony is camied over fo another panel of jurors. That was the case with the Sandusky grand

jury. The grand jury which issued the presentment and recommended criminal charges be
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brought against Sandusky was not the same grand jury to hear Mike McoQueary’s testimony.
And, in fact, 2 member of the 30th grand jury, who heard MeQueary’s testimony, disputes the
presemiment’s characterization of McQueary as “extremely credible.” Stan Bolton, a 53-year-old
cmployee of the Horme Depot in Yorl, Pa., says he was sleptical of MeQueary’s claim that
sexual acts weie going on between the boy and Sandusky because MeQueary also said that he
didn’t see peneiration. “This planted a seed with me — either you saw it or you didn’t,” says

Bolion, who was one of 23 grand jurors.'®

The presentment also states that the testimony of Gary Schulfz and Tim Curley was deemed not
oredible by the jurors and thai no reports were ever mede to “officials” regarding what they were
told by McQueary. Ii does, however, ackmowledgs that Tim Curley reporied what they were iold
i0 officials at The Second Mile, exactly what was required by PA law at the {ime.!! Despite
Curley’s action following the law sbout reporting, and no acton being taken by The Second Mile

officials, no one at The Second Mile who was aware of the 2001 incident was sver investigated,

let alone charged, for failure to report,

Tivor #5; Unpalanced Foeus on Pepw State
While the presentment aclmowledges that all the Sandngley victims were participants in The

Second Mile and that Sandusky was the founder and primary fundraiser for the charity, all
evidence presenied focuses solely on Penn Siate. Ttalso discusses at lengih testimony by a coach,
ot Ceniral Mountain High School who was an eyewitness o behavior by Sandusky that was
considered to be “suspicions” but states that once the child victim. and his mother came forwéd
with a complaint, Sandnsky was immediately barred from the school. What it doesn’t menition is
that when approached by the victim and his mothez, scho ol officials did NOT immediately report
what they were told to child welfare agencies, but instead told the boy and his mother to “go
home and think about it.> As reported in a book wiiten by Vietim 1, the school did not male a

report uniil they were threatened by the victim’s psychologist.

Conelusion: While the Sandusky grand jury presentment was sutomatically accepted as factnal
from the day of its refease, a more thorough review indicates that it was crafied to fully focus
attention on Penn State and away from The Second Mile, Central Mountain High Sehool, staie

child welfare agencies and local law enforcement. It was also writien in such a 'way as to create
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and anchor a perception by readers that individuals at Penn State knew of a “rape” and opted fo
keep it quiet despite the fact that a report was appropriately made, per law in 2001, o The
Second Mile.
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APPENDIX 3.7

NCAA, Freeh worked together®

ESPM, Nov 12, 2014

Don Van Natta Jr.

Coust documents filed in Pennsylvania show that the NCAA and investigators from a firm hired
by Penn State University to conduci a wholly independent investigation of the University’s
handling of the Jerry Sanduskey child sex abuse scandal worked closely in the investigation.
The firm, led by former FBI chief Louis B. Frech, published damning conclusions about Penn

State’s “lack of insHtutional control” that the NCAA, used as the basis for its sweeping sanctions

against Pean State in Joly 2012.

The cowrt documents filed Tuesday but released publicly Wednesday, obtained by “Ouigide the

Lines,” strongly suggest the NICAA provided an investigative blueprini to Freeh.
NCAA began less than two weelss after Penn State hived

Correspondence beiween Freeh and the
Freeh’s firm, with a Nov. 30, 2011, request from NCAA president Marl Emmert to spealc by

phone with Freeh.

Former FRI chief Louis B. Freeh, who led the mmvestigation of how Penn State handled the ferry

Sandusky child sex abuse scandal. From then on, correspendence and meetings between the

groups continued, the documents show:

« On Dec. 7, 2011, Freeh and his top deputies met with Donald Remy, the NCAA’s general
counsel; Fulie Roe Lach, then vice president of enforcement for the NCAA; Jopathan Barret,
ouiside connsel for the Big Ten; and other officials for three hours af the Nittany Lion Inn on the
university’s Siate College canpus.

« On Dec. 19, 2011, Remy solicited mput from & Freeh partner about the text of a leiter {he

NCAA was intending to send to Penn Stats,
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= The NCAA on Dec. 28, 2011, emailed Freeh’s top deputy a list of 32 guestions that sought
information about the cuiture of Penn State’s football program and university leaders® duty to

report suspected criminal behavior.

» Less than two weelks later, on Jan. 7, 2012, NCAA Iawyers and enforcement officials hosted a
two-hour video-conference call for 15 to 17 of Freeh’s investigators, deseribed by one of them in

ermail as an “education session.” In all, there were 13 conference calls with the NCAA during

the course of Freeh’s invesiigation,

Afier the Freeh report was released on July 12, 2012, Emmest attempted to have a direct

“principal to principal” diseussion with Freeh, an emai] five days later shows.

The culture of Penn State’s Tootball program and umiversity leaders” duty to yeport suspected
eriminal behavior were central findings of the Freeh report. The Penn State Board of Trustees
accepled all of the report’s findings, and the NCAA followed up on July 23, 2012, with severe
sanctions: a $60 million fins, the vasating of football team wins from 1998 o 2011, a fonr-year
posiseason ban, a four-year scholarship reduction and athletic department probation for five

years.

Although the NCAA ultimaiely loosened some sanctions, the fallont has coniinmed. The
documents filed in state court Wednesday ave part of a lawsuit filed by Pennsylvania Stafe Sen.
Jalre Cormean and state ireasurer Rob MeCord that challenges the NCAA’s $60 milion fine
against Penn State. A lawsuit filed by the estate of former foothall coach Jos Patemno against the

NCAA overthe sanctions and alleged defarmation of Paterno continues in siate court,

“Clearly the more we dig into this, the more troubling it gets,” Corman told “Outside the Lines.”
“There clearly is a significant amount of communication between Freeh and the NCAA. that goes
way beyond merely providing information. 1°d call it coordination. ... Clealy, Freeh went way
past his mandate. He was the enforcement person for the NCAA, That’s what it looks like. T
don’t know how you can look at it any other way. It’s almost Iike the NCAA hired him to do

their enforcement investigation on Penn State.”

“Al a minivmum, it is inappropriate. At a maximum, these were two pariies working fogether o

get an owicome that was predetemined.”
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Officials from the Freeh group had no immediate 165ponSe Wednesday., Remy said Coman’s

agseriions ars a “mischaracterization of the evidence” end “arc inconsistent with the facts.” “T

tinle the communications between the Freeh group and the NCAA were consistent with the
NCAA’s commitment to cooperate with the TFreeh group and our comzritment 10 monitor the

progress of that investigation,” Remy said. “Tnno way do those documertis demonsirate the

NCAA was doing anything beyond that.”
Tn a statement, Pena State said, “It has been pulilic knowledge for almost three years that The
University had agreed that the MNCAA and the Big Ten Conference waukd monitor the progress

of the Freeh investigation, While the NCAA may have made suggestions to the Freeh Group

 to e investigation, the scope of the Freeh investigation was established by the Penn

with respeci

Sate Board of Trusiees, as set forth in the Freeh engagement letter, not by the NCAA. The
that there ars many

University’s prelirainary review of the NCAA’s proposed guestions suggesis |
proposed questions that are not addressed in the final July 12, 2012 report.”
Remy has fold the court in the Corman {agsuit that fhe Freeh investigation “was entirely
mdepencieni from the NCAA.® “Yet based on discovery io daie in this matiex, this

characterization of the investigation is woefully incamplete,” Corman’s lawyers wrole in the

court documents fled Wednesday. “To illusiate, the NCAA®s mvolverment with the Fresh

Group was regular and subsiantive and began nearfy from the ouiset of the Freeh Group’s

retention by Pemmu State.”

Also among the documents is an email exchange between Cynthia Baldwin, then the general
counsel of Penn State, and Remy. In December 2011, Baldwin sent Remy 2 draft copy of a letter

1o more tipe io respond fo its

that she was preparing to send to Emmert and the NCAA seeldir
concerns about the Sandusky matter, Remy said he’d have some suggested fxes for Baldwin

soon. “Thanl yon,” Baldwin writes to Remy. “We await your cOmments and suggested
changes,”

Cormen seid: “Tt isn’t often you ask the person you are writing a letter to pre-edit that letter that

will eveniually be made public, mnless you are trying to orchesfrate some kind of cutcome. And

that’s what this looks Iike.”
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Remy disputed that on Wednesday: “We had a discussion: Do we need fo respond to your
letter.” To the extent we talled about that, it doesn’t show anything other than responsible
communication between the NCAA and Penu State so we wouldn’t get in the way of their ability
to have dirvector Freeh do his independent investigation. ... Mr. Corman’s snggestion that it is

amything beyond that is a gross mischaracterization of what actually occurred.”

Besides those meetings and early commumications and providing detailed questions, the NCAA
proposed search termns fo help Freeh’s investigators better search emails, the documents show.,
Remy also offered to provide a witness list to Freeh; it i unlmown whether one was given.
Emmert relied on the Freeh repori’s findings to foree then-Penn State president Rodney Erickson

0 accept the unprecedented sanstions.

Much of the language used by Freeh ot his news conference about his findings on July 12, 2012,
covered subject aveas that the NCAA had asked about from the beginning: lack of instinztional
- control and the culture problem at Penn State, And Freeh, during the news conference, focused
most of his criticism on Penn Sizte’s leaders: Patemo, former president Graham Spanier and

former university vice presidents Tim Curley and Gary Schuliz.

“T'm. angry,” Comman said. “When you read the other communications we’ve seen, the NCAA is
saying “we have an image problem.” So it looks Iike the NCAA was looking to fmprove its own
image at the expense of Penn State. And to do that, they were orchestrating an ouicome with
Freeh to make it happen ... A lot of people were hurt by the sanctions brought down by the
NCAA, and to think it was achieved possibly by this coordination by Fresh and the NCAA

makes me very, very angry.”

On I3ec. 28, 2011, Omar Y. McNeill, the partner and general counsel of Freeh’s firm, Fresh
Sporkin & Sullivan LLP, thanked Remy, the NCAA general counsel, for emailing 2 copy of the
five-page list of questions, Among the NCAA’s 32 questions: ‘“How has Penn Siate University
exercised institutional control over the issues identified in and related to the Grand Jury Report?
Were there procedures in place that were or were not followed?” Other questions were,
“Describe the eulture of the university as ii relates to ethical hehavior, Desciibe the culture of
the athletics departiment.” “Also, I await your list of potential witnesses, database search terms,

eic., you would like to provide,” McNeill wroie o Remy in a 12:30 p.m. email on Dec. 29, 2011.
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On Nov. 9, 2011, the Penn State Board of Trustees fived Coach Joe Paterno as outrage about the
Sandusky ellegations engulfed the campus. Nine days later, on Nov. 18, 2011, board mermber
Kenneth Frazier emphasized the former FBI director’s independence and his mandate fo find the
ath for Penn State’s community, “Hle has complete rein to follow any lead, to look info every
corner of the university to get to the bottom of what happened and then to make

recommendations that witl help ensure that it never happens again,” Frazier said then.

Af the time, Freeh told reporters there would be “no favoritism” in his investigation. He called
fhat assurance “the main condition. of my engagement” with Penn State. Freelys firm was paid

8.2 million by Penn State {o conduct the mquiry.

The disclasures in the documenis filed Wednesday echo a fact patiern in the NCAA’s handling
of the seandal at the University of Miaumi. In that case, the NCAA provided a list of questions to
a Miami lawyer in a banlouptey hearing fo attempt to glean under-oath responses from a

University of Mizini booster.

In an email from Remy to a top Freeh official on Jan. 6, 2012, Remy wrote that the NCAA had
prepared a PowerPoint demonsiration for Fresh’s invesiigators, but i ‘was general in nature and
not specific to Penn State. “As discussed, this informational briefing ig being provided to your
somm to illustrate how the NCAA enforcement staff historically has examined issues mvolving

institutional corrtral and efhical comduct,” Remy wrote. “We hope that it will be helpful as you
independently examine similar issues related to your charge. Of cowse, ii goes without saying
that af this time the NCAA. does not have an open enforcement inquiry or Investigation into ...

the issues at Penn State and this presentation is not focused on that institution.”

The sanctions handed dovm by the NCAA after the Freeh report’s release were unprecedented in
college football. Corman scoffed at that assertion, pointing out that a weelc earlier the NCAA.
had provided deteiled, Penn Siate-specific written questions to Freeh’s investigators. “This

appears io be an attempt fo cover something that is obviously an atfempi to collaborate and
cooperate,” he said.

Last weel, emails made public in the Corman lawsuit shoved that N CAA officials bad

questioned fheir own authority to senction Penn State end that enforcement officials weze
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hopeful that the university would be “so embarrassed they will do anything™ when Erickson
signed a consent decree accepting historic sanctions in July 2012.

“We could oty to assert jurisdiction on this issue and may be successful but #’d be a sivetch,”

wiote Roe Lach, the former NCAA Vice President of Enforcement, m an email on Joly 14, just
nine days before Emmert annomnced the sanctions against Penn State. “I characterized our
approach to PSU as a bluff when talking to Mark [Emmeri] yesterday aflemoon after the call.
He basically agresd b/c if we meke this an enforcement issus, we may win the immediate baitle

but lose the war when the COT [NCAA. Comumittee on Infractions] has to mule.”

The emails released last week also show thei the WCAA did not belisve it had the jurisdiction 1o
act against Penn State. I kmow we are banking on the fact the school is so embarrassed they will
do anything, but I any not sure about that, and no confidence conference or other members will
agree fo that,” NCAA vice president of academic and membership affairs Kevin Lennon wrofe
on July 14, 2012, “This will forcs the jurisdiciional issue thai we really dor’t have a great

answer o that one.”

In another disclosure of court records Monday, 2 longtitae NCAA stafl member said the NCAA
was “Image-conseious” and predicted the NCAA would take swill action against Penn State

shortly after the Freeh repori was released in July 2012.

In a July 4, 2012, story in the Cenire Daily Times, Gene Marsh, whe was hired by Penn State to
deal with the sanctions issue, was quoted as saying that the NCAA punishing Pean Stats after the
conviction of Sandusky and millions in civil settlements would be “like shooting road Iqll.”

Shep Cooper, an adminisirator for the NCAA’s Committes on Infractions, wrote an email about
those comments to Marsh. “For what it’s worth, I agree,” Cooper wrote. “However, the new
NCAA leadsrghip is exiremely image-conscious and if they conclude thet pursning allegations
againgi PSU would enhance the association’s standing with the public, then an infractions case
would foilow. Ilmow that Mark Emumert has made statements to the press indicating that he
thinks it condd fall into some sort of LOIC {loss of ingtiutional conirol] case.” Cooper ended the

eraail: “ Shooting road kil is an api analogy.”
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APPENDIX 3.8
Vicky Triponey: Biased Sowree

Nationally, Vicky Triponey is known simply as “The Woman Who Stood up to Joe Paterno.”!

However, according i;o.ﬁle Penn State administrators, faculty and stedents who withessed her
behavior during four years as Penn State’s Vice President for Stadent Affairs, Triponey is not
remembered as the sole voice of concern in a so called “corrupt culture.” The people who
worked with or for her, as well as the students she impacied, describe her as someone who

attempted to silence the veice of students and io do so at any cosi,

Bvidence that Penn Staters described Triponey accurately can be found in her previous record of
“accomplishments” during her time ai the University of Conmnecticui. While in Sicsrs, Triponey
forced an increase of mandatory student fees and required the sindent newspaper to hire a full-

time advisor under her total control?? ¥ This anthoritarian style was also evident at Penn Siate.

Uniil Triponey’s hiring, Penn State sindenis had always enjoyed ceriain powers of self~
governance — they conirolled their own affairs on issues of stadent Hfe oviside of the classroom.
These responsibilifies were wide-ranging and included the ability to distribuie siudent fees as it
saw fit, the freedom of student media, and the ability to charter new studeni organizations and
impose penalties on groups that violated university policies. Within months of her arcival at
Penn State m 2003, Triponey effectively ended student self-governance by consolidating those
powers within the Office of Student Affairs,

For example, a mere three months after Triponey was hired, she disbanded the Studexnt
Organizations Appeals Board (SOAB), which wag part of the Undergraduate Student
Government Supreme Coust.® Made up entirely of students, the SOAB was responsible for
regisiering all undergraduate sindent organizations that applied for recognition. Despite any
evidence of problems, Triponey called the process “purely mechanical” and cited the proteciion

of “Constituiional rights™ as justification for the assanlt on self-governance.’
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Less than two years later, Triponey provided the support and seed money to disband the student

ent entirely. The Undergraduate Stndent Government (USG) had existed for 44 years.
nously funded the group Students for Real Advocacy, which was tasked with

Triponey anonys
winning a stadent referendum {0 digsolve the USG inio the “advocacy-based” UPUA.

governm

Anonymous funding of one student group to be used against another University-sanctioned

ce President of Stodent Affaivs should have raised ethical concerns about

student group by the Vi
The Vice President of Siudent Affairs should

Triponsy’s behavior for at least two reasons, Fust,

not be taling sides by pilting one student group against another group. Second, if Triponey had

+hat the USG should be dissolved, then her support, monetary or

legiiimate reasons for believing

otherwise, should have been transparent and not anouymous,
riponey’s private $3,000 donation proved effective: Six percent of the siudent body voted to

Aishand USG, while four percent voled to keep i, despite serious questions about forged

signatures on the petition to hold the refesendum.t AT USG self-governing poOWers weie

immediately absorbed by Triponey’s office, and the UPUA — without any avionomy 10 decide
anything — became the duly recognized Penn State undergraduaic student government by

Triponey and then-President Graham. Spanies, Triponey hand-picked the smdents for the sindent

government iransition team herself’

this represents the student body very

As one Smdent Senator at the tme put it: “We don™t think
»10

well., Adminisiration is involved from the start, and student control is at a minimum.

called Triponey’s game: “1 dorn’t want to single out Vieky

s been most involved [in the trend of reducing student
»il

1SG Senate President Andy Banducci

Triponey, but the Student Affairs office ha

powet]. A lot of jnirusions on student government have happened under her Teign.
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APPENDIX 4

Kenneth Lanning, ¥8Y Expert in Child Sex Abuse: Training Provided to Freeh Group,
December 13, 2011

Kenneth V., Lanning is retired from 30 years with the FBI as their premier expert in child
molestation cases. Lanning is an author of multiple publications describing characieristics of
preferential child sex offenders, the processes involved in victimization, and the responses of
communities and youth-serving organizaiions to child victimizetion. On ithe basis of this
expertise, Lanming was hired by the Freeh group lo fain the feam’s investigators in this
specialized area. A fill day training was provided on December 13, 2011.7 This training session
was largely based on information contained in a manuscript later published in the Jowrnal of
Bterpersonal Violence, titled “Acquaintance Molestation and Youih:Serving Organizations;™
the manuscript was provided o the Fresh group. Together with the information contained in the

manuscript, some essential poinis conveyed include:

1. Proiile of the “nice guy” ecquainiance offender: “who seems o love and is often loved

by children. Acquaintance offenders are frequently desciibed as “nice guys” and “pillars
of the community,” and quite often they aciually are, in all other respects. Many have
qualities that are much admired by pariicidar groups (e.g., regular and “faithfid church
attendance,” many hours of community service, or an exemplary military caveer), Many
individrals do not prevent or recoguize the sexual victimization of a child by a respecied
member of society becanse they cannot belisve a man who is otherwise good, spiritual,
generous, or seems 1o truly care for children could be a child molester; even a plea or jury
verdict of guilt may be rejected by such supporters.” Powerpoint slides indicate that
Lanning identified characteristics of Jerry Sandusky that were consistent with a “pillar of
the communily” offender.

2. Obsiacles for vouth-serving oreanizetions in detecting acquainiance offending: “We

came io yealize that many of the challenges in understanding certain behavior patierns
that we had seen in worldng on investigatons and in litigation also confront youih-
serving orgenizations. Mosi problematic seem 1o be those cases that do not i the

stereotype of “evil” sexval predators forcing “innocent” young children info overt sexual
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activity. Thatnarrow and naive stereotype hes blinded far too many otherwise reasonable
people, delaying or blocking their reco gnition of how acquaintance molestation more
often oceurs and how recurrences might be best prevented and addressed. Chifdren can
be sexnally victimized within organizations whether or not the organization is legally
negligent and regardless of the degree of negligence.”

3. Acquaintance offenders are widely misunderstood by: Society and media; mental health

and chiild protective services; investipgators and prosecttiors; legislatuzes and judges;
youth-serving organizations. Media reports are driven by the need to get raiings and 1l

tims, and are ofien inaccurate.
4. Prioriies for youth-serving organizations in creating nolicy for preveniing child

vieBmization: “When consuling with child abuse experis, crganizations need fo verily

that the experts hove specific sxperience and expertise with extrafamiliol cases involving
aequatnance offenders. All efforts o address this problem should be developed and
implemented on the basis of an informed undergtanding of the nature of sexnal
victimization of children and the behavior patiems of child molesters and vietims.
Organizetions must often deal with difficult cases in which () well-liled individuals who
ave dedicated to helping children sexually victimize children over time in wayg that may
volve behavior generally not thought of as sexual (e.8., touching, rubbing, hugging,

horse play, ete.).”

5 Tmportance of following a disciplined analviic process when conducling an invesgation

involving possible child sexual vietimization: Steps: (1) gather information; (2) assess

and evaluate information; (3) corroborate (make sure that information is consistent across

multiple sources). Corroboration must inctude considesation of: muliiple accounts;
written records (detatled/reliable); video/audio recordings; staternemts against self~interest

(“He was like a pied piper with children™); COnSIStEney across aCCOUDTS.

Tn. siatermentis fo the media, Lanning describes Penn State’s handling of Sandusky as a typical

case of an organization failing to act due to being mninformed about acquainiance vichmization.

APP 85




Child sex-abuse expert Kenneth Lanning of Vivginia, whe
worked for the FBI for 30 years, said the Penn State case “is
actually extremely common™ and that such cases force the
public o confront the possible “nice-guy molester” who isn’t
necessanily part of their framework., “The reason these guys
get away with ihis so long is hardly anybody understands this
and has the slightest idea of what they’re looldng for, because
these cases do not fit the populer stereotype that Americans
want to believe and which is perpefvated by the media,” he
said. “And when I fell you hardly anyone understands these
cases, that includes police and prosecutors.”®

B

Lanning said ofien those around the molester see signs, not
overt sexual activity - bul “boundary violations” like horsing
around in the shower or rubbing a child’s back. “Sometimes
it’s covered vp and sometimes i's damage control and some
ofitis the good-old-boy network and some of if is ignorance,”
gaid Lanning. “But at some point people don’t process this
information totally.” “These cases ere difficultto investigate,
not only because sociefy doesn’t undersiand, bui police don’t
understand,” hs said,”

dide

According to Lanning, who spemt 35 vears profiling
pedophiles, a hallmark of “acquainiance molesters™ is that
they tend o be deeply trusted and even beloved. They are not
sirangesrs, but “one of ws” They ave expert at seducing
children and are almost as expert ai seducing adulis, including
parenis, into believing in them. “It’s hard to identify those
people close fo you as a potential molester, becanse you know
them so well,” Lanning says. “No one wants to believe such
athing of a friend.”®

APP 86

P S L e n




Conclugion: The Frech group failed to incorporate information regarding acquainiance

child sex offenders info their understanding of the Sandusky matter.

i. Lanning provided information indicating ihat Jerry Sandnsky was a “pillar of the
commmity” offender whose stature in the comnumity blinded people to the possibility he

could be harming children; this idea was not included in the Freeh report.

9. Lanning provided information indicating that youth-serving organizations — along with
law enforcement, child protective services, and society and the media — are commonty
tmaware of the ways to recognize acquaintance offenders; the possibility that Penn State
officials may have unintentionally failed to understand Sandnsky’s actions as abusive is

not included in the Freeh report.

3. Lapning provided information to guide youth-serving organizations n obtaining qualified
constliaion when creating policies to protect children — emphasizing the need for
consultants o be lnowledgeable about acquaintancs victimization; this was not included

in the Freeh report recommendations.

4, Lanming provided guidelines for condueting investigations of child sex abuse, and
ermphasized the importance of evalvating informeation and carefilly corroboraling reporis
before making conclusions; the Freeh report disregards imformation contrary to the

conclusions rather than qualifying the conclusions.

5. Lanming cautioned that media reports on child sex victimization cases are often
inacourate and motivated by competing interests (getting ratings, filling time); the Freeh
group read media reports nncritically and allowed themselves o be influenced by

sensationalistic accounts based on questionable gvidence.
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